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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1

In August 2018 this Select Committee was formed to inquire into mining operations on Pinjin
Station with reference to the actions of mine operators, pastoral leaseholders and
government agencies. In particular, the Committee was to have reference to allegations of
intimidation, abuse and racial discrimination alleged to have occurred from 2012 onwards.

2

The Committee elected to focus on two main areas. The first in the actions and decisions of
government agencies leading up to the dispute at Pinjin Station and those agencies’
management of the dispute. The Committee’s second focus has been on those aspects of the
private dispute between miners and pastoralists that were specifically raised with the
Committee.

3

The Committee found that the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety for the
most part acted appropriately in their actions and decision-making. The Committee
recognises the tremendous amount of Departmental time and resources that this dispute
consumed. The Committee makes two recommendations as to how the Department of
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety can improve their internal processes.

4

The Committee is also satisfied that the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage acted
appropriately in its involvement in matters under dispute. The Committee is confident that
the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage understands the issues at the root of the
dispute and the steps required to address them for the future.

5

The Committee makes a series of findings in relation to racist signage that appeared at Pinjin
Station in June 2018. The Committee considered there to be insufficient evidence and an
absence of obvious motive to suggest that the mine operators were responsible for the
signs.

Findings and recommendations
Findings and recommendations are grouped as they appear in the text at the page number
indicated:

FINDING 1

Page 2

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety and the Department of Planning, Lands
and Heritage fully and competently participated in the Committee’s Inquiry.

FINDING 2

Page 16

The language in correspondence from Tisala Pty Ltd to the Committee and other entities varied
substantially. There are multiple voices speaking for Tisala despite all correspondence being
signed off by its directors.

FINDING 3

Page 19

There were significant difficulties within Tisala Pty Ltd concerning the role of directors and the
issuing of shares.
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FINDING 4

Page 20

Leo Thomas and Lawrence Thomas relied heavily upon the advice of several individuals as to how
to run the station and to guide their dealings with mining companies and the Department of
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety. The assistance provided by Steven Kean in this regard was
more than what would commonly be considered administrative in nature.

FINDING 5

Page 23

Relationships between Tisala Pty Ltd and the joint venture were good prior to any decision to
commence mining the resource on Common Reserve 10041.

FINDING 6

Page 27

There was an extensive period of dispute between the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd over
technical aspects of the proposed mining operation.

FINDING 7

Page 28

As the length of the dispute between the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd grew between 2014 and
2017, the value of the offers of compensation decreased from those originally presented.

FINDING 8

Page 31

Tisala Pty Ltd expended significant funds improving the buildings and infrastructure located on the
Common Reserve 10041.

FINDING 9

Page 35

The ministerial briefing note provided to the Minister for Mines concerning the incorporation of
Common Reserve 10041 into the Pinjin pastoral lease was largely based on information supplied
by the mine proponents. The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety did not take
satisfactory steps to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the information or identify the
sources of the information relied upon.

RECOMMENDATION 1

Page 35

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety review its processes in relation to the
preparation of ministerial briefing notes to ensure that the information they contain is accurate
and complete.

FINDING 10

Page 38

Tisala Pty Ltd was, or ought to have been, aware by 2007 or 2008 that Common Reserve 10041 did
not form part of the Pinjin pastoral lease.

ii
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FINDING 11

Page 41

Clarity as to the application of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 was critical to the bargaining
positions of the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd.

FINDING 12

Page 45

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety diligently assessed and gave due
consideration to the factors relevant to the decision to approve the mine.

FINDING 13

Page 47

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety advised Tisala Pty Ltd of its view that
section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 did not protect the water infrastructure on Common Reserve
10041.

RECOMMENDATION 2

Page 47

That the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety consider developing a procedure by
which interested parties can be notified of the granting or refusal of an application to approve a
mining proposal.
FINDING 14

Page 51

Parties to the dispute at Williamstown assumed that section 20(5) applied to occupants of Crown
land who did not hold lawful title.

FINDING 15

Page 52

By the time mining commenced, Tisala Pty Ltd were of the view that section 20(5) would protect its
homestead and the infrastructure that was located on Common Reserve 10041.

FINDING 16

Page 63

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s understanding of the law regarding
the application of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 was confirmed by the Mining Warden.

FINDING 17

Page 64

It was not the role of the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety as regulator to
insert itself into a dispute between private parties over issues of fact and law then being litigated
before the Mining Warden.

FINDING 18

Page 68

Significant amounts of dust were generated in the early stages of mining activity, which adversely
affected the buildings and amenity at Pinjin Homestead.
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FINDING 19

Page 69

Dust monitoring equipment was not in place when mining commenced as required by the joint
venture’s Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan. This was installed later following
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety intervention.

FINDING 20

Page 72

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s inspection regime of mining
operations at Pinjin was appropriate and timely.

FINDING 21

Page 75

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety took appropriate action in relation to
complaints about dust.

FINDING 22

Page 80

Sample bags were removed once the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety and
the joint venture were notified of their presence.

FINDING 23

Page 82

The appropriate forum for disputes as to the content of an affidavit submitted to the Warden’s
Court is the Warden’s Court.

FINDING 24

Page 84

The interpretation and application of section 132(2) of the Mining Act 1978 was a question of law
for the Warden to determine.

FINDING 25

Page 88

The racist signs were not removed immediately when discovered and had to be removed by the
Western Australia Police Force several days later.

FINDING 26

Page 88

The presence of the signs received extensive media coverage with several photographs published.

FINDING 27

Page 94

Joint venture personnel cooperated with the Western Australia Police Force requests in order to
further the investigation. Similar levels of cooperation were not demonstrated by Tisala Pty Ltd’s
supporters.

iv
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FINDING 28

Page 96

The printing on the signs erected at Pinjin Station and the ‘Hawthorn’ sign erected at the joint
venture work camp are not substantially the same.

FINDING 29

Page 97

There is insufficient evidence and an absence of obvious motive to suggest that the joint venture
was responsible for the erection of the racist signs at Pinjin Station.
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CHAPTER 1
Introduction
Establishment of the Committee and this Inquiry
1.1

The Legislative Council established the Select Committee into Mining on Pinjin Station
(Committee) on 22 August 2018. It was prompted to do so after it had received allegations
that the mine operators on the site had intimidated, abused and destroyed the property of
the pastoral leaseholders.

1.2

The terms of reference for the Committee are very broad. 1 Speaking to the motion, the
Committee’s Chairman, Hon Robin Scott MLC, said:
I am confident that all members of this house are sympathetic to the plight of
anyone who has been harassed or intimidated by any organisation that may
consider itself above the law. This particular situation is very rare. Mining
companies and pastoralists normally exist in harmony, and should a disagreement
occur, it is usually solved quickly and amicably. This select committee will
competently assess whether wrongs have been done; and, if so, make appropriate
recommendations for righting these wrongs.2

1.3

The Committee was to report no later than six months after establishment. Due to the
complexity of the Inquiry into Mining on Pinjin Station (Inquiry), the Legislative Council
extended the duration of the Inquiry on 21 November 2018, again on 7 May 2019 and 21
November 2019, to report by 14 May 2020. According to the Standing Orders, the
Committee will dissolve upon its final report to the Legislative Council. 3

The scope of the Inquiry and the Committee’s approach
1.4

This Inquiry is unlike many others that are conducted by the Legislative Council. Usually,
select committees are formed to examine an isolated issue and make recommendations to
government about future actions to address the impact of that issue. This Inquiry concerns a
long-running and ongoing commercial dispute between mining and pastoral interests on a
very remote portion of land in the Goldfields, erupting in accusations, counter-accusations
and conflicting evidence. In doing its work the Select Committee was required to examine
the inability of two private organisations to find a path forward that would enable them to
co-exist.

1.5

Given the breadth of the terms of reference and volumes of material that were received by
the Committee, the Committee has elected to address the Committee’s terms of reference
with two main considerations. The first is in analysing where the dispute has intersected with
government administration and decision-making. In relation to the private dispute between
mining and pastoral interests, the Committee has focused on selected allegations that have
been raised with the Committee by the parties, or within the Parliament. Due to the long
history between the parties, attempting to address every grievance raised by either party
over that time, would profoundly extend the Inquiry and would duplicate the efforts of
government departments and the courts.

1

For full detail of the Committee’s terms of reference, refer to the back inside cover of this report.

2

Hon Robin Scott MLC, Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), 22 August 2018,
p 5021.

3

Standing Orders of the Legislative Council, Schedule 3.
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1.6

In the vast amount of evidence that the Committee has received, it is apparent that there are
three components to the dispute between the pastoralists and miners. The first was the lack
of sophistication in matters relating to mining and pastoral operations demonstrated by the
pastoralists as opposed to the experience of a professional mine operator which sought to
operate a mine. Secondly, the pastoralists were largely reliant on outsiders to assist them in
their dispute with the miners. Finally, there were overtones of racist behaviour demonstrated
by unknown parties.

1.7

Disputes between miners and pastoralists are not uncommon and are almost always resolved
through commercial settlements. However, in the current situation, the combination of the
three factors identified above have contributed significantly to the continuing, and yet
unresolved, dispute.

1.8

The Committee’s work was made more challenging due to:


the continuing and evolving nature of the dispute at the centre of the Inquiry



the pending appeal of questions of law before the Supreme Court of Western Australia



a police investigation



the close links between a member of the Committee and key actors in the dispute.

1.9

For these reasons, the Committee has made limited findings and recommendations in those
areas that may compromise legal proceedings and police investigations.

1.10

The Committee advertised the Inquiry through social media and The West Australian and the
Kalgoorlie Miner newspapers. The Committee heard from a limited number of stakeholders
and witnesses to events at Pinjin Station through receipt of 10 written submissions.4

1.11

The Committee conducted over 38 hours of hearings during the course of the Inquiry.
Transcripts for the public hearings are available on the Committee’s webpage.

1.12

Upon commencement of the Inquiry the Committee wrote to the following agencies to
request all documents held by them that relate to matters under consideration by the
Committee:

1.13



Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety (the Department)5



Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage.6

In response, the Committee received 23 lever-arch files of documents. The Committee
recognises the substantial amount of work that both departments undertook to ensure that
all relevant materials were put before the Committee.

FINDING 1
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety and the Department of Planning, Lands
and Heritage fully and competently participated in the Committee’s Inquiry.

4

See Appendix 1

5

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety is the current department responsible for administration
of the Mining Act 1978. This report and appendices refer to other departments who formerly had responsibility for
that Act including the Department of Mines and Petroleum and the Department of Minerals and Energy.

6

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage is the current department responsible for administration of the
Land Administration Act 1997. This report and appendices refer to the Department of Lands who formerly had
responsibility for that Act.
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Structure of this report
1.14

This report discusses the history of the dispute between the parties, the government’s
involvement and other factors in a global manner, rather than addressing each term of
reference specifically.

1.15

Chapter 2 sets out the history of pastoral activity at Pinjin, the main actors for the
pastoralists and the pastoralists’ approach to corporate governance. Government interaction
with Pinjin Station prior to the commencement of mining activity is also detailed.

1.16

Chapter 3 sets out the history of mining at Pinjin and details interactions between mining
interests and pastoralists at Pinjin prior to the commencement of mining activity.

1.17

Chapter 4 discusses the Minister for Mines’ decision on the question of incorporating the
Common Reserve into the Pinjin pastoral lease.

1.18

Chapter 5 addresses the approval of the mine and considerations made by the Department.
It also discusses measures put in place to ensure environmental damage was limited.

1.19

Chapter 6 details the legal framework at the centre of the dispute, in particular the
application of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978.

1.20

Chapter 7 outlines complaints made concerning mining operations and the different
perspectives of the miners, pastoralists and regulators over how the complaints should be
managed and responded to. This chapter also considers the approach taken by the
Department in handling complaints about mining activity.

1.21

Chapter 8 outlines and explores a range of allegations that have been made in the
Legislative Council and the media concerning racist comments and the erection of highly
offensive signage on the buildings at Pinjin Station. The Committee makes key findings in
relation to statements made in the Legislative Council concerning responsibility for the racist
signs.

Committee challenges
1.22

The Committee experienced some challenges due to an existing professional relationship
between the Chairman and a witness to the Inquiry. These challenges are set out in
Appendix 2.
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CHAPTER 2
Pastoral interests at Pinjin Station
2.1

To assist in understanding the dispute between the mining and pastoral interests, it is
necessary to understand the history of land use at Pinjin. This chapter sets out the history of
Pinjin and explores the pastoral operations, how the pastoralists conduct their business and
their interactions with the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage.

A short history of Pinjin and Pinjin Station
2.2

Pinjin is located approximately 140 km north-east from the city of Kalgoorlie. The two
settlements are connected by an unsealed road. The road traverses a rich tapestry of red
earth, lakes, and observable wildlife.

Figure 1. Land surrounding Pinjin Station

[Source: Committee photograph]

Establishment of a pastoral lease at Pinjin
2.3

The Minister for Lands under the Land Administration Act 1997 (and its predecessor Acts) is
empowered to grant a pastoral lease over Crown lands.7 Land granted under a pastoral lease
must be used for pastoral purposes or activities that are ancillary to pastoral purposes. 8

2.4

The Committee heard from the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage that pastoral
leases cover a significant proportion of the State:
Mr Eringa: We have approximately 2.5 million square kilometres of crown land in
this state. There is 860 000 square kilometres of pastoral land. There is
970 000 square kilometres of unallocated crown land. There is approximately half a
million square kilometres of other reserves and leases et cetera. We have
435 pastoral leases.9

7

Land Administration Act 1997 s 101.

8

ibid., s 106.

9

Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence, 19 December
2018, p 3.
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2.5

A pastoral lease was created over land at Pinjin in the late 1890s. Landgate documents show
successive pastoral leases over the land, however the Department of Planning, Lands and
Heritage advise that the documentary record is incomplete and ‘patchy’.10 The current
pastoral lease was entered into in July 2015 for a term of 48 years.

2.6

According to the 1967 pastoral lease, Pinjin Station covers an area of 379 836 acres.11 The
shape of the lease is irregular and follows features of the land.

Figure 2. Surveyor diagram of Pinjin Pastoral Lease

[Source: Pastoral Lease – CL 432/1967]

2.7

Not forming part of the large pastoral lease are a number of land reserves. A land reserve is
land that is dedicated by the Minister for Lands for a particular purpose in the public
interest.12 These land reserves were created as the population of the goldfields swelled
outwards from Kalgoorlie and a mining town was established at Pinjin to support
prospecting in the surrounding areas. These land reserves were created for various purposes
including water, recreation and the grazing of stock. 13

2.8

There are two significantly sized reserves in the immediate vicinity of the centre of pastoral
operations on Pinjin Station. Common Reserve 10041 and Water Reserve 11438 (located in

10

ibid, p 2.

11

Pastoral Lease – CL 432/1967.

12

Land Administration Act 1997 s 41.

13

Former Pinjin Townsite European Heritage Survey See: http://www.tropicanajv.com.au/irm/content/baselinesurveys-heritage.aspx?RID=472. Viewed 19 August 2019.
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the north-east of the pastoral lease and highlighted in Figure 2) were set aside in 1906 and
1908 respectively. These reserves are wholly within the Pinjin pastoral lease.
2.9

Common Reserve 10041 is the site of a gold deposit. The interests in that gold deposit are
discussed in Chapter 3. Also located on Common Reserve 10041 is the homestead that
supports the Pinjin pastoral station and significant pastoral infrastructure. The Committee
heard about the significance of a pastoral homestead on the operations of a pastoral station:
Mr Eringa: The homestead area is not so much the live-in area that counts; it is
that the homestead area is generally on a pastoral lease hub of activity associated
with the pastoral lease. It will have a set of main yards; it will have main water
points; it is where you ultimately put your cattle on the trucks. It will have a lot of
supportive infrastructure around that homestead area, which supports the
management of the rest of the pastoral lease. 14

2.10

The Pinjin Homestead was not always located on Common Reserve 10041. The Department
of Planning, Lands and Heritage advise that the homestead was moved to its current location
sometime in the mid-1960s:
The CHAIRMAN: When was the homestead moved to its current location?
Ms McGowan: We understand that the homestead has been there since at least
1967. Unfortunately, the records to determine when it was actually moved are not
available. We have inquired with Landgate but they appear to have been lost or
destroyed, so the earliest date we have is 1967.15

2.11

A pastoral homestead being located outside of a pastoral lease is not an unusual
circumstance:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But the Department of Lands or whatever its
predecessor was became aware since 1967 that someone had built a homestead
on crown reserve.
Ms McGowan: That is not uncommon. It is something that has occurred in a
number of instances, where infrastructure is built on reserves—water reserves,
stock routes et cetera.
Mr Eringa: I had a quick look yesterday in terms of how common this situation is.
As I said, a lot of the stock routes, for instance, and pastoral leases are not
surveyed. They are listed by description, but from an initial glance, I could identify
12-odd homesteads that were either not on the pastoral lease but might have
been on a stock route or might have been on a freehold adjacent to or within the
pastoral lease, and one other homestead we identified that appears to be on a
commons as well. In those situations, as I say, we prioritise the action we take. It is
in the interests of the leaseholders to make sure that whatever assets they have on
land are secured against some form of title, because as we have seen in the
current case, if you do not have that sort of security it can threaten your business.
Our advice to people is to rectify the situation as much as they can, which indeed
was our advice to Tisala when we became aware that the homestead being located
on the commons was in fact an issue.16

14

Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence, 19 December
2018, p 13.

15

Gail McGowan, Director General, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence,
19 December 2018, p 2.

16

Gail McGowan, Director General; and Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage,
Transcript of evidence, 19 December 2018, p 2.
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2.12

In 2005 the Shire of Menzies was granted a management order over Common Reserve
10041.17 A management order is an order issued under section 41 of the Land Administration
Act 1997 to place Crown land under the care, control or management of a person for the
purpose that the land was reserved or for purposes ancillary or beneficial to that purpose.
The Shire of Menzies has permitted Tisala’s occupation of Common Reserve 10041.18

2.13

Common Reserve 10041 contains a vitally important piece of infrastructure for the pastoral
lease holders which is outside of the bounds of their pastoral lease, a source of great wealth
for a mining company and a source of royalty income for the State. The scene was always set
for either great cooperation or conflict between the parties.

Involvement of Tisala Pty Ltd in pastoral operations
2.14

On 2 May 1991 the pastoral lease was transferred to Tisala Pty Ltd (Tisala). Pinjin Station was
acquired with financial assistance of $730 000 from the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Commission pursuant to section 15 of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Commission Act 1989 (Cth).19

2.15

During the course of the Inquiry the Committee received correspondence from the Menzies
Aboriginal Corporation. This Corporation provided the following background:
Tisala Pty Ltd was established as the Trustee of the trust by deed between Maurice
Eugene Trichot and Tisala dated 25th January 1991.
The original beneficiaries named in the Deed of Settlement were: the Eastern
Goldfields Aboriginal Advancement Council, the Ninga Mia Village Aboriginal
Corporation, the Menzies Aboriginal Corporation and the Tabu Bindalunga
Aboriginal Corporation.20

2.16

The Committee determined not to inquire into whether Tisala was a trustee company and
the terms of any such trust as such matters are outside of the Committee’s terms of
reference. However, it is clear from two sources that Tisala was set up primarily as an
Aboriginal organisation for the benefit of Aboriginal people. 21

2.17

The Committee heard that Tisala’s main activity on the station is pastoral activity, however, as
at November 2018, mustering had not taken place for four years. 22 Tisala receives income
through an agreement with Saracen Mineral Holdings for the use of parts of the Pinjin
pastoral lease for mining-related activity.23

Tisala Pty Ltd
Office holders of Tisala
2.18

Management of Tisala has been largely consistent since 2010. At the commencement of the
Inquiry, Tisala had three directors. Mr Lawrence Thomas became a director of Tisala on

17

Management Order Reserve 10041 – J195892 XE.

18

Hawthorn Resources Ltd and GEL Resources Pty Ltd v Tisala Pty Ltd [2018] WAWC 1 at [36].

19

Statutory Declaration, Lee-Sai Choo, Australian Government Solicitor as contained in Caveat K684730C.

20

Ian Tucker, Chairperson, Menzies Aboriginal Corporation, Letter, 16 July 2019, p 1.

21

Gail McGowan, Director General, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence,
19 December 2018, p 2.

22

Lawrence Thomas, Director, Tisala Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 13 November 2018, p 21.

23

ibid., p 15.
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4 November 2004. Mr Leo Thomas and Mr Keenan Thomas had been directors since 1 April
2010 and 10 December 2010 respectively.24
2.19

Once the Inquiry was established, the Committee wrote to Tisala to invite it to make a
submission to the Inquiry. The Committee received submissions from both Lawrence Thomas
and Leo Thomas. The Committee also heard oral evidence from Leo and Lawrence Thomas.

2.20

The Committee had no interaction with Keenan Thomas. During all of its hearings,
Keenan Thomas’ name was barely mentioned and it appears that Keenan Thomas plays a
minimal role in the operations of Tisala.

2.21

In all relevant matters, Leo and Lawrence Thomas have been the spokespeople for Tisala.
This corresponds with the voluminous materials provided by the Department where most
Tisala correspondence was purported to be written by Leo or Lawrence Thomas.

The Thomases and Tisala
2.22

The Committee travelled to Pinjin to hear from Leo and Lawrence Thomas. The Committee
toured parts of the pastoral station and heard from the Thomases about their initial
involvement in Tisala and how the company came to be in their ownership and management:
Mr Leo Thomas: Sorry. A very important question that Lawrence pointed out—he
knows a bit more than that. This homestead was bought from the previous
managers. I cannot think of the name. We paid around about what, Lawrence?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: About $750 000 —
Mr Leo Thomas: He can finish it off. The question I want to get across—Lawrence
had negotiated to buy this place. What I am trying to say is: How can this be
common when we bought it from the government, the Department of Aboriginal
Affairs? Does that sound silly to you?
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Can I just ask you a question on that? Was it ALT money—
Aboriginal Lands Trust—you brought it from, or was it from an original whitefella?
Mr Leo Thomas: What is them other mob? Not ALT. I just cannot think of it. There
are that many. But anyhow, it was bought by government money. We bought it at
seven hundred and something thousand dollars—we bought this place here.25

2.23

Since at least 2007, Tisala, through its directors, had plans to diversify the operations of the
pastoral station and worked with government agencies to facilitate this. Mr Karel Eringa from
the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage explained to the Committee:
Mr Eringa: In fact, in the period between 2007 and 2012, when I was dealing with
Tisala then, it came up on a number of occasions that they wanted to change
some of the tenure to suit some other activities—to improve their pastoral
business but also to allow for some other activities that they were planning to do.
This has been a conversation that is been going on for a number of years.26

2.24

And further:
Mr Eringa: This was still 2007 or perhaps 2008. So then what I did was I
communicated and worked with Jan [Taylor] and Lawrence over the phone for a
bit. I went out to Pinjin station, met up and stayed there for about three days, I

24

Illion Direct Historical Company Extract Plus Report. Date 16 November 2018. Tisala Pty Ltd ACN 009 458 155.

25

Leo Thomas and Lawrence Thomas, Directors, Tisala Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 13 November 2018, pp 6-7.

26

Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence, 19 December
2018, p 3.
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think, to work out what the situation was on the ground, what they had in mind,
because at the time, basically, very little was happening at Pinjin or nothing at all in
terms of commercial activities. Rather than saying, “Well, go and run some cattle
and you’ll be right”—because Pinjin runs about 1 200 head, which is marginal as a
standalone business, but if you combine it with other activities, then you can make
a good living—my advice to them at the time was to look at perhaps subleasing
some of the cattle business to the neighbours who were interested in that sort of
concept and to focus on the activities that they had identified as priorities, which I
think was along the lines of some juvenile detention centre and some cultural
activities. There was talk of some cropping under irrigated agriculture and there
was talk of some aquaculture.27

2.25

Mr Eringa recounted to the Committee his work in 2007 and 2008 to engage different
government and non-government agencies to assist with various components of Tisala’s
plans, including the Department of Agriculture and Food’s Indigenous Landholder Service
and the Goldfields Land and Sea Council.28

2.26

This is consistent with the evidence that the Committee heard from Leo and Lawrence
Thomas who described their intent to use the station for a range of activities:
The CHAIRMAN: My last question is: What were your original plans for the Pinjin
station? Were those plans on track before the conflict began with Hawthorn? What
was the idea of being out here? What was the big plan, the big picture? Was this
something to hand down to the grandchildren? Was this for Aboriginal people to
come to? What was your plan? What was the original, the big plan?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Well, land—land is very important. Indigenous people, we
always need land; we love land and we worship land, and we do everything on the
land.
Mr Leo Thomas: Sites, they got a lot of sites here.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: My way of thinking is—with my uncle here, I got a lot of
respect for my uncle, like all us Aboriginal people, you know, we always respect the
elders. That is why I got him out here, on board, so with the old people coming
through, because this place is sort of—you know, a lot of initiation and a lot of
corroborees and meetings go on, and people travel through, and this is one of the
places they come through, so it is there for them to travel through. Fuel, food,
breakdowns—we can help.
We also have a lot of problems with drugs and alcohol in town, and that is another
one of my things that I want to do for my people is eventually get drug and rehab
alcohol stuff—get them out here, so we can do that. But the land, we need to
utilise the land. We got to improve on the infrastructure. We got to keep doing
that, so that is happening. I have been liaising with the police department and
courts in town about making all that possible. But now with this Hawthorn stuff
going on, I cannot do that. I put all that on the backburner now. But that is it; that
is more or less what it is. I run it like a normal pastoralist and help a lot of
Aboriginal people.29

27

ibid., p 5.

28

ibid., pp 6-7.
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Leo and Lawrence Thomas, Directors, Tisala Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 13 November 2018, pp 22-3.
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Management of pastoral land at Pinjin Station
2.27

As time progressed, the Pastoral Lands Board became concerned about aspects of the
management of the Pinjin Pastoral Lease. These concerns coincided with the pastoral lease
renewal program that was to occur on 30 June 2015.

2.28

The Pastoral Lands Board is an entity established under the Land Administration Act 1997 to
oversee pastoral lands in Western Australia. Its functions are set out in section 95 of that Act
and include to administer pastoral leases and ensure that pastoral leases are managed on an
ecologically sustainable basis. The Board can make recommendations to the Minister for
Lands as to the exercise of the Minister’s powers under the Land Administration Act.

2.29

The Pastoral Lands Board became concerned about Tisala’s management of the Pinjin
Pastoral Lease in 2012. Mr Eringa described the Board’s concerns:
Mr Eringa: the board’s concerns were about there being livestock on the lease and
it was not appropriately managed, leading to poor environmental outcomes. If you
do not manage livestock, they go into environmentally sensitive areas or you
might have them congregating around very few stock water points, which then
results in environmental degradation around those stock water points; those sorts
of issues.30

2.30

In such circumstances the Pastoral Lands Board can require a pastoral lessee to submit a
development plan to the Board for approval. 31 A development plan sets out the steps that a
pastoral lessee will take to address concerns raised about the management of the land. In
Tisala’s case, the Pastoral Lands Board issued a directive to Tisala to produce a development
plan:
Mr Colvin: The directive spells out in terms of improvements to water points,
fencing yards, other key infrastructure and how they will improve the herd
management. It was up to them and they had some assistance. Karel mentioned
before the interagency group that was helping lessees with pastoral renewal. It
employed a consultant to help and work with them to put together a development
plan.32

2.31

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage set out that as a result of the work of Tisala
in meeting the development plan, their pastoral lease was renewed in mid-2015:
Mr Eringa: Then during late 2013 into 2014, and even early 2015, we were working
with Tisala as a government. There was a collection of government agencies,
consisting of the then Department of Aboriginal Affairs, the Department of
Agriculture and Food, the Indigenous Land Corporation and the Department of
Lands and the Department of Regional Development. They had had some funding
to work with some of these people and provide some assistance with coming up
with development plans. So we worked, and David [Colvin] worked, extensively
with Tisala to develop up a development plan to address the serious management
issues on the pastoral lease to the satisfaction of the board, and successfully so.
Then in early 2015, the board advised the minister that it was satisfied that Tisala
had complied with its directives and on the basis of that the minister then
subsequently resolved to renew that lease. Between 2012, 2013 and 2015 the focus
was very much on the pastoral side of the operation, whereas prior to 2012 the

30

Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence, 19 December
2019, p 13.

31

Land Admininstration Act 1997 s 107.

32

David Colvin, Senior Project Officer, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence,
19 December 2019, p 14.
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focus had been on development; how do we develop a multitude of businesses—a
very different focus.33

2.32

Further detail of the works undertaken to improve the pastoral station can be found in
Chapter 4.

2.33

Despite the best of intentions for Pinjin Station, the directors of Tisala relied heavily on
others to inform their decision-making on matters that were critical to the operation of the
pastoral station.

Key figures assisting Tisala
2.34

The Committee heard from several witnesses connected with Tisala. Most prominent of these
were Mr Steven Kean and Mr Nicholas Cukela.

Steven Kean
2.35

Steven Kean is currently employed as an Electorate Officer in the Chairman’s electorate
office. Mr Kean is also a prospector from Kalgoorlie with extensive knowledge of the mining
industry. The Committee heard from Mr Kean in Kalgoorlie on 7 and 8 June 2019. Lawrence
Thomas explained to the Committee why Mr Kean became involved in Tisala’s affairs:
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Yes. Mr Kean has been a friend of the family [inaudible].
The Thomases and Keans, you know, we are all prospectors. We all respect each
other. We live in the same place, so same thing. You have problems, you talk.
People can help you and that is where we got hold of Steve. Steve is very brainwise with the Mining Act, so I thought to myself: I better start using this man with
all his knowledge to fight these buggers or to get myself right in my head so that I
can tackle Hawthorn. That is how we came about with Steve.34

2.36

In an internal email sent in November 2017, a representative of the Department of Planning,
Lands and Heritage discussed his understanding of Steven Kean’s role:
Steve Kean has been a contact for Pinjin Station since 2013 and is listed in the
Development Plan approved by the PLB [Pastoral Lands Board] in February
2015. He is described in the development plan as providing administrative and
financial advice, support and assistance. In an earlier version of the development
plan from August 2014 he was listed as a member of a Tisala sub-committee,
being the secretary/minute taker.
Mr Kean has been present with the lessee, Lawrence Thomas, at inspections
conducted in November 2013 and November 2015 and Mr Thomas has often
requested that I follow up information with Mr Kean rather than himself. While Mr
Kean has worked for various members of Parliament previously, he was not
working for any member of Parliament during this time. Last week on Wednesday
1 November, I spoke to Mr Keane regarding the application to incorporate a
number of Reserves into Pinjin Station and he advised that he was now working as
a Research Officer for the Hon Robin Scott, Member for Pastoral and Mining.35

33

Karel Eringa, Project Manager, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Transcript of evidence, 19 December
2019, p 11.

34

Lawrence Thomas, Director, Tisala Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 13 November 2018, pp 7-8.
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David Colvin, Senior Project Officer, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Email, 6 November 2017, p 1.
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2.37

Steven Kean was employed by Tisala as a consultant in 2013. The Committee heard from him
as to the beginning of his involvement with Tisala. However, he was unable to clearly
articulate with any precision what work he was doing for Tisala during this time:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: have you ever received remuneration from Tisala?
Mr Kean: In the past, yes. I had an hourly contract rate, which was signed off by
three of the directors.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: For what sort of work?
Mr Kean: Well, contracting consultative work.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: In relation to what subject?
Mr Kean: It was doing all sorts of things out there. It was a whole range of things.
That contract ceased upon when I commenced working as an electorate officer.
That ceased. It does not exist.36

2.38

Steven Kean told the Committee at his hearing that he was consulting to Tisala until the time
that he became Hon Robin Scott’s Electorate Officer:
Mr Kean: I would have to go back and check because what happened—I did not
always have an agreement. Look, Lawrence is the sort of person, and Leo, when
they have problems or concerns or whatever, they ask various people, not just
myself. So, they talk to people and if someone can help them, then they ask you
some queries and then eventually they say, “Can you help us?” A lot of people will
not help not them—not just them, not just peculiar to Tisala; I am talking
Indigenous people. As I said, I have always helped them—not just them. I help a
lot of other Aboriginal people even before I worked in the electorate office and I
do not get remunerated from it.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Could you please—just so we can put it in context—
find out from your records just when you were remunerated by Tisala? You say
that it finished when you became an electorate officer for Mr Scott; is that right?
Mr Kean: That is right. Because part of it was that I served a formal notification on
them that I no longer am employed. It is a requirement as part of my contract.37

2.39

Under the consultancy agreement, Steven Kean was remunerated at $250 per hour.38

2.40

Following the hearing Steven Kean provided the committee with a document that appears to
be a letter from Tisala to him dated 10 January 2014. The letter suggests that the consultancy
arrangement with Tisala lasted for little over two months from 1 November 2013. It says:
As you know we do not always agree with points of view that you put across in
how we should proceed in participating/communicating with mining companies
and have preferred Gerard Brewer’s and Brads [sic] views superior to yours. Rest
assured this termination is not about you having arguments with Gerard or any of
us as to how we should participate working with Ian Moody from Hawthorn.
Please do not be offended at Tisala terminating your services agreement and hope
we can still be good friends.

36

Steven Kean, Transcript of evidence, 7 June 2019, p 52.
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ibid., pp 51-2.
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ibid., p 52.
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We will continue to use Gerard, Brad including others to help prepare and write
letters/emails as these are guys whom we trust.39

2.41

Irrespective of whether his paid consultancy work ended in early 2014, Steven Kean
continued to provide support to Tisala. Mr Kean described his assistance to Tisala as
‘administrative support’. This support included:


assisting Leo and Lawrence Thomas to prepare correspondence to mine operators and
government regulators40



providing advice, when sought, on matters relating to Tisala41



attending and typing up resolutions from Tisala’s directors’ meetings42



handling corporate governance paperwork on behalf of Tisala 43



providing administrative support in relation to matters such as GST compliance, copying
receipts for expenditure and reconciling bank statements 44



acting as an intermediary between Tisala and its lawyers45



acting as an intermediary between Tisala and mining companies in negotiations46



acting as an intermediary between Tisala and government departments.47

Mr Nicholas Cukela
2.42

The Committee heard that Mr Nicholas Cukela is a pastoralist who has been assisting Tisala
with pastoral matters. The Committee heard from Mr Cukela in January and June 2019.
Lawrence Thomas described to the Committee the circumstances in which Mr Cukela came
to be involved in Tisala:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes. Specifically you have been getting help from Mr
Cukela; is that right?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Mr Cukela is a farmer with animals, yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did you approach him or did he approach you? How
did it come about?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: I have known Mr Cukela for probably 10, 15 years through
other enterprises and I know what he does and I asked him one day if he wanted
to be part of my stuff going on out here, and he said, “Yes.” So he has been there
ever since.48

2.43

Over the course of the Inquiry, Nicholas Cukela had a very active role in Tisala’s pastoral
operations. In late 2018 Mr Cukela was issued a majority shareholding in Tisala and became a

39

Lawrence Thomas, Managing Director, Tisala Pty Ltd, Email, 10 January 2014.
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ibid., pp 37-8.
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director. However, the Committee heard that this created conflict within Tisala and Mr Cukela
resigned as a director on 5 May 2019.49
Other parties assisting Tisala
2.44

The Committee had available to it a considerable amount of correspondence from Tisala to
government agencies, Ministers’ offices and mining companies. Most of these letters were
signed off by either Leo or Lawrence Thomas. The Committee was interested to know the
extent to which Leo and Lawrence Thomas were the authors of the content of these letters,
rather than the signatories to them.

2.45

The Committee asked about this when hearing from Leo and Lawrence Thomas at Pinjin
Station on 13 November 2018:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There have been a number of letters and things that
you have written to the department. Have you written those yourself or did you
get other people to write them for you?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Every letter with my signature is authorised by me. Would
you do that any other way?
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, I understand that. I am asking whether or not you
typed them or wrote them or you got someone else to do it for you.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: We have meetings and discussions. Then I give someone a
job to go and draft up a letter and bring it back. We have another meeting. We go
through the draft. If it is good, I sign it. We send it.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Righto.
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Lovely.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But you do not write them yourself. Someone else is
writing them for you.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: I dictate them, but I do not actually use the big words
maybe.
The CHAIRMAN: Somebody will polish the letter for you.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am just trying to get an idea of whether you —
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Most of the thing is from us. They are all instigated by
me.50

2.46

The Committee asked further questions to understand who was involved in writing the
letters:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But who actually does that? You tell someone what you
want written. They write it out. Who is that other person?

49
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Mr Lawrence Thomas: It could be various people, like I mentioned. It could
be Hans Bokelund. I do not use one person. I use various people because
everybody has their own lives and if they are unavailable, I have to do my job, so I
have to go somewhere else, so I just —
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: So you use Hans or Steve or Nicholas?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: I use anybody, yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is there any particular person that was doing the stuff to
the department of mines for you—any particular author back in earlier this year?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: What date?
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: July, May—I will show you these ones. Can you
remember who wrote those ones?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: What is the relevance of this?
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is part of your case to the department of mines, just
setting out the problems, but I am curious as to who wrote them and whether it is
someone that has seen or heard or dealt with these things themselves that might
need to be a witness.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Yes, that will be me.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So you wrote all of that yourself. That is all your
language.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Okay. When you write something like, “It is clearly
apparent that both yourself and through the minister for mines’ office that you are
doing everything within your creative powers to delay matters and also to make
any evidence stale evidence, to ever so cleverly compromise evidence, so you can
both then come up with excuses not to take any forfeiture proceedings for
breaches of the Mining Act 1978.” You wrote that?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Yes. This is exactly how you feel and you just put things
down what you think, how you feel.51

2.47

The letters that Lawrence Thomas was shown appear in Appendix 12.

2.48

After some further questioning, Lawrence Thomas informed the Committee that Tisala had
frequently sought the assistance of other people in preparing correspondence for Tisala. 52
These people included:


Hans Bokelund



Ray Kean



Judy Sambo



Steven Kean



Jan Taylor.

51

ibid., p 9.
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2.49

2.50

In correspondence sent to the Committee dated 5 June 2019, Lawrence Thomas informed
the Committee of further parties who had assisted in the preparation of correspondence:


Len Boladeras



Gerard Brewer



Brad Jennings



Dru Pratt



Eddie Oxenbridge.53

Other witnesses spoke of other people who helped Tisala over the years by providing
assistance in the preparation of correspondence or deciding how to respond to challenges
that Tisala was facing. Steven Kean told the Committee:
Mr Kean: I certainly know Gerard Brewer, Brad Jennings, Dru Pratt. They also
helped with letters. There was another guy, Len Boladeros, and some other people
that I do not know. There are some other people in town that Lawrence is, let us
just say, friends with.54

2.51

Steven Kean explained to the Committee how Tisala operated and how decisions were often
made. He spoke to the dysfunction that could result from a broad consultative approach:
Mr Kean: Because with both Leo and Lawrence, nothing was ever straightforward.
They would always consult with a range of people and get people’s ideas on how
to do things. Even if you had a draft letter, someone would always say, “We can do
it this way or that way”. It is a bit what you asked about earlier. You would offer
some advice, but they had their own way of doing things. Whether you liked it or
not, that was just the way it was.
Hon KYLE McGINN: You liked it that way, obviously, because you stayed on there.
Mr Kean: I did not like it that way.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you offer advice that it should be more succinct and
open?
Mr Kean: I told them there should be one person, generally, doing it.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: I find it a bit strange that you can even operate like
that, where every letter is drafted —
Mr Kean: It is dysfunctional.55

2.52

These accounts of how decisions were made and correspondence was prepared at Tisala are
consistent with the Committee’s experiences. It has been apparent to the Committee that
there were multiple voices coming from Tisala given the vast difference in tone and language
used in different items of correspondence that was signed by Leo and Lawrence Thomas.

FINDING 2
The language in correspondence from Tisala Pty Ltd to the Committee and other entities varied
substantially. There are multiple voices speaking for Tisala despite all correspondence being
signed off by its directors.

53
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54

Steven Kean, Transcript of evidence, 7 June 2019, pp 19-20.

55

Steven Kean, Transcript of evidence, 8 June 2019, p 35.

16

Chapter 2

Pastoral interests at Pinjin Station

Mining tenements held by Mr Cukela and Mr Kean
2.53

The Committee became aware during the course of the Inquiry that mining tenements in the
immediate vicinity of the mining operation at Pinjin were held by Steven Kean and then by
Nicholas Cukela.

2.54

Steven Kean told the Committee that he had pegged these tenements on Tisala’s behalf.
These tenements were later transferred to Nicholas Cukela:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Can you tell us about the circumstances in which that
transfer occurred? What was the purpose of it and whose idea was it?
Mr Kean: The tenement that was originally pegged was part of Tisala. Basically, I
got my costs back, and, if you want to call it, the reason why it was put in
Mr Cukela’s name was because basically he was seen, if you want to call it, as a
person that could not only work the ground; he has experience in working the
ground like with machinery and various things. My understanding is that him, Leo
and Lawrence were also going to do some alluvial work and some other stuff on
the ground as well.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: So originally that was Tisala and you got it to pay for
your expenses?
Mr Kean: Well, it cost me—when I pegged it, it cost me a substantial amount of
time and money to peg it. They knew that the ground was coming up. They
actually asked me to peg it. They did not want it to go—it is the same thing; they
did not want it to go in their own name in terms of being able to take it through, if
there was an objection, to the Warden’s Court. That is how it transpired.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Why did not they want it in their own name?
Mr Kean: Well, I have just said to you, they are not experienced in dealing with
Warden’s Court matters.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: So was it being held in trust by you?
Mr Kean: I beg your pardon? Oh, effectively, yes. That is why I transferred it out. It
is transferred in—my understanding is that they have an agreement with
Mr Cukela. They have also said they will receive whatever percentage, I think it
would be 40 or 50 per cent, with that tenement.56

2.55

Nicholas Cukela told the Committee that he purchased those two pegged tenements from
Steven Kean for $5000 each in cash.57

2.56

In recent correspondence to settle matters in dispute between the mine operators and Tisala,
Nicholas Cukela has offered to sell those two tenements P31/2101 and P31/2013 to the mine
operators for $150 000.58

Corporate governance at Tisala
2.57

As the Inquiry progressed, the Committee heard evidence of challenges that Tisala was
facing in relation to its corporate governance. These included changes in the shareholdings,
multiple changes in directorships and claims that shares were issued contrary to law.

56
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Shareholdings in Tisala
2.58

Tisala is a tightly held company. At the commencement of the Inquiry, Tisala had four shares
issued amongst three shareholders. Lawrence Thomas held two shares, Leo Thomas one
share and Keenan Thomas held one share.59 Each of these shares was not beneficially held.
The Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) does not define what a beneficial holding is but the
Australian Securities and Investment Commission states:
it usually means that the owner of the shares receives direct benefits from the
shares. Benefits could include dividend payments or voting rights.60

2.59

During the course of the Inquiry, the share structure of Tisala changed. The Committee
learned in November 2018 that Lawrence Thomas was no longer a director of Tisala. A
company search revealed that five new shares had been issued in Tisala and were held,
beneficially, by Nicholas Cukela.61

2.60

Nicholas Cukela told the Committee that he was granted shares in Tisala in exchange for a
sum of money that he was owed for conducting work on Pinjin Station. He also told the
Committee that the issuing of the shares created difficulties:
Mr Cukela: He [Steven Kean] said, “We’ll think about it.” He said, “We know
Nicholas. He has done a lot of work out there and he hasn’t been paid.” They paid
me before. I have always been paid before. But there is this legal battle. He said,
“Nicholas, we owe you about $25 000.” Leo says, “That way, Nicholas, you’ll get
paid. They have to buy the shares off you. They cannot get out of paying you.”
That is how I got paid. He give me these shares. They all got two shares. I did not
know about these shares. Leo has shares and this one has got shares. I got five
shares. Big deal.
So some time goes by, and then they say, “Oh, but you’ve got these shares,
Nicholas; you own them.” I said, “But they’ve got shares too.” He said, “But yours
are different because you own them.” Now, Keany is jumping up and down. Mr
Kean is going mad and wants me to resolve the shares because they are illegal.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Why illegal?
Mr Cukela: Something to do with Aborigines, or he wants me to dissolve the
shares and I am saying no. “Dissolve the shares”, so I said no. He said it was
bought by an Aboriginal corporation or it was bought by Aborigines and the
shares have to be resolved, so we have to resolve the shares. 62

2.61

Steven Kean recounted similar evidence to the Committee and that he understood the
shares to be invalid.63

2.62

Nicholas Cukela says that Steven Kean had been attempting to get him to dispose of the
shares:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Has Mr Kean contacted you about doing anything to
dispose of those shares?
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Mr Cukela: Yes. He wanted me to dissolve them and he said, “We’ll pay you later.”
I said, “No, I won’t be dissolving the shares.” He said, “They shouldn’t have been
administered to you because they are illegal. You shouldn’t have the shares.”
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: When did he say this, though? You have told us about
it, but when did you have this conversation?
Mr Cukela: Recently.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: How recently?
Mr Cukela: Three weeks ago.64

2.63

As at 30 April 2020, Nicholas Cukela is no longer a shareholder in Tisala.65

Directorships
2.64

As outlined earlier in this chapter, Nicholas Cukela was a director of Tisala from October 2018
until May 2019. Mr Cukela recounted the circumstances under which he became a director:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: How did that come about? Whose idea was it? Was it
yours? Was it Leo’s?
Mr Cukela: No. [redacted] Leo said, “Nicholas does a lot of work and we’ll make
Nicholas a director.” Kean was not too happy about it. Leo said, “No, make
Nicholas a director.”

2.65

Mr Cukela told the Committee that he encountered some difficulties in getting access to
information that he sought to fulfil his role as director. He later sought to resign his
directorship:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: All right. So you became the director under those
circumstances as part of compensation for the work that you had done and the
recognition of the shares that you held.
Mr Cukela: Yes.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: And since then, you have encountered these problems
and so you are no longer a director?
Mr Cukela: No.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: When you resigned as a director, did you tell anyone
that that was going to happen or warn them that you were going to do that?
Mr Cukela: Yes, I told them it was going to happen. I resigned at 11 o’clock at
night when he brought the papers in to me to sign.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Who was that?
Mr Cukela: Steven Kean did.66

FINDING 3
There were significant difficulties within Tisala Pty Ltd concerning the role of directors and the
issuing of shares.
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Decision-making at Tisala
2.66

Leo and Lawrence Thomas gave evidence that they had great ambition for what the Pinjin
pastoral lease could provide for Aboriginal people in the Goldfields. However, ambition
alone could not provide for the successful management of a pastoral lease. Through the
support of government departments and the recruitment of others to assist, the pastoral
lease was able to be renewed with a view to becoming profitable.

2.67

As issues with mining began to arise, the Thomases relied on others to assist in the
management of relationships with mining companies and government agencies. Their
approach of consulting broadly may have resulted in not all of their support people ever
having full knowledge of what was going on at Pinjin Station or its dealings with others and
some advisers having greater influence than others. This created a risk to the governance
and integrity of the decision making within Tisala.

FINDING 4
Leo Thomas and Lawrence Thomas relied heavily upon the advice of several individuals as to how
to run the station and to guide their dealings with mining companies and the Department of
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety. The assistance provided by Steven Kean in this regard was
more than what would commonly be considered administrative in nature.
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Mining interests at Pinjin
3.1

Mining has taken place in the Pinjin area on and off since the gold rush days. An examination
of the mining tenement holdings in the immediate vicinity of Common Reserve 10041 show
there is still considerable interest in the mining prospectivity of the area.

3.2

The Department operates a computer system, Tengraph, which amongst other things,
records interests in and activity on mining tenements. The system can track these mining
interests in map form. The map in Figure 3 shows some of the mining and pastoral interests
within the boundaries of Common Reserve 10041.

3.3

The most significant mining interest on Common Reserve 10041 is mining lease M31/79. This
mining lease, shaped like a pair of trousers, is frequently referred to as the ‘Trouser Legs’
tenement and is the principal location of gold deposits and the centre of mining activity.

3.4

Activity has been occurring each year on this lease since at least 1989 with heightened
exploration activity expenditure in 2004 ($847 499) and 2013 ($407 817).67 Total non-mining
expenditure by mining interests on the lease between 1989 and 2017 (when mining
commenced) is $5 123 246.

3.5

In the 1980s open pit mine operations were conducted on Common Reserve 10041. 68 The
site of these operations was in a near identical position to the current mining operations.

3.6

Since 1989 the holders of mining lease 31/79 and other surrounding tenements have
changed. Of relevance to this Inquiry, Hawthorn Resources (70%) and GEL Resources (30%),
in their current corporate name, became co-holders of the mining lease in April 2008 and
formed a joint venture (joint venture) to advance the mining opportunity at Pinjin. 69

3.7

The Committee heard that Hawthorn Resources is the Manager of the operation at Pinjin. 70
Hawthorn Resources is an Australian company with a registered address in Victoria. 71 The
Committee has only communicated with Hawthorn Resources in relation to this Inquiry. The
Committee has not heard from or received a submission from GEL Resources although
Hawthorn Resources indicated in their submission that they were writing on behalf of the
Trouser Legs Mining Joint Venture.72

3.8

Mr Mark Kerr, Managing Director of Hawthorn Resources, advised the Committee that
operations at the mine were at full capacity in January 2019 and at that time there were
51 full-time employees at the project. The joint venture also appointed lead contractors to
the mine who were based in Kalgoorlie. 73
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Figure 3. A selection of mining and pastoral interests within Common Reserve 10041

[Source: Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, Email, 22 April 2020.]
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Early interactions between the joint venture and Tisala
3.9

The Committee was aided by evidence from Mr Ian Moody, Exploration Manager for
Hawthorn Resources, who was able to explain the recent history of activities of the joint
venture on Common Reserve 10041. Mr Moody recounted that when pre-mining activity was
being conducted, the miners had cordial relations with Tisala:
Mr Moody: Well, basically the history of the area is that we were doing low-grade
regional exploration primarily from 2008 through to mid-2012. I was on the station
quite regularly during that time, and I did not see Lawrence very often because he
did not come up very often. But there were two caretakers—Carl and Robbo—who
we used to drop in and feed on our way home from other projects because they
were left with relatively little food generally, and, yes, just to have a chat and see if
they were all right, because they were quite interesting characters, shall we say. So
Lawrence—during the drill-out phase in late 2012, with an injection of funds from
a major shareholder, we decided to bite the bullet and see whether the mining
area would stand up, and we drilled something in the order of 76 RC holes and —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: RC being?
Mr Moody: Sorry, reverse circulation drill holes, and half a dozen diamond drill
holes. During that period of time Lawrence was on site occasionally, and we would
have a cup of tea most evenings—and sometimes a glass of wine as well, too. That
program continued through 2013, and in mid-2013, late 2013 we commenced
negotiations with them to create haul roads and get the mine going basically.74

3.10

This account is consistent with Lawrence Thomas’s account of interactions with the joint
venture:
Mr Lawrence Thomas: I have been out here more than Uncle Leo. I have spent
most of the time out here. When they first come, they was at the exploration stage.
That is when I first met Hawthorn—a man called Ian Moody, the exploration
manager. We used to talk. I would not say we had a good relationship, but I used
to talk, you know, because I knew they was out here and I knew I was out here and
I knew somewhere along the line maybe they would get into mining and we could
do an agreement and then it is better for everybody.
The CHAIRMAN: So you were pro-mining then?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Sorry?
The CHAIRMAN: You were pro the mining—you were for the mining?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Oh, yes. I have always, myself. I used to work for a native
title group for over 10 years. I was a negotiator for our people. I have dealt with a
lot of mining companies. I have never ever come up against this stuff—never ever
in my life.75

FINDING 5
Relationships between Tisala Pty Ltd and the joint venture were good prior to any decision to
commence mining the resource on Common Reserve 10041.
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Early disputes between Tisala and the joint venture
3.11

In the lead up to the commencement of mining, tensions increased between Tisala and the
joint venture.

3.12

In 2013 the joint venture sought to put arrangements in place to enable it to submit a
mining proposal to the Department of Mines to enable it to commence mining. This included
making a haul road to transport extracted ore for processing.76 In order to make the haul
road, the joint venture needed to obtain a miscellaneous licence pursuant to the Mining
Act 1978 to traverse the Pinjin pastoral lease. Ian Moody recounted the turn in the joint
venture’s relationship with Tisala:
Mr Moody: Well, we were delayed for over two years from 2013 because the
miscellaneous licence that we required to complete the mining proposal—one of
the issues of a mining proposal is that you have to be able to show how you are
going to get the ore from site to the mill processing plant—was strenuously
objected to by Tisala—well, Lawrence in general—and Steve Kean. Steve Kean
started occurring in meetings from about October 2013 onwards, and from that
period onwards we would get roughly—I think we probably had seven
adjournments to the mining warden. They objected. On the final day before the
actual trial was going to occur—it went for over two years—on the morning of the
scheduled start of the hearing, an agreement was struck.77

3.13

The joint venture gave evidence to the Committee that what followed the lodging of the
application for a miscellaneous licence was an intense period of correspondence between
the parties. Representatives of the joint venture told the Committee that, in their view, many
of the objections and requests for information were frivolous:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Just before you go further on that, if I could just unpick
one element of it. You mentioned that things were going all right, then there
started to be objections to your possibility of being able to transport ore to —
Mr Kerr: The obligations under the process we are doing is that we must inform
the adjoining. So in that process we would advise the Thomases, via Tisala as the
registered people, that, “Hey, guys, this is what we’re doing. This is the plan. This is
what we’re going to do”, and Ian took over from where I was, but that’s when
things started to become an issue and that’s when things started to change. But
getting back to the question here, it was always known that they were on the
crown reserve. It was never in anybody’s doubt that was; it was never an issue. It
was no surprise to anyone; they always knew that.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Why do you say that?
Mr Kerr: Because we have been in meetings with them. We have told them all
along. They know that. It was on their title search.
Hon KYLE McGINN: When would be the first meeting that you remember telling
them that?
Mr Moody: October 2013.
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Of which year?
Hon KYLE McGINN: Was Steve Kean in that meeting?
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Mr Moody: Yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So just broadly speaking, what was the nature of the
objections that were raised?
Mr Moody: One of the classic ones was —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: You were not actually doing any work at that stage?
Mr Moody: No.
Mr Kerr: We had to tell them —
Mr Moody: We had provided them a copy of our mining proposal.
Mr Kerr: Yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Right; okay.
Mr Moody: We were talking them through the mining proposal. It was a draft
copy. So it was explained what was going to occur and what we would like to
occur.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Okay. So what was bending them out of shape about
that?
Mr Moody: One of the miscellaneous licence conditions that we wanted was the
ability to perhaps install a repeater tower—if it was too far away for UHF radio
contact from the mine, we might want a repeater tower—and they objected to
that.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: What was the nature of their objection?
Mr Moody: That it might interfere with their helicopter mustering.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: All right.
Mr Moody: They objected to our application to put in a turkey’s nest for a
watering point to water the haul road, and the question was, “What is a turkey’s
nest?” What else?
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So that was explained to them, presumably.
Mr Moody: It was explained, yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: And for the purposes of the Hansard record, can you
just explain to us—
Mr Moody: What a turkey’s nest is? A turkey’s nest is a raised dam that is used for
water storage. You can either have a bore hole or a truck filling the water. So it is a
watering point. You create a watering point to keep the haul road dust down.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: And what was their objection to that?
Mr Moody: They did not know what a turkey’s nest was.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Okay. So that was cleared up, then?
Mr Moody: Yes, and also they were not aware if they wanted the full specifications
of the haul road as well. Now, I happen to know that Lawrence has worked as a
constructor for Hampton Transport previously and has built haul roads as well, too.
So we found them quite spurious, I have to say.
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: What was the nature of the inquiry there and why was
that a problem?
Mr Moody: They wanted to know the width, which we supplied, and the depth of
the base, which we supplied, and there was a few other things I can’t remember.
There were a lot of questions.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did they explain why that was important to them?
Mr Moody: No.
Mr Kerr: We literally have hundreds of letters from them—would they be
hundreds?
Mr Moody: Maybe not that many
Mr Kerr: We had 20-ring folder formats of Q&As being asked since 2013. If you
are asking what the inquiries are, there would be 200 inquiries like this. 78

3.14

The Committee obtained from the Department, a copy of Hawthorn Resources’ Stakeholder
Engagement/Consultation Register. This document was provided to the Department along
with an application to amend the mining proposal for tenements, including M31/79. The
document lists each engagement by the joint venture with stakeholders, the overwhelming
majority being with Tisala or its representatives. Almost 190 pages of the document are
dedicated to the period between 2012 and the commencement of mining. Table 1 provides a
summary of the joint venture’s contact with specific stakeholders between 2013 and 2017.

Table 1. Joint venture reported contact with stakeholders 2013–17
Stakeholder

Contacts

Lawrence Thomas

195

Leo Thomas

52

Steven Kean

53

[Source: Hawthorn Resources Limited, Stakeholder Engagement/Consultation Register, as contained in Mining Proposal
and Mine Closure Plan 69459, 1 September 2017.]

3.15

The Committee does not consider that, in and of itself, it is unreasonable or unusual for a
mining company to have a significant number of contacts with those affected by mining.
However, Hawthorn describe this period as one of frustration and delay:
Mr Kerr: Can I just say something here? There is a pattern of “run us through a
legal process for as long as possible”, the JV [joint venture], with many, many
questions; them saying they are not prepared; them saying they need more time
for legal counsel; them saying there is a religious period coming up or an
Indigenous period coming up or something coming up. We have been five years in
this treadmill of delay, delay, delay and in all of our matters, with the exception of
going to the Warden’s Court, they couldn’t revert at the last minute. The Warden’s
Court matter had to go on because we’d just run out of options with our partners.
We were going to go broke if we couldn’t get a decision to mine. That is why we
needed to pursue it to the end. We could never seem to get to a discussion where
they would want to sit down and say, “We’re ready to go.” Ten or 15 different
groups and people have tried and tried heroically to get us all to sit down and
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agree, but this is basically a commercial dispute between two parties what we’re
talking about. We have tried like hell. It is very frustrating. For example —
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: With actually trying to get to the bottom of it.
Mr Kerr: It is between two companies. One of the things that just does my mind
sitting here as managing director and in charge of the JV is that we have this
comedy of we have got to tell them what we are doing, which is we do it by law.
We tell them what we are doing, then someone comes out and takes land nearby
the haul road, or someone pegs something or someone does something. Then it
even gets better: “He is not associated with us; he has got nothing to do with us.”
They cannot use our insider information, which is what they are getting, to
enhance or better themselves. Basic tenement of law. “Oh, this person is not
related.”79

3.16

Parties connected to Tisala did not refer to this period of time in their submissions to the
Committee or during their oral evidence.

FINDING 6
There was an extensive period of dispute between the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd over
technical aspects of the proposed mining operation.

Attempts to come to a financial settlement
3.17

The joint venture sought to enter into a financial settlement with Tisala which would provide
it with what were presumed to be the necessary consents to be able to conduct mining
operations.

3.18

The Committee has seen at least eight documents that set out offers from the joint venture
to Tisala to enable mining to take place without objection. As time went on, and until 2019,
the financial value of the offers tended to decrease from those originally presented.

Table 2. Offers of compensation to resolve all mining disputes
Date of offer

Financial component of offer

August 2014

$550 000

October 2016

$450 000 plus $4000 per month for rental of buildings and employment for
Leo Thomas and Steven Kean at $25 000 per year

November 2017

$170 000 plus $20 000 each year during mining and no claim for costs in
court proceedings

December 2017

$270 000 plus $20 000 each year during mining and no claim for costs in
court proceedings

October 2018

$270 000 plus $20 000 each year during mining and no claim for costs of
$50 000 in court proceedings

November 2018

$300 000 plus $20 000 each year during mining and no claim for costs of
$50 000 in court proceedings

January 2019

$550 000

[Source: Various correspondence between Hawthorn Resources Limited and Tisala Pty Ltd]
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3.19

Each offer has required Tisala to vacate its dwellings on the Common Reserve 10041 for the
duration of mining.

3.20

The joint venture and Tisala were unable to reach agreement.

FINDING 7
As the length of the dispute between the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd grew between 2014 and
2017, the value of the offers of compensation decreased from those originally presented.

28

Chapter 3

Mining interests at Pinjin

CHAPTER 4
Tisala’s application to incorporate Common Reserve 10041
into the pastoral lease
Background
4.1

There are a range of land interests that fall within the boundaries of the Pinjin pastoral lease
that do not form a part of the lease. Of significance to the dispute at Pinjin is Common
Reserve 10041, which contains the Pinjin Homestead, its significant pastoral infrastructure
and the joint venture’s mining interests.

4.2

Due to the lack of a judicial determination on the treatment of occupiers of Common
Reserves, Tisala relied upon an understanding of the law that supported a claim for
permissive occupancy and enforcement of occupancy rights against those with mining rights
under the Mining Act 1978. Tisala thought their presence gave them legal standing and
protected their pastoral infrastructure from mining operations. This is discussed in greater
detail in Chapters 5 and 6.

4.3

It seemed to the Committee that an early resolution of the occupancy question would have
avoided much of the conflict that subsequently arose. Given both parties’ significant interests
in Common Reserve 10041, the Committee was concerned to understand why the occupancy
rights of Common Reserve 10041 were not settled well before the time that they were.

4.4

This chapter is primarily concerned with Committee term of reference (1)(g), namely:
(g) reasons why the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety formerly
the Department of Mines and Petroleum and successive Ministers have not
approved the incorporation of the Common Reserve 10041 into the Pinjin
Station Pastoral Lease

The incorporation process
4.5

The Minister for Lands is empowered to cancel, change the purpose of or amend the
boundaries of a reserve.80

4.6

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage has an administrative process to ensure
that all necessary consents and approvals are in place prior to putting a request to
incorporate before the Minister for Lands.

Attempts to incorporate
4.7

It was only in 2016 that Tisala took steps to regularise its occupation of the Common Reserve
by seeking to incorporate that land into the pastoral lease. Lawrence Thomas wrote to the
Department of Lands to enquire how Tisala could apply to have the Common Reserve
incorporated into the broader pastoral lease:
Iam [sic] very disappointed that we have spent a huge amount of money, time and
resources on land replacing fixing improvements etc that we all presumed was
within Pinjin Station.

80

Land Administration Act 1997 s 51.
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If possible can you please direct us by providing copies of forms etc about exactly
we go [sic] about applying for the land which is not included in the pastoral
lease.81

4.8

Tisala’s frustrations about its expenditure on the Common Reserve were a common theme of
communications between Tisala and the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage at the
time. In an email sent in 2017 seeking a letter of support for Tisala’s occupation of the
Common Reserve, Tisala wrote:
Additionally can you make mention that for the past 3 years the [sic] under the
auspices of the department you as in MR [sic] David Colvin senior Project Officer
have, instructed, encouraged and directed us to fix, rectify, build, improve all sorts
of infrastructure both on the common 10041 and also on the Pastoral Lease itself
…
if we were not the lawful occupiers and had rights as such the department should
never have instructed us and at times directed us to do a whole range of things. 82

4.9

Tisala had spent significant funds over the preceding years making improvements to
infrastructure located on the Common Reserve. This was in accordance with the
development plan discussed in Chapter 2. The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
compiled the following table showing spending specifically on the Common Reserve (All
Reserve) and partly on the Common Reserve (Part Reserve):

Table 3. Expenditure on infrastructure on Common Reserve 10041, as extracted from Pinjin Station
Annual Returns
Year

All Reserve

Part Reserve

Total

Actions performed, items purchased and works completed on
Reserve

2009/10

$20,000

-

$20,000

Solar panels and battery for Homestead.

2010/11

$10,000

$25,000

$35,000

Water pump and piping to supply Homestead. 'Part Reserve'
expenditure lists asbestos removal from Reserve which would
account for the majority of 'Part Reserve' costs.

2011/12

$17,000

-

$ 17,000

Homestead cattle yards, repair storm damage, water tank at
shearers quarters, grading road into Homestead.

2012/13

$85,000

-

$ 85,000

Dam cleaning, improve stockyard at Homestead, fencing, water
tanks.

2013/14

$127,500

$72,000

$199,500

Tank and troughs, water pipes, dozing and grading tracks,
upgrades to living quarters.

2014/15

$95,000

$53,000

$148,000

Water troughs, leach and septic tanks installed for all quarters,
windows, electricity supply upgrade.

2015/16

N/A

N/A

N/A

2016/17

$10,000

$66,000

$76,000

$364,500

$216,000

$580,500

Total
Expenditure

Annual Return not submitted.
Rubbish removal, window replacement, hot water system
upgrade, toilet repair.

[Source: Gail McGowan, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, Answer to question on notice 3 asked at hearing
held 19 December 2018, dated 23 January 2019, p 2]
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FINDING 8
Tisala Pty Ltd expended significant funds improving the buildings and infrastructure located on the
Common Reserve 10041.
4.10

The Committee asked the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage whether it was
appropriate for the Pastoral Lands Board to approve development works by a pastoralist on
areas outside of their pastoral lease. Its representatives explained that Tisala’s situation was
not unique and that the Pastoral Lands Board expected pastoralists to incorporate
development works so as to best support their pastoral lease’s needs:
Hon KYLE McGINN: It did not take into account the non-title of the homestead in
that decision of approving it?
Mr Eringa: As I said, the board’s role is limited to making sure that pastoral land is
administered appropriately. The board has powers under the act to make sure that
things happen, or it can mandate things. One of those powers is that it can require
a pastoral lessee to provide it with a development plan when it is concerned about
the state of the infrastructure, which it was at the time. It is then up to the
proponent to say what the development plan looks like. As I said, Tisala provided
such a plan. The plan involved improving fencing, water points and improvements
to the homestead. The board approved the plan.
Hon JACQUI BOYDELL: Even though the homestead was on the common reserve,
not part of the pastoral lease, that was part of the compliance?
Mr Eringa: It is part of the development plan. The lessee tells the board what it is
going to do in order to develop the lease, even though the homestead might not
be on the pastoral lease, which often it is—improvements to the homestead area.
Hon JACQUI BOYDELL: I am just trying to establish that there must have been a
realisation during that stage of the development plan.
Mr Eringa: The board would have assumed that Tisala had permissive occupancy
of the commons. The homestead had been on the commons for 50 years, and the
commons had been used by successive pastoral lessees of Pinjin station since
1906. The board made an assumption that there was permissive occupancy and
there was no reason to think that there was not. Tisala had control of that asset in
the eyes of the board.83

4.11

The Department of Lands supported the incorporation of Common Reserve 10041 into the
Pinjin Pastoral lease and assisted Tisala to complete the necessary paperwork. 84

The Department’s consideration of the request
4.12

Once the Department of Lands received the necessary paperwork from Tisala it was required
to consult the Minister for Mines. Section 16(3) of the Mining Act 1978 provides:
(3) No Crown land that is in a mineral field shall be leased, transferred in fee
simple, or otherwise disposed of under the provisions of the Land
Administration Act 1997, without the approval of the Minister.
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4.13

On 5 October 2016 the then Department of Lands wrote to the then Department of Mines
and Petroleum seeking the Minister for Mines’ consent.85

4.14

The Department receives over 100 such applications each year and has a standard process to
deal with those requests. Upon receiving an application, the Department makes an
assessment of the mineral prospectivity of the area in question. It seeks the advice of
exploration companies to ensure that any recommendation it makes to the Minister is based
on the most recent geological results.86 In the present case, the Department had already
granted approval to mine within the Common Reserve.87

The Ministerial briefing note
4.15

The Committee heard that once the Department obtained relevant information, it prepared a
ministerial briefing note to assist the Minister to decide whether to consent to the
incorporation of Common Reserve 10041 into the pastoral lease. The Department supplied a
copy of the ministerial briefing note to the Committee. This document is extracted at
Appendix 3.

4.16

The ministerial briefing note was considered by a number of senior officers within the
Department before it reached the Minister, including a General Manager, an Executive
Director, the Acting Deputy Director General and the Acting Director General. 88 The
Department advised:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: A lot of these are dealt with each year, you say. Is there
anything about this one in particular that excited additional care or caution?
Dr Roberts: We were aware that there had been disputes and disagreements
between the pastoralists and the proponent, and that was through the liaison
officer. We were aware of the issues in terms of the mining approval as well. We
were aware that this was a very difficult and, I suppose, controversial matter that
had to take a lot of internal discussions.89

4.17

The current Director General of the Department told the Committee:
Mr Smith: The fact that this briefing note that you have got has almost a page of
contentious issues, that is not usual in my experience for the department. Those
questions you are asking about, what kind of consideration was given in the
department to the context perhaps around a decision, as Dr Roberts was saying,
was around prospectivity and the technicalities of that, but also acknowledging for
the minister at the time that there was a broader context, if you like, of issues
around that.90

4.18

It is against this background that the Ministerial briefing note was prepared to ensure that
the Minister was adequately informed of the broader context of the decision he was being
invited to make. Given the protracted length of the dispute between Tisala and the joint

85

Samantha Carter, Project Officer, Department of Mines and Petroleum, Email, 6 December 2016, p 1.

86

Ivor Roberts, Executive Director Regulatory Support, Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety,
Transcript of evidence, 18 December 2018, pp 22-3.

87

ibid., p 26.

88

David Smith, Director General, Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, Answer to question on notice
7 asked at hearing held 18 December 2018, dated 18 January 2019, p 2.

89

Ivor Roberts, Executive Director Regulatory Support, Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety,
Transcript of evidence, 18 December 2018, p 26.

90

David Smith, Director General, Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, Transcript of evidence,
18 December 2018, p 27.

32

Chapter 4

Tisala’s application to incorporate Common Reserve 10041 into the pastoral lease

venture, the Minister would be entitled to think that the information contained in the
briefing note would fully and accurately reflect the circumstances that existed at the time.
4.19

The ‘Contentious Issues’ section of the briefing note repeatedly states that the Department
has been informed or advised of certain facts. The Committee asked the Department about
the source of this information at the hearings and the Department took the questions on
notice. It subsequently provided answers to the Committee in writing.

4.20

Question on notice six asked:
Absolutely. The next paragraph reads —
DMP is advised that in recent times, both companies — Hawthorn and GEL — have
been confronted by actions undertaken by Tisala and its associates Messrs Steve
Keane and Gerard Brewer, designed to inhibit approved exploration and premining activities. Who advised DMP [Department of Mines and Petroleum] of
this?91

4.21

The Department responded:
To correct the evidence given by Dr Ivor Roberts during the hearing on
18 December 2018, it was not the Liaison Officer, Jeff Hayles, who provided this
advice and context to DMP, but rather the affected tenement holders. 92

4.22

Question on notice eight asked:
This may be something you need to take on notice as well. Also, would you be
able to tell us whether or not the DMP conducted an investigation of its own into
those claims after receiving them—whether the liaison officer actually conducted
an investigation into those claims? Would you need to take that one on notice? 93

4.23

The Department responded:
This information was provided by two of the affected tenement holders as well as Ensign
Legal, acting on behalf of both companies. This information was presented to the Minister to
make him aware that there were contentious issues. The exact nature of these issues were
not material to the decision making other than establishing that there was conflict between
the parties. As such, the Department sought no further information beyond that which was
provided to DMP from multiple sources in the tenement consultation phase of the
assessment.
Had these claims formed a material component to the rationale for not supporting the
proposal they would have been thoroughly investigated. However, DMP’s position, as
emphasised in the resources/current operations and contentious issues section of the
briefing note, was based on the known gold mineralisation, the pre-existing DMP mining
proposal approvals, and the significant access restrictions that would be enacted under
section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978, should the Common Reserve be included into the Pinjin
Pastoral lease. These reasons would have applied regardless of the relationship between the
two parties. Thus no investigation of the claims was undertaken.94
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4.24

Question on notice nine asked:
Just continuing on with this line, the next part of the paragraph says —
Recent actions by the pastoral lease holder have included the construction of two
dams (on the reserves, without permission) within 400 metres of Hawthorn
Resources and GEL Resources proposed haul road.
Did the DMP independently verify the claims? 95

4.25

The Department responded:
No, this information was provided by the affected tenement holders, as well as their legal
representative Ensign Legal. In their submission to DMP, photographic evidence of the dam
constructions was provided as well as an area map showing their plotted locations along the
proposed haul road route. This information has previously been supplied by the Department
to the Select Committee (see Documents #2-3 within Tab T8, Level Arch File No 5). As above,
this was not material to the decision making other than to establish there was conflict
between the parties.96

4.26

Question on notice 11 asked:
Jumping to the last paragraph, it states —
DMP is advised that Tisala has not shown any indication that they are cooperating
with the mining companies.
Who advised DMP of this?97

4.27

The Department responded:
Again, to correct the evidence given by Dr Ivor Roberts during the hearing on 18 December
2018, it was not the Liaison Officer, Jeff Hayles, who provided this advice to DMP, but rather
the affected tenement holders.
No, DMP did not conduct its own enquiries. However, detailed evidence of this lack of
cooperation was provided in a submission made by Austwide Mining Title Management Pty
Ltd on behalf of Hawthorn Mining dated 2 November 2016 including email correspondence
with Tisala. This submission has already been provided in the documentation submitted to
the Select Committee (see Documents #31-35 and Document #40 within Tab T8, Lever Arch
File No 5).98

4.28

Departmental officers told the Committee the Minister’s decision would be based on mineral
prospectivity. However, the Department elected to include information in the briefing note
relating to other matters. That information included contentious material from the
proponents of the mine and their representatives. The Department did not examine the
veracity of the claims by the mine proponents concerning the pastoralists. The briefing note
also did not make clear that the information contained in the document was largely sourced
by mine proponents and not independently verified.
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4.29

One example of this is the claim that Pinjin Station, ‘is not a permanent home for the
pastoral lessee, who lives in Kalgoorlie’.99 There was no need for this statement to appear in
the Ministerial if it was indeed only a question of mineral prospectivity. However, once
making the statement concerning the occupation of buildings at Pinjin, the Department did
not elect to include information including that that the homestead in question had been in
situ for at least 40 years and was central to the broader pastoral station. Nor that there had
been significant expenditure made to the Common Reserve by the pastoralists over the time
period.

4.30

The Committee is of the view that the ministerial briefing note did not fully and accurately
reflect the circumstances that existed at the time. The Department’s assertion that the focus
of the exercise of the Minister’s discretion was on the mineral prospectivity of the relevant
land, is not consistent with the breadth of information, unverified by the Department, within
the Ministerial.

FINDING 9
The ministerial briefing note provided to the Minister for Mines concerning the incorporation of
Common Reserve 10041 into the Pinjin pastoral lease was largely based on information supplied
by the mine proponents. The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety did not take
satisfactory steps to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the information or identify the
sources of the information relied upon.
RECOMMENDATION 1
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety review its processes in relation to the
preparation of ministerial briefing notes to ensure that the information they contain is accurate
and complete.

Tisala’s understanding of the attempt to incorporate
4.31

On 30 November 2016 the application to incorporate was not approved by the Minister for
Mines.

4.32

Lawrence Thomas did not appear to the Committee to appreciate the significance of the
Minister’s refusal of the application. He told the Committee:
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Can I interrupt? Can I add to Leo? I am going to tell you
the truth. This common—I applied for this common. When I found out that
apparently it is not part of the station, I applied for this. Who owned it? The local
government owned it.
The CHAIRMAN: Menzies.
Mr Lawrence Thomas: They had the management order over it. I applied for it.
They had a meeting, they discussed it and guess what? They said, “You can have it;
it is yours. We give it to Tisala for the station. We do that all over the shire. We
always do that.” So they had done their bit, they had had their meeting. I have got
an uncle in there. He had a conflict of interest; he got out of the room and let
them do their business. Everything was done good, legal, signed off. The shire
signed off on it and gave the paperwork to the Minister for Lands. That was what
you were getting at in that early part; I forgot and now it has come back to me.
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What did the minister do? Where is it? You asked the question. Ask him: where is
my paperwork for this lease for the common?100

Tisala’s knowledge of the existence of Common Reserve 10041
4.33

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage gave evidence to the Committee that they
had been involved with Tisala for many years to advise on the pastoral lease and to assist
with planning for a range of activities on the pastoral lease:
Mr Eringa: In fact, in the period between 2007 and 2012, when I was dealing with
Tisala then, it came up on a number of occasions that they wanted to change
some of the tenure to suit some other activities—to improve their pastoral
business but also to allow for some other activities that they were planning to do.
This has been a conversation that is been going on for a number of years. 101

4.34

In the course of that discussion about future land use, the question of tenure over the
Common Reserve 10041 was raised:
Hon KYLE McGINN: My question is around the discussions you were having with
Jan Taylor, Lawrence and Leo. Were you talking about the homestead being on
common land at that stage?
Mr Eringa: I remember it coming up because the nature of the discussions was
that we had a map and we were pointing out what could happen in different parts
of the station, so —
Hon KYLE McGINN: So all three of them would have been clearly aware that the
homestead was on common land?
Mr Eringa: If you look at a map of Pinjin station, you cannot not be aware that
that is the case; it stands out very clearly and they had the same maps—we were
looking at the same piece of paper.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Was there any advice or recommendations at that stage to
try to get title or to move away from that common —
Mr Eringa: Yes, the advice was the standard advice that if you have an asset that is
on a piece of land that you do not have tenure over, then it is an unprotected
asset and from a business perspective, it is not a good idea to have. Those
discussions were tied up in the broader discussions about future uses of Pinjin
station and, depending on their business model, in the longer term a pastoral
lease may or may not have been the correct vehicle. It might have been that some
sections of the station might have remained as a pastoral lease; other sections
might have gone to a different form of tenure, or it might have been that,
depending on the business model, the whole of the station could have been
converted to something different. All of those options were considered at the time,
so at that time, rather than saying, “Amalgamate the homestead into the pastoral
lease”, it was, “Let’s look at the whole of the pastoral lease”. If you have a look at
the tenure map of the station, at a high level it seems like one block, but I think
there is something like 40 different pieces of tenure within that lease. There are
water reserves, UCL [unallocated Crown land], a cemetery, and even the commons
that we are talking about look from a distance like one big solid block of 80-odd
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square kilometres, but when you zoom in, there are, in fact, different bits. There is
a water reserve in there; there is a battery reserve in there, I think.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: To what extent was there a comment about potential
risks if matters were not regularised by either incorporating the reserve into the
lease or doing some other model that would preserve that asset? Do you recall
telling them about the consequences?
Mr Eringa: I usually do. I cannot specifically recall making those comments.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But basically it would have been along the lines of,
“You’ve got no title to this, so if the government or someone says you’ve got to
get off here, you may lose it all.”
Mr Eringa: Yes, and that was very much at the forefront of people’s minds, given
that Tisala had not been offered renewal at the beginning of my involvement.
Certainly, it was made clear that there was a possibility that things could not work
out, for various reasons, but there was also an opportunity to change things and
set things up in proper ways so that you can have a business or a set of businesses
that are connected to each other that work and, in order to do that, the basic thing
that you needed was appropriate tenure. I can remember having those
discussions.102

4.35

Mr Tony Bullen from the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety recalls a
similar conversation occurring with Lawrence Thomas:
Mr Bullen: In respect to Pinjin, and then Hawthorn had just recently taken over the
company titles there. It was a while ago; it was 2008. But that discussion was
around the fact that the homestead was on the common and I identified that to
Lawrence. This meeting took place at Pinjin. The legal officer—I do not remember
her name, but it was a lady from the GLSC [Goldfields Land and Sea Council] —was
present. Again, there was discussion around sample bags being left in situ. Again,
my comments at the time were my observations about the homestead being on
the common. I made a recommendation, as a liaison officer, that the homestead
being where it is, if you have got an opportunity to negotiate an outcome, it is
better than to take it through a Warden’s Court process. That was my advice that I
offered. In relation to the sample bags, I provided that information back to the
environmental officer in Kalgoorlie at the time, and that was Briony Sinclair, who
then followed up with correspondence to the company about cleaning up the
sample bags.103

4.36

Lawrence Thomas recalls:
Hon KYLE McGINN: Just a quick question. Back when you first met Mr Moody, did
you know that this was common land?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Well, I heard the talk about common land but I was always
under the impression that, regardless of common or not, it is pastoral. I did not
know nothing about leases or lease arrangements; I did not know anything about
that. I learn as I go.
Hon KYLE McGINN: So when did you first become aware that this was on
common land?
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Mr Lawrence Thomas: Well, when Hawthorn started sending me letters about we
got to get out because we do not belong.
Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: So how long ago was that?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: That was going five or six years when there was an
exploration, when I first moved out here. 104

4.37

The Committee heard from several witnesses that Tisala had been made aware on numerous
occasions that the Common Reserve did not form part of the Pinjin pastoral lease.

4.38

The Committee cannot say whether an application by Tisala to incorporate Common Reserve
10041 into the Pinjin pastoral lease would have succeeded had it been made in 2007 or
2008. At that time, the mineral prospectivity of the area may not have been as fully
understood as it was in 2017.

4.39

However, Tisala might not have spent money on infrastructure that was located on the
Common Reserve had it made due inquiry into the significance of its lack of tenure.

FINDING 10
Tisala Pty Ltd was, or ought to have been, aware by 2007 or 2008 that Common Reserve 10041 did
not form part of the Pinjin pastoral lease.

Role of successive Ministers
4.40

Committee term of reference 1(g) requires the Committee to inquire into why successive
Ministers have not approved the incorporation of Common Reserve 10041 into the Pinjin
Pastoral lease.

4.41

The Committee has no evidence to suggest that any other application was made by Tisala to
incorporate the Common Reserve into its pastoral lease other than that rejected by the
Minister for Mines in November 2016. Without any further applications, this term of
reference falls away.

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage approach to homesteads
not on pastoral leases
4.42

The Pinjin Homestead is not the only pastoral homestead that is outside of a pastoral lease.
The Committee heard from the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage who advised:
Mr Eringa: I had a quick look yesterday in terms of how common this situation is.
As I said, a lot of the stock routes, for instance, and pastoral leases are not
surveyed. They are listed by description, but from an initial glance, I could identify
12-odd homesteads that were either not on the pastoral lease but might have
been on a stock route or might have been on a freehold adjacent to or within the
pastoral lease, and one other homestead we identified that appears to be on a
commons as well. In those situations, as I say, we prioritise the action we take. It is
in the interests of the leaseholders to make sure that whatever assets they have on
land are secured against some form of title, because as we have seen in the
current case, if you do not have that sort of security it can threaten your business.
Our advice to people is to rectify the situation as much as they can, which indeed
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was our advice to Tisala when we became aware that the homestead being located
on the commons was in fact an issue.105

4.43

This situation has potential to give rise to difficulties for pastoral leaseholders. Chapter 6 sets
out a decision of the Mining Warden in 2018 which ruled that Tisala did not have occupancy
rights over the Common Reserve. The Committee asked the Department of Planning, Lands
and Heritage about the impact of the Warden’s decision concerning Pinjin, upon other
pastoral leaseholders. They replied:
Ms McGowan: Inevitably there will be some risk and there will be some risk on a
whole raft of things to do with pastoral stations and other forms of land tenure.
The question of whether that risk is a tolerable or a manageable risk or can be
mitigated in any way is probably one we will have to turn our minds to. But in
reality—I make a general statement rather than a precise statement—it is probably
a risk we would deem acceptable in the majority of instances.106

4.44

The Committee heard that the process for the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
to ascertain the status of a particular homestead was complex:
Mr Eringa: It is a very resource-intensive activity to verify the actual situation. I can
think of one example that came up where a homestead was thought to be on a
stock route that had not been reserved. Effectively it was on a piece of unallocated
crown land and all the maps showed it to be in the middle of that stock route. This
was not a mining issue, but native title also co-exists with pastoral leases. In that
area it was in an exclusive position, under the Native Title Act, on a piece of
unallocated crown land where then you have a homestead. In terms of legalities,
when it sits on land that is in the exclusive possession of someone else, on the face
it that infrastructure then becomes the property of the owners of the land, which
in this case was the native title holders.
We were asked to provide comment on whether that situation was correct through
the SSO [State Solicitor’s Office]. I believe it took two lawyers something like two
months to go through the files all the way back to the 1900s and 1910s to work
out that somewhere in the 1920s that homestead had been created. At that point,
the stock route had been moved around the homestead so that the homestead
was in fact on pastoral land, but the mapping that we had was not updated to
reflect that fact. It is not as simple as looking at a map, working out the tenure and
advising people. We would have to go through each and every homestead and get
surveys done of where the homesteads actually are. Very few of our pastoral
leases, very few of our stock routes and very few of our reserves are surveyed.
Most of them are described in the way they came about. It takes a lot of work to
establish exactly which piece of infrastructure is on what sort of tenure. 107

4.45

The Committee acknowledges that the process to ascertain the legal status of a homestead
that may not be on its respective pastoral lease is complex and resource intensive. The
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage takes appropriate steps, using a risk-based
approach, to manage these situations.
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CHAPTER 5
Application of the Mining Act 1978 and the grant of
approval to mine
The application of the Mining Act 1978
5.1

Central to the dispute between the joint venture and Tisala is the question of whose rights
prevail over Common Reserve 10041. The answer to this question depends upon the
application of provisions of the Mining Act 1978.

5.2

In very early interactions between the parties, they recognised that their respective rights
were based on the interpretation of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978. That section
provides:
20. Protection of certain Crown Land
(5) Notwithstanding that any Crown land to which this subsection refers may be
marked out as or be included in a mining tenement, a mining tenement or Miner’s
Right does not entitle the holder thereof to prospect or fossick on, explore, or
mine on or under, or otherwise interfere with, any Crown land that is —
(a) for the time being under crop, or which is situated within 100m thereof;
(b) used as or situated within 100m of a yard, stockyard, garden, cultivated
field, orchard, vineyard, plantation, airstrip or airfield;
(c) situated within 100 m of any land that is in actual occupation and on which
a house or other substantial building is erected;
(d) the site of or situated within 100 m of any cemetery or burial ground;
(e) land the subject of a pastoral lease within the meaning of the Land
Administration Act 1997 which is the site of, or is situated within 400 m of
the outer edge of, any water works, race, dam, well or bore, not being an
excavation previously made and used for mining purposes by a person
other than a lessee of that pastoral lease,
without the written consent of the occupier, unless —
(ea) the warden in relation to any land other than land referred to in paragraph
(c) otherwise directs; or
(eb) in the case of mining, it is carried out not less than 30 m below the lowest
part of the natural surface of the land

5.3

In simple terms, this subsection protects the rights of lawful occupiers of land against
encroachment by mining operations by providing separation distances between mining
operations and pastoral activities.

5.4

The question of what constitutes an ‘occupier’ under this subsection had not, until the
current dispute between Tisala and the joint venture, been judicially determined. Instead,
miners and occupiers of land relied on untested legal opinions and industry practices on how
the provision should operate. The Warden’s Court consideration of this question is discussed
in Chapter 6.
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Why is section 20(5) central to the current dispute?
5.5

The application of section 20(5) is critical to this dispute and any such dispute between
mining companies and landholders. In essence, it protects a landholder from mining activity
that seeks to conflict with the land uses listed in the section. This can provide a landholder
with powerful leverage in any negotiations over whether consent will be given to a miner
and the financial terms under which that consent will be provided.

5.6

There is no question that the protections afforded by section 20(5) apply to infrastructure,
crops and water points that are located on the Pinjin pastoral lease. However, the Committee
notes that there were disputes between the parties concerning what constituted water
infrastructure, what was original infrastructure and what infrastructure may have been placed
on the pastoral lease and the Common Reserve 10041 after Tisala had received a copy of the
joint venture’s mining proposal.108

5.7

However, the application of section 20(5) to the pastoral homestead and water and pastoral
infrastructure located on the Common Reserve has not been clear until recently. If, as a
matter of law, the protections and setback distances contained in that section did not apply
to Tisala’s pastoral infrastructure on the Common Reserve, then Tisala’s consent was not
required to enable the joint venture to conduct its mining activity. Accordingly, Tisala’s ability
to bargain with the joint venture would be significantly reduced.

FINDING 11
Clarity as to the application of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 was critical to the bargaining
positions of the joint venture and Tisala Pty Ltd.
5.8

The Committee is familiar with a similar situation having arisen in the case of land at
Williamstown, located in Kalgoorlie (refer Chapter 6).

Application to commence mining
Background
5.9

In 2015 the joint venture applied to the Department of Mines and Petroleum for approval to
mine the resource at Pinjin. Dr Phil Gorey, from the Department, outlined the Department’s
approvals process:
Dr Gorey: I am happy just to run through generally. When a mining proposal is
lodged with the department, there are a number of stages that we work through
and they are managed consistently. We have what we call a quality management
system, which is the procedures that are lodged on our internal library system, and
that dictates how each application is dealt with and it simply lists those steps that
the officers will go through. It also lists various criteria or steps or questions that
might need to be asked by assessing officers. We do that for consistency and
being able to track those processes.
When the applications come in, there is a screening stage, which is the first stage.
That is when the area that receives those applications essentially assesses to make
sure that they are complete; so that the documents are complete, things have
been uploaded correctly and so forth. They are then assigned to an area for
assessment and assigned to an officer for assessment. Various decisions will be
made and that will be a balance of workload, experience, type of application and
so forth. We will decide where it goes in the organisation. For this one here, it was
assigned to Tonya. When the officer then gets the assessment, there is actually an
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assessment report that they then need to complete and that sets out the various
questions that need to be considered by the assessing officer. They relate to things
like whether the application is consistent with the tenements that are granted;
whether the application, of course, is environmentally acceptable; and other steps
about information provided. In this case, as with all mining proposals that come in,
it includes details about the consultation that the proponent will have undertaken
with stakeholders and how those matters are taken into account. The officers then
complete their assessment report. That assessment report is then peer reviewed
before being provided to the decision-maker to then make the decision on
whether to approve or reject the application. 109

Assessment
5.10

The joint venture’s mining application was given to Tonya Carter, Environmental Officer, for
assessment against the Department’s policies and guidelines. At the time of the Inquiry
Ms Carter was no longer employed by the Department and was employed by the Office of
the Appeals Convenor. Ms Carter agreed to appear before the Inquiry and, in her own time,
refreshed her memory of relevant matters with the cooperation of the Department. The
Committee appreciates her efforts to assist the Inquiry.

5.11

In assessing the mining application, the Department was concerned about the location of
pastoral infrastructure on the Pinjin pastoral lease. This was because of the setback
provisions contained in section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978, which would require the
consent of the pastoralist to commence mining within 400 m of water infrastructure.
Assessing whether relevant consents were in place was the Department’s standard practice at
that time.

5.12

On 6 November 2015 Tonya Carter wrote to Hawthorn Resources to clarify the impact of
mining on infrastructure. She wrote:
However, DMP [Department of Mines and Petroleum] are of the understanding
that the proposed activities may be within 400m of water infrastructure such as
pipelines, troughs, and other water infrastructure.
Please provide further information to demonstrate that the proposed activities will
not be located within 400m of water infrastructure. 110

5.13

Hawthorn Resources replied:
However, these facilities occur on Crown Reserve and not the Pastoral lease, as
such the 400m buffer distance referred to in the mining Act 1978 Section 20(5) e
only applies to land subject to a pastoral lease.
Hawthorn is not aware of any water works located on the Pastoral lease that is
located within 400m of the mine and related infrastructure that may trigger the
requirement for written consent of the pastoral lease occupier. 111
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5.14

Despite Hawthorn’s stated position, the Department did not change its view regarding the
need for consents to be in place. On 25 November 2015, Mark Kerr, Managing Director of
Hawthorn Resources, wrote to the Minister for Mines expressing his frustration at the delay
in approving the mining proposal.112 In December, the Minister responded:
It is my understanding that the assessment is currently on hold pending written
consent being obtained from the Pastoralist at Pinjin Station to conduct mining
activities within buffer distances from pastoral infrastructure, as specified in
Section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978.113

5.15

Nevertheless, the Department sought legal advice regarding the application of section 20(5)
to Tisala’s pastoral infrastructure. The specific infrastructure about which the Department
sought advice was identified in an email from Tonya Carter to Hawthorn Resources of
22 January 2016:
Please find the location of pastoral infrastructure supplied to DMP by Tisala Pty
Ltd. This information must be considered in DMPs assessment of REG ID 55291
AngloSaxon Project mining proposal. You will note the majority of the
infrastructure is located within Crown Reserve Common 10041. Therefore DMP
considers that this infrastructure is not subject to the Section 20(5)(e) of the Mining
Act 1978.114

5.16

The email goes on to list other outstanding issues of concern to the Department, including
advice on the legal definition of a ‘yard’ and ‘water works’. 115

5.17

Ms Carter told the Committee:
The CHAIRMAN: The question was: documents submitted by the department
indicate that the department was concerned about the location of infrastructure
on Pinjin station; what is the significance of this at the time?
Ms Carter: It was a concern that it was a breach of section 20(5). However, as this
process evolved, I was required to seek legal advice on the definitions of some of
the terms used in that section—so I did that: I sought legal advice and the
response indicated that it was not actually the environmental officer’s role to make
sure that consent was obtained, and if it could not be obtained, that was a matter
between the parties to sort out.
The CHAIRMAN: So it was basically left to Hawthorn and Pinjin to discuss what
was going to happen with any infrastructure?
Ms Carter: Yes, it was outside the environmental assessment process. 116

5.18

The Committee has not seen or sought the legal advice in question.

5.19

The legal advice that was eventually received from the State Solicitor’s Office was to the
effect that the status of the infrastructure was not a relevant consideration for the
Department in making an environmental assessment of a mining proposal and approving a
mine.

5.20

Ms Carter prepared an Assessment Report with a recommendation that the mining proposal
be approved.
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Decision
5.21

Dr Gorey held the responsibility for granting approval to mine. Dr Gorey told the Committee
that in granting approval to mine, he was guided by the legal advice that the Department
had received:
Dr Gorey: The decision that I wanted to make or needed to come to was
regarding whether I could proceed with the mining proposal regardless of whether
there was contention around the consents around subsection (5). So I formed the
decision based clearly on SSO advice that I could proceed with making that
decision and I was not constrained.117

5.22

Dr Gorey recorded his reasons for granting approval in a decision document. A copy of this
document is at Appendix 4.

5.23

The decision document shows that the Department had formed a view that section 20(5) did
not apply to water works and infrastructure located on the Common Reserve. However, the
Department regarded the Pinjin Homestead differently:
The CHAIRMAN: What was the department’s interpretation of section 20(5) at the
time in relation to occupation of the land without legal title?
Dr Gorey: I might answer that as a decision-maker on the mining proposal at the
time. We sought some legal advice around that. It is probably fair to say that this is
the first example I can remember where this matter came up in a mining proposal.
Based on that advice, I formed the view that the decision about compliance with
section 20(5) was an independent decision regarding the mining proposal, so the
mining proposal needed to be considered on its merits and a decision made on
that, which I then made. Just following on from what Ms Carter was saying, in my
statement of reasons as well there was the matter of the homestead, taking into
account that the homestead was likely to be used as a residence. So that was taken
into account even though there was a question about whether it had a legal right
at that time to be there. It was still taken into account in the assessment. The
second part of the infrastructure question, which has not been touched on yet, is
in relation to the airstrip. The reason the airstrip was taken into account in the
assessment as well is that there was a specific condition on the mining lease
regarding proximity and not impacting on that airstrip. That is why those two
matters particularly were considered in the assessment.118

5.24

Dr Gorey went on to tell the Committee:
Dr Gorey: Perhaps if I could talk about this decision, member. Within this decision,
one of the fundamental points was that whether or not section 20(5) applied, I
came to the view that a decision could proceed on the mining proposal. That was
what this decision relates to. Because of the contention around some of that
infrastructure, I was cognisant of that in making the decision about that proposal. I
viewed that homestead infrastructure differently because people reside there for a
period of time—my assumptions around the capital investment for that, the
permanency of it, the attachment to that as a piece of infrastructure. The airstrip
was dealt with separately, as I mentioned. The water infrastructure I considered
differently. In that table I made notes around—which is why I included that—the
types of infrastructure that were there. I did note the nature of that infrastructure.
The fact is that some of it was temporary, some of it was mobile in nature and an
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understanding that some of this infrastructure can physically be moved through a
negotiation process that I expected to apply. Those same assumptions do not
necessarily apply to those other types of infrastructure. That is why I summarised
water infrastructure separately here. I make the point that although it was clear
that there were some matters of contention, and clearly that has continued, it is
not necessarily unusual for pastoralists and mining companies to have different
views and for them to be expressed to us, but they get resolved over time.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am not arguing about the fact that you would go
ahead; you are doing your job—you are not there as a dispute mechanism
resolution. I guess the more restrictive nature of the requirement for that particular
protection on a pastoral lease is significant. The department was prepared to take
a broader view of the application of 20(5) than the warden has said currently
needs to be taken. Would that be a fair assessment?
Dr Gorey: I think I would have characterised it as that the decision here did not
close off the opportunities for those parties to reach agreement under 20(5). Other
decisions that could have been made could close them off but I did not think at
the time that this would close off those avenues for resolution. 119

5.25

The Committee did not inquire into the merits of the Department’s decision to approve the
mine and whether it was consistent with its published guidelines. This was not a point of
contention raised by either of the parties to the dispute.

5.26

In any event, the Committee is of the view that the Department diligently assessed and gave
due consideration to the factors relevant to the decision to approve the mine.

FINDING 12
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety diligently assessed and gave due
consideration to the factors relevant to the decision to approve the mine.
Communication with proponents and stakeholders
5.27

On 12 February 2016, Dr Gorey wrote to the mine proponents to advise them of the approval
of the mining proposal. The Department imposed a number of conditions on the mining
leases. A copy of this letter can be located at Appendix 5.

5.28

The third paragraph of the letter makes specific reference to section 20(5):
Please note that this does not constitute permission to conduct ground disturbing
activities within the buffer zones of land described in Section 20(5)(a) to (e) of the
Mining Act 1978. The tenement holder may be subject to civil or criminal sanction
if ground disturbing activities are carried out inside the buffer zones without either
the consent of the occupier of the relevant land, or a direction from the warden. 120

5.29

The Committee asked the Department why this language was chosen and specifically why
this paragraph was included in the approval letter:
The CHAIRMAN: When the mine was approved, the approval letter expressed that
Hawthorn had to comply with section 20(5) of the Mining Act. Is this not implicit
through the operation of the Mining Act?
Dr Gorey: Broadly, our response would be that it is the responsibility of all citizens
to comply with the legislation that applies in Western Australia. We sometimes
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include in approval letters statements to highlight to particular people either
approvals, consents or obligations they still have to make. For instance, it is not
uncommon for us to talk about people’s obligations under the Mining
Rehabilitation Fund Act. Everybody who is captured by that act needs to comply
with that. We recognise that some people going through the approval process
might not be aware of that. We point them to that piece of legislation. There
might be a sentence in that letter saying they have to comply with this act as
well.121

5.30

In essence, the Department was placing responsibility for the determination of the
application of section 20(5) on the mine proponent, or the Mining Warden, notwithstanding
that the Department had previously advised the joint venture that it considered section 20(5)
did not apply to infrastructure on the Common Reserve.

5.31

The Department did not advise Tisala that the mining proposal had been approved. Tisala
learned about the approval of the mine in the newspaper. 122 The Department told the
Committee that it does not have a routine process for advising stakeholders of mining
decisions:
Dr Gorey: I am not sure. Routinely, we do not then notify external parties of the
decision. I cannot recall if we did it in this case; in some cases we actually do it. I
am not sure if we did it in this case.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: How do external parties that might have a property
interest or some other interest in the proposal find out about the approval?
Dr Gorey: What the department, and I think will probably exercise the committee’s
minds at various times, is a lot of the operation and experiences with mining,
particularly in the rangelands areas, relies considerably on relationships between
those parties that occupy or have uses for the same area of land. To that extent,
where those relationships exist, the proponent, the applicant and the pastoralist
continue to keep in communication and that is how essentially the arrangements
occur, because usually they have a land access arrangement in place.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: When relationships are not good, there is no process
through the department to inform, in this case Pinjin, that approval has been given
and the conditions of that approval?
Dr Gorey: We do not have a routine process for advising people. I am not sure if
did in this case. Sometimes we do when there are various reasons for doing so. I
am not sure if we did in this case.123

5.32

The Committee considers it regrettable that the Department has no formal process to inform
interested parties of the grant of an approval to mine.

5.33

On 19 February 2016, subsequent to a phone call, Tonya Carter wrote to Lawrence Thomas
to confirm that the mine had been approved. Ms Carter set out the matters referred to in
paragraph 5.28. She then wrote:
DMP has undertaken careful consideration of the views expressed by Tisala in the
assessment. Ultimately, DMP is poorly equipped to determine contested facts
about whether an area of land constitutes sensitive land for the purposes of
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section 20(5)(a)-(e) of the Act. The Act provides for the disputes of this nature to
be resolved in the Warden’s Court. 124

5.34

The Department sent a further letter to Tisala dated 23 February 2016, answering twelve
questions previously put to the Department by Lawrence Thomas. The Department wrote:
Section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 (the Act) details the distances that must be
maintained around specified infrastructure on specific types of land, unless written
consent from the land occupier has been obtained. DMP is not always able to
resolve matters in dispute, in particular those relating to the definition of terms
outlined in Section 20 of the Act. In the event that there is a dispute on the matter,
the Act allows for the matter to be resolved in the warden’s court.
The approval letter to Hawthorn Resources very clearly states that Hawthorn is
obliged to comply with Section 20 of the Act.125

5.35

After further queries from Tisala, the Department stated its view that section 20(5) did not
apply to the infrastructure on the Common Reserve. On 2 March 2016, Tonya Carter wrote to
Lawrence Thomas advising:
It is DMPs understanding that Section 20(5)(e) of the Mining Act 1978 (the Act)
would not apply to the Crown Reserve Common.
I recommend that Tisala speak with the Pastoral Lands Board to clarify the
boundary of the Pastoral Lease.126

5.36

The Committee is satisfied that the Department informed Tisala that, in its opinion,
section 20(5) did not protect water infrastructure on the Common Reserve. It also advised
Tisala that the Warden’s Court was the appropriate forum to determine arguments as to the
legal status of other infrastructure.

5.37

The Committee notes that actual mining activity did not commence for another 18 months,
within which time Tisala had an opportunity for it to assert its claims in the Warden’s Court.

FINDING 13
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety advised Tisala Pty Ltd of its view that
section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 did not protect the water infrastructure on Common Reserve
10041.
RECOMMENDATION 2
That the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety consider developing a procedure by
which interested parties can be notified of the granting or refusal of an application to approve a
mining proposal.
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CHAPTER 6
The parties’ understandings of protections under the
Mining Act 1978
6.1

The parties’ different interpretations of section 20(5) informed their actions and likely
informed their expectations as to how the disputes between them could be resolved.

The joint venture’s understanding of section 20(5)
6.2

Immediately before mining commenced, the joint venture was firm in its view that it was
entitled to conduct mining operations on the Common Reserve without Tisala’s consent. The
joint venture partners told the Committee that they were less certain about the application of
section 20(5) to the homestead on the Common Reserve. Accordingly, they planned the
mining operations so as to allow for a 100 m setback from any occupied dwelling (as per
section 20(5)(c)). They said:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Just on the subject, if I can just develop that, the
warden’s decision is that some of the protection provisions in the Mining Act do
not apply to the homestead and other bits of infrastructure that Tisala owns. But
up until the time of that decision, to what extent did Hawthorn think that the Act
did apply? Did you have an attitude from the beginning that it does not apply and
that you do not have to worry about it? Did you have an attitude, say, that —
Mr Kerr: No, I think that is quite —
Mr Lloyd: That evidence was in the first mining proposal, which observed that
limit.
Mr Moody: In the initial mining proposal that was submitted, it was clearly
indicated that the mining operations were to occur on the crown reserve —
Mr Lloyd: And that they would maintain a 100-metre offset from the dwellings —
Mr Moody: From the building.
Mr Kerr: My general point was that from the get-go, we got very strong advice
about how to do this and we basically did the mine plan according to how we
were advised —
Mr Lloyd: That is right. There was uncertainty around 20(5), so we observed that in
the initial plan.
Mr Kerr: We went to the extreme and factored it in. The legal advice has always
been 100 per cent on the issue that went before the warden that we would be
successful. We are supremely confident about the appeal. 127

Tisala’s understanding of section 20(5)
6.3

127
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Although, by this stage, the Department and the joint venture were settled in their respective
views that section 20(5) did not apply to the infrastructure on the Common Reserve, the
evidence suggests that Tisala had settled on a view to the contrary. Tisala asserted that
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section 20(5) protected its homestead and all other infrastructure located on the Common
Reserve.
6.4

These assertions may have been based upon a number of factors, including advice received
from outside parties, the history of the Williamstown dispute and prior non-committal
statements from the joint venture. Nevertheless, as identified in Chapter 5, Tisala had long
known the Department’s views on the subject. The discussion below sets out why Tisala may
have held a contrary view.

Advice from outside parties
6.5

The Committee heard that Steven Kean had been providing advice to Tisala on the
application of the Mining Act 1978 to their situation. He told the Committee:
Mr Kean: I do not think it diminished—in the sense of it may have been. Basically,
my understanding is that it was a summary judgement, and the summary
judgement never heard all the facts. This is what I am told through lawyers and
whatever. All the facts could not necessarily be alluded to in terms of bringing up
the full amount of information as to how the homestead was, you say, whether it
was lawfully put there or was not lawfully put there. My understanding is that prior
to all this, the government had dealt with this issue on section 20(5) with respect
to another matter, with the Cook review, where there was a whole heap of
properties here on the Golden Mile which had no property, and under
section 20(5), regardless of whether they had lawful title, the Crown Solicitor had
come back with a determination that section 20(5) still applied.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay, you seem pretty conversant with all that. Is that
the sort of advice you are giving Tisala from time to time?
Mr Kean: I had explained that to Tisala. I had shown them documentation to that
effect some time ago, including a copy of the Crown Solicitor’s advice—not the
Crown Solicitor’s advice, but certainly briefing notes which were made public as
part of a document, and also with respect to a ministerial statement that was
issued at the time.128

6.6

The ‘Crown Solicitor’s advice’ and ‘briefing notes’ referred to by Steven Kean are most likely
those provided to the Committee in respect of the Williamstown dispute (below at 6.14).

Williamstown
Background
6.7

Mining is predominately an activity conducted in remote areas of the State. In most
circumstances, there is little possibility of mining activity coming within 100 m or 400 m of
residences or pastoral operations. However, occasionally such conflicts do arise. One such
case is in Williamstown, immediately adjacent to the Super Pit gold operations in Kalgoorlie.

6.8

The Committee heard from the Williamstown Residents Committee. The Williamstown
Residents Committee was formed in the 1990s in response to plans by the operator of the
Super Pit, Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines (KCGM), to expand operations into the
Williamstown area.129 At the time, a number of residents occupied houses on land to which
they did not have freehold title. In effect, these parties owned the physical property but not
the land upon which it sat.

128

Steven Kean, Transcript of evidence, 8 June 2019, pp 83-4.

129

Diane Mills, Chair, Williamstown Residents Committee, Transcript of evidence, 14 November 2018, p 2.

Chapter 6

The parties’ understandings of protections under the Mining Act 1978

49

6.9

Diane Mills, Chair of the Williamstown Residents Committee, explained the significance of
section 20(5) to the residents of Williamstown:
Mrs MILLS: Given that we have paid rates to the council ever since we have lived
there, we consider that we do have some sort of right, but under section 20(5)(c)
of the Mining Act, we do have a right of a 100-metre protection, which states that
mining companies are not allowed to conduct any mining activity within
100 metres of an occupied premise on which a substantial building is erected, and
that takes into account all the crown land property owners in Williamstown. 130

6.10

Mrs Mills explained to the Committee that the mining company had been complying with a
100 m exclusion distance from the occupied properties in Williamstown through pressure
from residents and the Department of Mines:
Mrs MILLS: Because they have been stung too many times by the mines
department and complaints that have gone in about breaches. 131

6.11

Sixteen Williamstown dwellings on Crown land are occupied with no title, freehold interest or
lease.132 The Committee heard that some of these residents had purchased their dwelling
(although not the land underneath it) with the hope of applying to the government at a later
time for a grant of freehold title. Some parties had been successful in these endeavours.133

6.12

The Committee heard that when the mining company wished to expand its operations in the
late 1990s, it would approach residents of Williamstown with a financial offer to relocate:
Mrs MILLS: Yes. When the company wanted to develop the two open pits at the
top of Austral Road and behind Brownhill Road, there were a number of properties
there both freehold and crown land properties, dwellings. The company put an
offer to them; they offered them $200 000 per dwelling. There would be no money
change hands, but it was a relocation package. You go away and find yourself
another property and we will buy it for you up to $200 000. If the property you
want is more than $200 000, we will pay the $200 000 and you pay the rest.134

6.13

Mrs Mills explained to the Committee that those holding freehold title were compensated in
the same manner as those who were occupying dwellings on Crown land. However, this offer
was only made to properties within 100 m of mining operations.135

Interpretation applied by the government and independent review
6.14

The then Minister for Mines sought legal advice regarding the interpretation of section 20(5).
The Committee has not seen the request for legal advice or the advice itself. However,
Diane Mills provided the Committee with a copy of a ministerial briefing note from the
Director General of the Department of Minerals and Energy to the Minister for Mines. One
paragraph of that document states:
Advice from the Crown Solicitor’s Office (CSO)(copy pages 152-156) confirms that
Mr Hounslow should be regarded as an occupier for the purposes of s20(5) on the
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basis that an occupier under that section is arguably not restricted to a person
with formal title. As such the 100m protection zone applies. 136

6.15

In 2002 the Minister for State Development commissioned an independent review into the
impact on public safety of mining in the Kalgoorlie area (the Cooke Review). 137 The Cooke
Review examined in some detail Williamstown residents’ complaints concerning land tenure.

6.16

The Review’s final report contains an extensive section on the application of section 20(5)
and the exclusion distances between mining and land occupied by residents. KCGM asserted
that the 100m setback distance from residences related only to the extraction of minerals
from the ground.138 Residents asserted that the separation distances applied to any activity
associated with mining, including construction of bunds, rehabilitation and surveying.139 The
Department enforced the 100 m separation distance from time to time and consistent with
the residents’ views, although not as often as the residents would have liked.

6.17

The Cooke Report criticised the then Department of Industry and Resources for not taking a
clear and consistent position on the application and interpretation of section 20(5) of the Act
and that KCGM had ‘come to rely on this attitude by the Department as part of its routine
commercial operations’.140

6.18

However, while the Cooke Report addressed the nature of the mining activities to which
section 20(5) applied it did not consider the underlying question of whether the residents
were lawful occupants of the land on which they were living and hence entitled to the
protections contained in that section.

FINDING 14
Parties to the dispute at Williamstown assumed that section 20(5) applied to occupants of Crown
land who did not hold lawful title.
Prior statements from the joint venture
6.19

The joint venture’s lawyers clearly articulated their assessment of Tisala’s position in a letter
to the Department in November 2017 when they wrote:
An assertion has been made by Tisala as to rights in respect of land that is outside
the Pinjin Pastoral Lease. This misunderstanding has led Tisala (and its advisors) to
think it is an “occupier” under section 8 of the Mining Act when it is not, as it
occupies Crown Reserves without lawful title. That misunderstanding has led to
them thinking they have rights under section 20(5) as an occupier, when they do
not.141
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6.20

Despite their confidence in the legal position, the joint venture elected not to explicitly assert
its viewpoint regarding the application of section 20(5) to the infrastructure on the Common
Reserve until just before mining commenced. This may have been in the hope of achieving
an amicable resolution to their disputes with Tisala without the need for litigation. Its
approach was reflected in the language used by joint venture personnel:
Our personnel will conform to the provisions of the Mines Act especially section
20(5)(c) of the Mining Act, however it would be valuable for you and me to meet
on the station over the next few days.142

6.21

Leo Thomas cited four examples of why he believed the joint venture shared Tisala’s view
regarding the application of section 20(5). These examples are set out in an email from him
to the Department in Appendix 6.143 The Committee does not agree with Leo Thomas’s view
that those examples demonstrate that the joint venture shared Tisala’s interpretation of
section 20(5) or that the joint venture would be bound to act in accordance with it.

FINDING 15
By the time mining commenced, Tisala Pty Ltd were of the view that section 20(5) would protect its
homestead and the infrastructure that was located on Common Reserve 10041.

The joint venture takes action
6.22

On 9 May 2017 the joint venture filed a plaint in the Warden’s Court against Tisala. It then
amended its plaint on 4 December 2017 seeking:


a declaration that the joint venture was not liable to pay any damages to Tisala for the
construction of a haul road or drainage works



declarations that works conducted by Tisala on mining lease M31/78 did not constitute
dams or waterworks



a declaration that Tisala was not an occupier of the dwellings on Common
Reserve 10041 for the purpose of sections 8 and 20(5)(c) of the Mining Act 1978.



a mandatory injunction requiring Tisala to remove the dwellings and associated items
from certain mining tenements within the Crown Reserve.144

6.23

A decision on these matters by the Warden would require the Warden to determine whose
interpretation of section 20(5) was correct.

6.24

By late October 2017 there was no agreement between the joint venture and Tisala
regarding the commencement of mining. Nevertheless, on the basis of its legal advice and
supported by the necessary approvals to mine and an acknowledgement by the Department
that section 20(5) did not apply to infrastructure on the Common Reserve, the joint venture
chose to commence mining activity by relocating some Tisala infrastructure including water
tanks and pipes. The joint venture appears to have taken a commercial decision to do so. It
was not required to wait until its plaint had been determined to take this action.
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6.25

This was a time of frequent communication between the joint venture and Tisala where the
parties asserted their respective rights. On 4 October 2017 William Lloyd of the joint venture
wrote to Tisala and advised:
As per previous correspondence we will be commencing clearing works on Crown
Reserve 10041 over the next few days. Please note that we are not obligated to
inform you of activities that are occurring on the mining tenements outside of the
pastoral lease. I note that Tisala do not have any rights in respect of Crown
Reserve 10041 as it does not form part of the pastoral lease. Nonetheless, I am
informing you as a general courtesy and to show our willingness to
communicate.145

6.26

If the joint venture was correct in its interpretation of section 20(5) then it was entitled to
take the approach that it did. If it was wrong, it would be liable to compensate Tisala for loss
occasioned by the removal of its infrastructure. Given the significant financial investment by
the joint venture in developing the mine, this expense would have been minor and dwarfed
by the losses of approximately $1million per week from delays to the commencement of
mining.146

The injunction
6.27

On 26 October 2017 the joint venture filed an application in the Warden’s Court for an
interlocutory injunction against Tisala and its agents, including Steven Kean and
Nicholas Cukela supported by an extensive affidavit of William Lloyd.147 The injunction was
granted by the Warden. A copy of the injunction appears at Appendix 7.

6.28

At the commencement of its hearing with the Committee Mark Kerr, on behalf of the joint
venture, made an opening statement. He told the Committee:
Subsequent actions by Tisala and its advisors have included, but not limited to,
erection of temporary fences across access tracks within the Crown Common
Reserve Mine footprint, parking vehicles in the path of operating plant and
equipment (requiring shutdown and demobilisation of equipment) and intruding
within advertised blast areas at nominated blast times (past clear signposting and
despite verbal warnings from site personnel). 148

6.29

Some of these formed the basis for the application for an injunction by the joint venture.

6.30

Some claims made by William Lloyd in his affidavit are strenuously denied by Steven Kean.
Further discussion of Mr Kean’s complaints concerning the injunction are contained in
Chapter 7.

Judicial determination of section 20(5)
6.31

In its plaint, the joint venture sought a partial summary judgment. To grant such an
application the Warden would need to rule on to what extent Tisala could rely upon
section 20(5). The Warden delivered his decision on 20 June 2018.149

6.32

Tisala relied upon section 20(5)(c) of the Act which protected Crown land that was ‘situated
within 100 m of any land that is in actual occupation’. In resolving the matter, the Warden
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needed to determine the meaning of the word ‘occupation’ for the purposes of the Mining
Act 1978.
6.33

Section 8 of the Mining Act 1978 provides that an ’occupier’:
in relation to any land includes any person in actual occupation of the land under
any lawful title granted or derived from the owner of the land. 150

6.34

The Warden held that to be an occupier pursuant to section 8, a person must be both in
actual occupation and hold lawful title.151

6.35

Next, the Warden had to determine how the definition of ‘occupier’ in section 8 of the Act
should be read with the words of section 20(5), which refers to land in ‘actual occupation’.
The Warden’s view was that section 20(5) did not incorporate further types of occupation
other than those where a person is in actual occupation under lawful title. His Honour cited
eight reasons for his view.152

6.36

The Warden then considered whether Tisala occupied Common Reserve 10041 under some
form of lawful title. The Warden considered the history of the legislation creating and
controlling the Reserve. The Warden found that there were no legal interests created in the
Common Reserve, including through the grant of a management order in favour of the Shire
of Menzies.153

6.37

Tisala advanced arguments in support of its having an unregistered interest in the Common
Reserve that attracted the protections under section 20(5). Its first argument was that Tisala
was on the Common Reserve with the permission of the Shire of Menzies, who held a
management order, or of the Department of Lands, which knew of Tisala’s presence on the
Common Reserve. Tisala also argued that its use of the Common Reserve was an adaption of
the right of use of a Common Reserve and was consistent with the reserve’s original purpose
as a Common for the use of residents of the Pinjin area. In each instance the Warden found
that none of these constituted occupation ‘under any lawful title granted by or derived from
the owner of the land’.154

6.38

The Warden ultimately found that the Common Reserve did not form a part of the Tisala
pastoral lease and that Tisala was not an occupier of the Common Reserve for the purposes
of section 20(5).

6.39

This decision confirmed the joint venture’s long-held view that it was entitled to conduct
mining activity on any part of the Common Reserve that was within their mining lease.

6.40

The joint venture claims that until this point it had restricted mining activity to a distance of
100 m from the occupied buildings at the Pinjin Homestead. After the Warden delivered his
decision, the joint venture submitted a new mining proposal which authorised mining within
100 m of occupied dwellings on the Common Reserve:
Mr Lloyd: The original proposal was written on that assumption, and, until the
judgement was handed down, we were fully compliant with those aspects of the
original mining proposal. As soon as clarity was received from the warden, we
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submitted a new mining proposal that described the activities that would be
undertaken within 100 metres of the dwellings.155

6.41

Furthermore, the decision gave rise to the possibility that even more of Tisala’s infrastructure
could be removed should the joint venture consider it to interfere with mining operations.
Nevertheless, the joint venture exercised restraint in limiting the impact of its mining on
existing infrastructure.

6.42

The Committee makes no comment on the legal reasoning behind the Warden’s decision.
The Committee understands that several parties are aggrieved by it, including Tisala and the
residents at Williamstown. The Committee has been told that the decision is currently the
subject of an appeal to the Supreme Court of Western Australia.
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CHAPTER 7
Grievances concerning mining activity and Departmental
responses
7.1

This chapter sets out a range grievances raised by Tisala since mining commenced. These are
well documented in files of correspondence sent by Tisala to the Department and later the
Minister for Mines.

7.2

As discussed earlier in this report, the Committee has, because of the vast number of
complaints, chosen to focus on the most significant grievances raised by Tisala. In doing so it
has recognised that it cannot resolve factual disputes and has instead examined how those
complaints were managed by government departments.

7.3

Complaints made by Tisala in relation to mining operations on Common Reserve 10041 fall
into two main categories. The first relates to the joint venture’s interference with
infrastructure. The second relates to the environmental impact of mining on those living at
Pinjin.

7.4

The height of Tisala’s complaints regarding these matters made to the Department and the
Minister for Mines was the period between the commencement of mining in October 2017
and January 2018.

Destruction of infrastructure
7.5

The destruction of infrastructure has been a significant complaint of Tisala since mining
commenced. Tisala alleges that its infrastructure on the Common Reserve 10041 was illegally
destroyed by the joint venture.

7.6

Section 85(1)(d) of the Mining Act 1978 sets out the rights of the holder of a mining lease. It
relevantly provides:
85. Rights of holder of mining lease
(1) Subject to this Act and to any conditions to which the mining lease is subject, a
mining lease authorises the lessee thereof and his agents and employees on his
behalf to —
(d) do all acts and things that are necessary to effectually carry out mining
operations in, or under the land

7.7

The broad powers section 85 invests in holders of a mining lease can be limited by
conditions to address matters of concern. Mining is inherently a destructive activity in that it
involves significant earthworks and construction of supporting infrastructure. For this reason,
environmental compliance and approval is a critical component of any mining operation.

7.8

In the case of mining lease M31/79, where the joint venture’s mine is located, no conditions
were imposed that prohibited the interference, movement or destruction of any
infrastructure.

What were the allegations of destruction of infrastructure?
7.9

56

On 8 November 2017, Tisala’s lawyers wrote to the joint venture’s lawyers. This was 12 days
after the joint venture obtained the interim injunction preventing interference with mining
operations. This letter appears at Appendix 8.
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7.10

With the letter, Tisala included copies of photographs (see also Appendix 8) with the
following descriptions:
1.

The permanent yard had a trough fed water pipe. Hawthorn has removed the
water line so cattle can no longer get water at this location. This has placed
cattle in danger as a result of not being able to access essential water for life
at this location.

2.

Hawthorn Resources removed pipework next to a windmill on the 31st
October 2017. They were not authorised or justified in doing so.

3.

A picture of the elevated tank before destruction by Hawthorn Resources.

4.

Another view of the elevated tank before destruction by Hawthorn Resources.
The person without the helmet is Hawthorn Resources project manager
William Lloyd.

5.

Hawthorn Resources personnel pushed the elevated tank off a stand on the
31st October 2017. The attached tank was destroyed by Hawthorn personnel.
The tank was previously capable of holding water (with a liner to be installed)
until destroyed.

6.

To the left of this photo are the remains of an elevated tank pushed off its
stand by Hawthorn Resources personnel. The now destroyed windmill wheel
which is visible, had previously been lowered to the ground for repair.

7.

Our clients’ representatives witnessed Hawthorn Resources drive through this
fence/yard with earthmoving equipment prior the interim injunction date.

8.

The water shown is the result of a water pipe ruptured by Hawthorn Resources
which also cut /affected essential water being supplied for occupied buildings
for people living in them. This effectively placed persons lives in danger in not
having an ongoing fresh water supply.

9.

A water pipe ruptured by Hawthorn Resources with Pinjin Homestead in the
background. At the top right is a concrete based water tank later destroyed by
Hawthorn Resources.

The photos clearly demonstrate a breach of s20(5) of the Mining Act. 156

7.11

As discussed in Chapter 6, Tisala was of the view that section 20(5) protected its
infrastructure on the Common Reserve. This view was subsequently determined to be
incorrect by the Mining Warden in June 2018.

Movement of sheds, fences and equipment
7.12

In his submission to the Committee, Lawrence Thomas cited the removal of a generator,
sheds, cooking equipment and buildings as a key concern. 157

7.13

Tisala representatives accept that there was infrastructure on the Common Reserve, including
Nicholas Cukela’s shed:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Where did you have your—was it a humpy or was it a
tent?
Mr CUKELA: It was a shed.
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Where was that? Was that on the pastoral lease?
Mr CUKELA: It was on the common.
…
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Why were you there?
Mr CUKELA: Because it’s occupation. If you don’t stay in the bund wall—that’s
where I’ve always lived. I was there. They put the bund wall around me first. They
denied me access.158

7.14

In relation to moving fences, generators and sheds, the joint venture says that it gave
sufficient notice that items would be removed from the approved mining area:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I want to turn to the incident of the generator that was
removed and later reported stolen. Can you tell us about that and the history of
that from your perspective?
Mr Lloyd: Yes. We sent numerous emails to the pastoralists explaining that these
items needed to be moved—directly, and via our lawyers to their lawyers. We
received advice that we were lawfully entitled to move these items, taking due care
with them, to a location that would not interfere with our mining activities. Before
actually moving the rolled-up fence wire that was adjacent to the generator, I drew
a nice detailed map—I did them up on a computer—and sent that off to the
pastoralists, saying this is where these items will be moved to. My only mistake
was that I just said the fencing wire; I did not actually specify the small genset next
to it. Fencing wire was moved to that location. The genset, which is a $900
Bunnings genset, was subsequently moved to the exact same location and that is
where it stayed. The police came out and mentioned it and we said, “Yes; it’s
sitting just over there. That location’s been chosen so that it is accessible to the
pastoralists; it’s right on the edge of the lay-down area in a location that they can
come and grab the thing if they need it.” We have been entirely open and
transparent about it. We have got no need for a small petrol genset. We have not
tried to steal their genset. The police were originally informed where it was when
they came to site. I believe they relayed that to the pastoralists. They elected not
to act on that information. Down the track, the police came to site again and said,
“We’re sick of hearing about this genset. We’re just going to grab you guys and if
you could just come over with us, we’ll just dump it at their door and you don’t
have to hear about it anymore.” So that is exactly what we did.159

Movement and destruction of water infrastructure
7.15

In his submission, Lawrence Thomas cites several instances of damage to water infrastructure
that Pinjin Station relied upon for its pastoral activities. He wrote:
Huge amounts of what I regard as criminal damage to tanks, tank stands water
mains, pipes, troughs, sheds, cooking equipment, buildings.
The destruction/damage of fresh water mains and various water troughs by
Hawthorn Resources around the main Pinjin Homestead which has now created
potentially animal welfare issues for cattle as we approach the summer months
through no fault of our own.160

158

Nicholas Cukela, Transcript of evidence, 30 January 2019, p 8.

159

William Lloyd, Production Manager, Hawthorn Resources Limited, Transcript of evidence, 31 January 2019, pp 42-3.

160

Submission 9 from Lawrence Thomas, 8 November 2018, p 2.

58

Chapter 7

Grievances concerning mining activity and Departmental responses

7.16

The Committee put these allegations to the joint venture:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Another series of complaints has been about the
cutting of water lines and pipes, the demolition of tanks and that sort of thing. Can
you tell us, from your perspective, about those and why they happened, and how
they have been dealt with?
Mr Lloyd: The main line that was of concern, it was discussed, was running from a
T-piece to the dwellings.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: From a what, sorry?
Mr Lloyd: To the homestead.
Mr Kerr: A T-piece.
Mr Lloyd: A T-piece, sorry; it is plumbed into the homestead. I think you guys
actually saw that connection.
Hon JACQUI BOYDELL: Yes, we did.
Mr Lloyd: We went to great lengths to try and ensure that the head pressure that
those tanks provided was maintained at all times. That was a reasonable effort to
protect these guys’ welfare.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Well, some of the allegations are that water pipes had
been cut.
Mr Kerr: No; there is no reason why we should do that.
Mr Lloyd: They were cut and they were relocated. The ones that were reticulated
or plumbed into the buildings were very carefully and painstakingly reassembled.
Mr Kerr: Changed.
Mr Lloyd: Yes, moved to avoid our work area.
Mr Kerr: There was no dislocation to the operation of the dwelling.161

7.17

On the pulling down of a water tank:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There was a water tank, we have been told, that was
supposed to be relocated but ended up being pulled down by the de-settlement.
Mr Moody: That would be the rusted out water tank sitting up on the top of the
old mine shaft.
Mr Lloyd: If you could call it a water tank, but that would be a fairly vague
description. It was once a water tank. If you are talking about the corrugated tank
that was on a steel pedestal.
Mr Moody: On a pedestal on the old mine shaft. It has been there since 1910.
Mr Kerr: It is not capable of holding any water.
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Mr Moody: It has not been capable of holding water for 30 or 40 years. That in
fact has never held water.162

7.18

The joint venture says that there were a number of inoperable windmills that were not
connected to water.163 The joint venture says it did remove one windmill as it was required to
rehabilitate the site under their mining lease:
Mr Moody: We offered to gas axe it off and store it when we commenced work.
Gas axe is basically oxyacetylene-type thing. Prior to us commencing site works, it
fell over. The blade fell off.
Mr Lloyd: The blade fell off it.
Mr Moody: The blade fell off it.
The CHAIRMAN: Probably with the rest of the structure.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So the rest of the structure, it is —
Mr Lloyd: It rusted out.
Mr Moody: It was interesting. I think —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Hang on. Just so I have got it clear in my mind: there is
the tallest one, the biggest one. That is the one that the fan fell off, is that right?
Mr Moody: That is correct.
Mr Lloyd: I am pretty sure I took photos of that before we knocked it over as well.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is that still standing?
Mr Lloyd: That is not standing.
Mr Moody: It is actually in the pit margin at the moment. Where it was standing
was on the battery reserve, which is the old State Batteries reserve. Again, it had
nothing to do with Pinjin Station.
The CHAIRMAN: What happened to the structure? Even though the fan was
missing, the rest of the structure would have still been there. You said it was rusted
out. What happened to it because it is not there anymore?
Mr Lloyd: That is right. We had an obligation to remove waste from around the
mine area. That waste gets moved to the waste dump, so inert waste is moved to
the waste dump.
Mr Moody: And also as part of our conditions of mining, too, is that we had to
clean the old State Batteries site.164

7.19

Further, the joint venture allege Tisala planted water infrastructure to thwart mining:
Mr Moody: It was potentially, yes. I know up to about two or three years ago it
had been used on occasions when there were people in the station—in the
buildings—but these green mobile 10 000-litre tanks turned 15 000-litre tanks
started appearing around the place after our mining proposal was granted in an
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effort to call them water points, but the one that Will moved to get outside the
mining footprint, put on a pad to maintain the pressure, as far as I can tell that is
the only one that has been used for the last 12 to 18 months—sorry, two years.165

7.20

They also say that some infrastructure began to appear after the mining proposal was sent to
Tisala:
Mr Lloyd: There was a demountable block installed across the mine site —
Mr Moody: In 2014 or February 2015, after we had given the mining proposal.
After we had given them copies of our mining proposal, an old demountable was
deposited approximately 50 or 60 metres south of the existing pit, right in the
middle of our mining footprint.
Mr Lloyd: The proposal had a map showing the outline of the pit, and this thing
appeared right in the middle of the south end of the pit.
Mr Kerr: Without a permit; they just dumped it there.
Mr Moody: It was purported to be occupied, but it was never ever plumbed in; it
was never —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Was this the one that we stopped next to on the bus?
Mr Lloyd: Yes.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is near where the cars are dumped.
Mr Lloyd: That is right. The genset was connected to a shack adjacent to that and
there was a fridge in that and it was meant to appear as though someone was
living in it. Perhaps someone did live in it for a period but, given the timing of it, it
would appear as though that was a semi-elaborate ruse to make the mine itself,
the open pit, appear to be in occupation. 166

What did the Department do about the destruction of infrastructure?
7.21

Tisala made many written complaints to the Minister for Mines concerning Hawthorn’s
removal of infrastructure that was on the Common Reserve. 167 Members of Parliament made
representations to the Minister about the mining activity at Pinjin Station. 168 Hon Robin Scott
MLC and Hon Robin Chapple MLC also met with representatives of the Department and the
Minister’s office to highlight issues concerning the application of section 20(5). The damage
to the infrastructure was also raised several times in the Legislative Council.169 The
Department has provided the Committee with ministerial briefing notes in relation to these
written complaints and questions in the Legislative Council.

7.22

The complaints from Tisala and its advocates relied upon the premise that section 20(5)
would protect its infrastructure on the Common Reserve. As has been noted, the Department
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did not share Tisala’s view and had communicated that to Tisala over a year before any
interference with infrastructure by the joint venture.
7.23

Tisala’s view was also subsequently rejected by the Mining Warden.

7.24

The documents that the Committee has seen demonstrate that the Department meticulously
went through the complaints made concerning infrastructure, assessed them against their
view as to the application of the law, and that each complaint was responded to courteously
and in a timely manner.

7.25

The Department’s responses to Tisala’s complaints concerning the damage to infrastructure
did not accord with Tisala’s view of the law or tell Tisala and its advocates what they wanted
to hear. However, this does not mean that the Department failed in its responsibilities to
administer the Mining Act 1978.

7.26

In its responses the Department frequently made reference to the fact that certain matters in
dispute were currently before the Mining Warden. As mentioned in Chapter 6, the critical
question for the Warden was whether section 20(5) applied to infrastructure on the Common
Reserve.

7.27

In Tisala’s view, the Minister for Mines, through the Department, as the regulator, was
responsible for enforcing section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 and should have taken
enforcement action to stop interference with any infrastructure on the Common Reserve. In a
letter from Leo Thomas to the Minister for Mines, two months after the Warden’s decision,
he said:
The excuse concerning the Wardens Court being the appropriate forum that you
have provided is quite frankly pathetic and stupid as this position suggested by
yourself effectively sets up that a regulator is not even required in the Mining
industry under section 20(5) as then all matters creating a very uneven regulatory
framework would be dealt with only by the Wardens Court and if anybody doesn’t
have the financial or legal resources to attend or participate because of financial
cost or not having the skills in the Wardens Court then that basically means any
party can just destroy any form of property/infrastructure. Minister you use the
word “appropriate” to justify why you indicate the Wardens Court is the
appropriate forum to determine facts. I am quite sure if you as the Minister and
your department had wanted to help us as Aboriginal people you as the Minister
or your department could have easily found a way that its appropriate that your
department has previously acted along with previous ministers acted in a capacity
of a regulator and determined facts and has not required any matters to
necessarily to be subject of the jurisdiction of the wardens court. 170

7.28

170

62

The Committee accepts that a mining company might possess significant and substantial
financial and legal resources. However, the Committee also notes that by August 2018:


Tisala had been warned in 2007 or 2008 that they did not have occupancy rights over
the Common Reserve and had still elected to install infrastructure on the Common
Reserve.



Tisala had some experience in dealing with mining companies such as Saracen
Mineral Holdings and had a substantial income stream from an agreement with
Saracen.



Tisala and the joint venture had been in discussions to resolve their dispute for four
years, without success.

Leo Thomas, Director, Tisala Pty Ltd, Letter, 24 August 2018, pp 1-2.
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Tisala had been encouraged to take action in the Warden’s Court to protect its
interests.



Tisala had been advised in March 2017 of the Department’s position on section
20(5).



There had been substantial disputes of fact and law between Tisala and the joint
venture.



The central question of law upon which Tisala relied and upon which its expectations
for departmental support were based was already before the Warden.



Tisala had their own legal counsel.

7.29

The Committee notes that the Department had been extensively considering the matter in
dispute and had sought and relied on legal advice to approve works that had been underway
for some time. In such circumstances, it would not have been reasonable for it to order that
such work cease. On the contrary, it was in the interests of the parties in dispute to pursue a
legal arbitration of the issues in contention between them.

7.30

Consistent with its view concerning the application of section 20(5), the Department took
action in relation to Tisala’s complaints regarding mining activity within 400m of
infrastructure located on the pastoral lease. At the time there was still a dispute between the
joint venture and Tisala as to whether certain waterworks and yards on the pastoral lease
would attract the protection of section 20(5).171 The Department’s actions included:


A senior environmental inspector attended Pinjin Station on 14 November 2017 and
reminded Hawthorn that it must have appropriate authority to undertake works



The senior inspector wrote to the joint venture on 29 November 2017 to request further
information on their right to mine172



The Department considered requesting that the joint venture demonstrate their legal
authority to mine near a place known as ‘Telegraph Corner’ (on the pastoral lease)
pursuant to section 158 of the Mining Act 1978.

7.31

The Department also took steps to address complaints about dust generated by mining
activity.

7.32

The Committee considers that the Department and the Minister for Mines were in a difficult
position. They were trying to manage a protracted and insoluble dispute when there was
legal action afoot and continuing complaints, almost daily. These complaints were largely
based on a clash of views between the Department and Tisala as to the former’s role as a
regulator and the legal position concerning the application of section 20(5) to the Common
Reserve.

7.33

The Warden’s decision demonstrated that the Department was correct in its understanding
of the law.

7.34

The Committee is of the view that the Department and Minister appropriately handled
complaints made in relation to the interference with infrastructure.

FINDING 16
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s understanding of the law regarding
the application of section 20(5) of the Mining Act 1978 was confirmed by the Mining Warden.
171
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FINDING 17
It was not the role of the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety as regulator to
insert itself into a dispute between private parties over issues of fact and law then being litigated
before the Mining Warden.

Environmental concerns
7.35

Tisala expressed concerns about the environmental impact of mining on the residents at
Pinjin Homestead and upon the broader pastoral lease. The joint venture accepts that
despite its contentions concerning the application of section 20(5), it did not absolve them of
their environmental responsibilities:
Mr Lloyd: The environmental regs define “occupation” very differently to the
mining regs. We have been aware the whole time that even though section 20(5)
of the Mining Act has been proven to not apply the environmental regs still well
and truly apply. “Occupation” is defined differently in the environmental act, and
we have been fully compliant with that. Section 20(5) has no bearing on it. 173

Dust and dust abatement
7.36

Lawrence Thomas wrote to the Committee to complain about the level of dust generated by
the mining operation on the Common Reserve. He supplied the Committee with 99 videos of
Pinjin Station, mostly from November and December 2017, showing various mining activities
with varying amounts of dust visible in the air.174

7.37

Tisala also sent many photographs, videos, emails and letters to the Department, the
Minister for Mines and the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage. Issues relating to
dust were raised in Parliament.175

7.38

The Departmental documents viewed by the Committee show that complaints about the
production of dust commenced in late October/early November 2017.

7.39

The Department told the committee that dust can be managed in several ways:
The CHAIRMAN: Is it a condition about the generation of dust imposed on all
mining operations, or just Pinjin station?
Dr Gorey: Dust generation would be a matter that needs to be considered by the
proponent in their proposal that they have put to the department. The proponent
would need to comply with their mining proposal, so if they have identified dust
and the mitigation measures they would take, they would need to comply with the
mitigation measures set out in their mining proposal. There are occasions on
which specific conditions are put onto the tenements relating to specific matters.
There may be a condition on a tenement relating to a specific activity or mitigation
but there are also the mitigation measures that are in the mining proposal that a
mining leaseholder would need to comply with. 176
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7.40

In this case, a general condition was placed on the approval of the mine:
Condition 21: The Lessee taking all reasonable measures to prevent or minimise
the generation of dust from all materials handling operations, stockpiles, open
areas and transport activities.177

7.41

The Committee heard that this condition, and the others imposed, were not unusual:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Am I right in thinking, in respect of Pinjin, that there
were no unusual extra, non-standard, unique—however you want to describe it—
conditions in respect of dust management prescribed there?
Mr Endacott: I am quite happy to have a quick look.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No tailored conditions, I suppose is a better way of
putting it.
Dr Gorey: Based upon having a quick look through here, there does not appear to
me to be any detailed conditions that relate explicitly to this mine site or to the
mine site operation around dust.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But you would have been satisfied, the department
would have been satisfied, on some basis that, notwithstanding the proximity of
the homestead—150 metres, I think it was, away from the pit and just over
100 metres away from the bund—these were adequate to deal with those
circumstances?
Dr Gorey: These were adequate and the commitments that were explicitly in the
mining proposal were adequate to deal with those risks. 178

7.42

The Department told the Committee that ‘reasonable measures’ for dust suppression depend
on the circumstances and will vary depending on the mining operation:
Dr Gorey: I think the general way to describe that is that the concept of
“reasonable and practical” applies across environmental assessments and
regulation. By its nature, it is not prescriptive. It is relevant to the type of dust, the
amount generated, the environment in which it is generated and the types of
reasonable mechanisms available to a proponent. Certainly, one of the challenges
we have at times is that the actual dust mitigation, noise mitigation or waste
mitigation measures that are applied to different sites will be different because
what might be reasonable and practical in one circumstance is different to what is
reasonable and practical in another circumstance. We apply those reasonable and
practical steps and that is why we have a whole lot of environmental assessors.
That is one of the steps. One of the things I will make sure that the committee is
aware of is that the second test is to make sure that it is environmentally
acceptable. There is a test to make sure people take all reasonable and practical
measures; it still needs to be environmentally acceptable. 179

7.43

The Department accepts that dust will occur but that it has to be taken into account in the
context of the situation:
Dr Gorey: Probably one of the things that does overlay all of these conditions is
the requirement that the conditions are reasonable in their own right. So, we take
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into context a location, an operation, and we will avoid being in the position where
essentially to comply with the condition would mean that someone could not
undertake the activity at all. Generating no dust from a mine site is probably
unrealistic and an inappropriate condition to impose on a tenement. So, take it
from that, the tenement conditions do not prevent the generation of any dust. It is
intended to prevent the generation of dust that has a significant adverse
environmental impact.
The CHAIRMAN: Therefore, if a miner is not taking reasonable measures to
prevent the generation of dust, then they will be in breach of the condition,
irrespective of whether that dust is affecting anyone else?
Dr Gorey: If a tenement operator were not taking all reasonable and practical
measures to minimise their dust, if the condition said that, then presumably we
would investigate that.180

7.44

The Department had copious correspondence from residents and visitors at Pinjin Station.
The Department explained their approach to this correspondence:
Hon JACQUI BOYDELL: Based on the videos and photos that you received, was
the department satisfied that reasonable measures were being taken to control
dust or you took further action in some cases?
Mr Endacott: We investigated whether we thought they were taking reasonable
action, specifically in relation to that tenement condition that has already been
discussed in relation to reasonable measures to manage dust. We formed the
opinion there may be a case for a breach of conditions in relation to that and we
took that through our internal process in terms of following that up as a breach of
tenement conditions, and taking it through our internal processes, I discussed and
then recommended to our minister that there was a breach and potentially a
penalty should be imposed.181

7.45

This enforcement action is discussed in paragraphs 7.53–7.75.

7.46

The photographs and videos provided by Tisala show that there was substantial dust in the
air at Pinjin. Many of the photographs and videos were taken as mining was just
commencing. The Committee heard that this was a particularly dust-generating stage of a
mine’s development:
Mr Moody: That is the challenge, but the main challenge of course is when you
start up, one of the requisites that you have to do when you are clearing a site is
that you have to stockpile all the vegetation and topsoil in one place. So whilst you
are doing your stockpiling, you cannot use saline water as dust suppression
because you will sterilise the soil.182

7.47

The Department provided the Committee with a similar opinion but was of the view that
there were insufficient water carts on site to help suppress dust:
Mr Bouwhuis: Certainly, on the first visit, there was no water cart, for example—no
water truck, so no means of wetting down surfaces to prevent dusting. That is
something that should be in place at the early stages of mining because it needs
to be available to be able to react to dusty environments and trafficable road
surfaces and areas being cleared. The difficulty with stripping topsoil is that we do
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not want to contaminate the soil, and most of the water sources that are used for
dust suppression are of a slightly saline nature, and that can have an adverse
impact on the biological nature and make-up of the topsoil. Topsoil tends to be
stripped without applying water, unless there is fresh water, because it also can
cause rotting of seed and any organic matter within the topsoil if it is wet and
damp. There is a bit of a balancing act with the stripping of topsoil. But certainly
with the mining operations, there is a need to have the water cart in place to be
able to manage. Other ways of managing would be to add additives to it like
binders and dust suppressors, as Daniel indicated earlier on. 183

7.48

The joint venture told the Committee that if it had its time over again, it would have done
things differently:
Mr Lloyd: Yes, given the level of scrutiny that we were going to get on the site, we
should have attacked that start-up phase a little bit more cautiously. It is always
very difficult when you first get to a site; you do not have your infrastructure in
place, you do not have your offices, you do not have internet coverage, you do not
have dams to store water in et cetera. You need to go through an initial stage
where you clear. That stage is intrinsically dusty. It is pretty much impossible not to
create photo opportunities whereby you can get a picture of a bulldozer
producing dust. It takes a while for it to bed in.
We took due care whilst we were going through that initial process; however, there
was one particular incident where I had a chat with a geo who was supervising a
drill rig and I explained the situation to him. I said, “If there is dust and the dust is
blowing towards the dwellings, you need to shut the rig down.” I tried to drum
that into the guy and then I left site to get contact with the outside world again
because we did not have communications set up. When I came back, there was a
plume of dust coming out of the drill rig and it was heading towards the dwellings.
We shut him down. We failed—I failed to communicate to that guy just how
serious it was. I thought I had gotten through, but obviously I had not. That
particular incident was not acceptable. That happened.
There was a myriad of photo opportunities for the occupants of the dwellings to
gather evidence then send it off to the department of mines, but without an
Australian standard–approved dust monitor in place, we could not refute the
ongoing allegations. I think, at the end of the day, the department of mines made
a reasonable assessment of the situation. If we were doing it again, I would do it
differently. I would do it more cautiously. I was not expecting the level of attention
that we got. We have picked up our practices now so that everyone is given a full
briefing induction, that the culture is set in, that people know if there is a dusty
situation that they stop doing what they are doing. But when you get a whole
heap of new people onto a mine site and you tell them all to do things differently
to how they have done it before in their careers to date—they might have been
doing it for decades and decades—it is hard to get through to everyone. We have
now got a culture on site where people understand the importance of that. 184

7.49

The failure to take significant steps toward dust suppression aggravated the already tense
relations between Tisala and the joint venture.
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FINDING 18
Significant amounts of dust were generated in the early stages of mining activity, which adversely
affected the buildings and amenity at Pinjin Homestead.
Dust monitoring
7.50

The Department was not only concerned about dust generation but about dust monitoring:
The CHAIRMAN: In this case, did Hawthorn commit to installing dust-monitoring
equipment in their mining proposal? Was this in place when the mining activity
commenced?
Mr Bouwhuis: As you referred to in the appendices, there was a noise, dust and
vibration management plan associated with the 2015 mining proposal. I just do
not have that detail in front of me as to whether they specifically stated installation
of dust monitoring.
Mr Endacott: To the best of my recollection, having read that plan since, there
were some commitments around having dust-monitoring equipment in place from
the commencement of operations. That is from my memory and recollection of
reading the document.
The CHAIRMAN: I have a question here regarding dust monitoring equipment
not being installed during the early work on the mine. Is that work lifting topsoil
and other earthmoving particularly dusty work?
Mr Bouwhuis: There had been topsoil activities commenced at the time that we
visited the site on the fourteenth, and there was certainly no dust monitoring
equipment in place onsite at that time.
The CHAIRMAN: Is removing topsoil dustier than mining in the pit itself?
Mr Bouwhuis: Potentially, because you are basically disturbing surface soils as
opposed to in situ ore and waste within a pit.
The CHAIRMAN: It could be said that the dust monitoring equipment was not in
place or operational during the most sensitive period for the generation of dust?
Mr Endacott: Not necessarily. There can be lots of different parts of a mining
operation that can cause a lot of dust generation. But as Eugene said, during that
stripping of topsoil can be one of those occasions when there is dust that is
generated. There can also be other parts of a mining operation that can cause
significant dust as well.185

7.51

The joint venture’s Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan submitted with its mining
proposal in 2015 required the installation of dust monitoring equipment. However, it was not
in place when Eugene Bouwhuis inspected the mine in November 2017, weeks after mining
commenced. This resulted in the Department issuing the joint venture a Direction to Modify
to comply with dust management requirements:
The CHAIRMAN: Do you know when that dust-monitoring equipment was
installed?
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Mr Bouwhuis: It was following my inspection of 14 November 2017 and I issued a
requirement for the company to undertake dust management; beyond that time, I
was provided with some additional information, because during the inspection of
14 November there was not a lot of evidence of dust. There were no mining
activities being undertaken at the time. It was the early stages of mine
development, and subsequent information was provided by Tisala representatives
to indicate that there was significant dust. Based on that process, I issued a
direction to modify under the provisions of the act and the Mining Regulations
1981. The requirement was that the company undertake dust management, and
that as part of that process they instigate monitoring systems.
The CHAIRMAN: Was it not necessary to install the equipment at the beginning
of the mining? Was that not part of the deal when they started mining, so they had
to have everything in place before they started?
Mr Bouwhuis: The process would be that there would be some baseline
information gathered, and I did not assess the original mining proposal, so I am
not familiar with the baseline dust aspects. However, that would then provide you
with a pre-mining ambient dust level and that could be compared with the future,
once mining commenced, with what the dust levels were at that stage and the
management strategies required to address that dust.186

7.52

After the Department’s intervention, dust monitoring equipment was installed in compliance
with the Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan and reports were sent monthly to the
Department.

FINDING 19
Dust monitoring equipment was not in place when mining commenced as required by the joint
venture’s Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan. This was installed later following
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety intervention.
Enforcement action in relation to dust issues
7.53

Many emails from Tisala called upon the Department to take action in relation to dust,
including that it issue stop work orders and forfeit the mining lease for breach of the relevant
conditions. Accordingly, the Committee considered how the Department managed and
addressed those complaints.

7.54

The Department explained that it addressed environmental concerns in a number of ways:
Mr Endacott: Anytime we picked up that we thought there was an adverse impact
occurring, we would have various compliance enforcement tools we could use
ranging in severity from things like stop-work orders and direction to modify if we
thought it was having a significant impact on the environment right there and
then, right through to, obviously, generally speaking, if there is a breach of a
tenement condition, we can take forfeiture action, which can range from the
extreme end of forfeiture of the tenement through to issuing some sort of penalty
in lieu of the forfeiture.187
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Inspections
7.55

The Committee heard that the Department has a statutory responsibility to oversee mine
activity. In order to effectively discharge that responsibility, the Department prepares an
annual audit and inspection plan for mines using a risk-based approach, to identify sites for
inspection. The Department told the Committee:
At the time that mining commenced, the mine at Pinjin was not on the
Department’s environmental audit and inspection plan for that year. The annual
environmental audit and inspection plan is created using a risk-based planning
process to identify sites that need to be audited and inspected. The Department
also responds to issues or complaints that arise during the year, which may require
additional inspections or audits to be undertaken, which was the reason the Pinjin
mine was inspected in November and December 2017.188

7.56

188

70

As a result of complaints it received from Tisala, between November 2017 and December
2018 the Department undertook 12 announced and unannounced inspections at Pinjin. A
summary of these inspections can be found at Figure 4.
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[Source: David Smith, Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, Answer to question on notice 19 asked at hearing held 18 December 2018, dated 18 January 2019, p 10.]

Figure 4. Departmental inspections conducted at Pinjin between November 2017 and December 2018

7.57

Eugene Bouwhuis told the Committee about his first inspection on 14 November 2017:
Mr Bouwhuis: It was following my inspection of 14 November 2017 and I issued a
requirement for the company to undertake dust management; beyond that time, I
was provided with some additional information, because during the inspection of
14 November there was not a lot of evidence of dust. There were no mining
activities being undertaken at the time. It was the early stages of mine
development, and subsequent information was provided by Tisala representatives
to indicate that there was significant dust. Based on that process, I issued a
direction to modify under the provisions of the act and the Mining Regulations
1981. The requirement was that the company undertake dust management, and
that as part of that process they instigate monitoring systems. 189

7.58

As a result of the inspection, Mr Bouwhuis issued the joint venture with a Direction to
Modify, dated 24 November 2017.190 The Direction to Modify was followed by a second
inspection to monitor compliance. This unannounced inspection took place on
13 December 2017. Following the 13 December inspection, Mr Bouwhuis wrote to the joint
venture to highlight outstanding issues.191 On 24 January 2018, William Lloyd responded to
the Department by letter outlining the joint venture’s steps to comply with the Direction to
Modify. The Department’s letter and the response can be found at Appendix 9.

7.59

A further inspection in relation to environmental matters was conducted on 24 January 2019.

7.60

It would appear that the Department commenced inspections of the mine site in response to
the complaints received from parties connected to Tisala. These inspections commenced very
soon after mining commenced and the Department took immediate action to instruct the
joint venture to modify its mining operation to reduce the generation of dust. The joint
venture complied with the Direction to Modify.

FINDING 20
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s inspection regime of mining
operations at Pinjin was appropriate and timely.
Issuing a stop work order
7.61

Both Leo and Lawrence Thomas called upon the Department to issue a stop work order on
many occasions in November and December 2017. Questions were also put to the Minister
for Mines in the Legislative Council as to whether the Department would issue a stop work
order.192

7.62

Regulation 120L(1) of the Mining Regulations 1981 provides:
120L.

Inspectors may issue Stop Work Orders

(1) If an inspector or a senior inspector is of the opinion that—
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(a) a mining tenement holder is not complying with a provision of the Act or
these regulations; or
(b) a mining tenement holder is not complying with the mining tenement
conditions; or
(c) an accident or unexpected event has taken place or may take place at a
mine under the control of a mining tenement holder,
as a result of that non-compliance, or accident or event, there is, or may be, a
significant adverse effect on the environment, that inspector or senior
inspector may issue a Stop Work Order to the mining tenement holder.

7.63

The Committee asked the Department as to the circumstances in which the Department
would issue a stop work order under regulation 120 L:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Dealing with stop-work orders and the like, I
understand those are governed under the Mining Regulations 1981; regulation
120L being the power vested in an inspector or senior inspector to issue a stopwork order. Can you just summarise for us what circumstances can give rise to the
issue of a stop-work order?
Mr Endacott: Generally speaking, there usually have to be a few factors, which is,
in the opinion of the inspector, there is potentially going to be a significant impact
on the environment. From my memory as well from in the regulations, there has to
be some sort of breach or noncompliance, I think, in relation to what is occurring.
So, in those two circumstances, the inspector may well issue a stop-work order if
he or she believes it is appropriate.193

7.64

The photographs and videos supplied to the Committee show significant dust being
generated. The Committee was interested to learn under what circumstances mining would
be shut down because of dust:
The CHAIRMAN: Can I ask you this then, Dr Gorey: if reasonable measures were
used and dust was still being generated, would shutting down the operation be a
requirement of a mining company in particular mining conditions?
Dr Gorey: Is your question around whether noncompliance with a condition would
always necessitate shutting down the operation?
The CHAIRMAN: Yes, if reasonable measures were used and the dust was still
being generated, would the mining company have to shut down and come up with
another solution to solve the dust problem?
Dr Gorey: I think the way to answer that is to say that the assessment and
approval was done, so I formed the view that the dust could be adequately
managed at the site through reasonable and practical measures. That was the
expectation that the company would have to meet. It would need to take
adequate measures to minimise the generation of dust and the dust could not
have a significant adverse environmental impact. 194
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7.65

Eugene Bouwhuis told the Committee:
Mr Bouwhuis: As a result of my site visits and inspections, the major compliance
was the dust issue and then the subsequent issuing of the direction to modify the
operations. But during the inspection, there were some other queries that I had in
relation to activities and compliance with tenement conditions associated with
their mining operations.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I take it that you could have issued a stop-work order?
Mr Bouwhuis: We would not. The stop-work order has to be issued based on
significant environmental harm, and some of the issues that were identified were,
in my opinion, not of significant environmental harm. This is things like sample
bags remaining beyond the period of six months. There were some other points
that I identified in my inspection of cutting off tracks and roads—so, access
issues—which there were commitments to maintain in the mining proposal. They
are not of significance, but they needed to be addressed by the company. That
was an issue directed via correspondence back to the tenement holders advising
them to address those matters.195

7.66

The Committee asked specifically about the second inspection of the mine and the decisionmaking concerning an enforcement response:
Mr Bouwhuis: As was mentioned earlier, dust and mining: it is impossible to have
a mining operation without generating any dust. The key thing that we were trying
to manage here was the adverse impact on the sensitive receptors and the people
living in the buildings adjacent to the mining operations. We addressed that by
issuing a directive to the company to ensure that they basically managed the dust
and controlled the dust to negate or minimise dust impacts on the adjacent
dwellings and people.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Were you satisfied following that inspection that they
had complied and taken reasonable measures?
Mr Bouwhuis: I did do a follow-up inspection—unannounced again—on 12 and
13 December. I actually camped overnight near the mine, and there was no
indication of dust coming from the mine going into that evening. Then, the next
morning, there was relatively still conditions and there was no evidence of
significant dust. I was there for the entire day. I met up with some colleagues who
joined me on the thirteenth. It really is dependent upon climatic conditions and
wind directions and velocities—that is a driver. The company by that stage had
water carts in place and had just installed, or was in the process of installing, the
dust monitoring equipment.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: And there was mining activity taking place when you
were there?
Mr Bouwhuis: There was activity occurring at that time.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: What sort of activity?
Mr Bouwhuis: They had excavators digging the cutback of the pit and trucks
hauling that material out, and they had some dozers undertaking some clearing.
The CHAIRMAN: Was the water truck operating also?
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Mr Bouwhuis: The water truck was operating.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So there was no need at that point to issue a further
direction?
Mr Bouwhuis: No.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Let alone a stop-work order, let alone a charge for an
offence?
Mr Bouwhuis: Correct.196

7.67

Mr Bouwhuis told the Committee that the Department did not readily issue stop work orders:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am not criticising here, but you have the power to do
so. I take it that the bias is towards trying to get the problem solved rather than
necessarily stopping work.
Mr Bouwhuis: Correct, and the consequence of stopping work in a manner that
may be vexatious or seen in another light could result in, I guess, penalty to the
department or the minister in relation to the loss of production from that site, if
that was the case. You really have to have a strong case to issue a stop-work order,
because that has impacts on employees and on the business. We do not just issue
those stop-work orders in a light fashion. They are a fairly powerful tool. 197

7.68

In summary, the Department had formed the view that there was no significant
environmental harm taking place and that the dust issues could be managed through a
Direction to Modify. This approach seems consistent with the Department’s approach to not
use stop-work orders to manage dust problems. In response to a question on notice on the
issue, the Department advised:
A review of Departmental records dating back to 1996 identified there have been
no occasions where a stop-work order has been issued for dust management
under Regulation 120L of the Mining Regulations 1981.
However under the Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994 or Mines Safety and
Inspection Regulations 1995 Prohibition Notices have been issued on 25 occasions
due to excessive dust levels on mining operations during the period 11 July 2013
to 26 September 2018.198

7.69

The Committee is of the view that the Department adequately considered the impact of dust
from mining at Pinjin upon the environment. It took appropriate measures to address the
creation of dust through issuing a Direction to Modify, rather than issuing a stop work order.

FINDING 21
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety took appropriate action in relation to
complaints about dust.
Breach of mining conditions
7.70

Tisala raised with the Department and Minister for Mines on a number of occasions that the
issues of dust creation and the destruction of infrastructure should result in breach action by
the Minister against the joint venture. Under section 97 of the Mining Act 1978, if there is a
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breach of a covenant on a mining lease, the Minister for Mines can declare the tenement
forfeited or impose a fine.
7.71

The Department considered whether there had been a breach of condition in relation to the
original Direction to Modify because of dust:
Dr Gorey: For the committee’s context, there are two actions that the department
took in relation to dust. One was the immediate action to secure compliance,
which means to bring them into compliance. That was the direction to modify.
There was a separate action that the department took—the longer one—which
was to consider whether a penalty should be applied because they failed to
comply with the condition. They got a direction to modify for immediate action
and then there was a financial penalty imposed because they breached the
condition originally. There was a very quick response. The response about
providing a financial penalty because of the nature of those penalties does go
through a little bit of a longer process.199

7.72

Daniel Endacott also spoke about the decision to impose a penalty for the breach of
condition:
The CHAIRMAN: Was the mine operator in breach of its lease while this
monitoring equipment was not doing the job it was supposed to do?
Mr Endacott: We investigated whether there were any breaches of tenement
conditions. The condition that we determined that they were essentially in breach
of, and that we recommended a penalty to our minister in relation to a breach of
tenement conditions, was in relation to that dust condition you were talking about
before about taking reasonable measures. We did not believe it was necessarily
black and white in breach of their mining proposal commitments.200

7.73

The Department set out in writing to the Committee the steps it had taken:
As a result of Environmental Inspections and information obtained by the
Department at the end of 2017 and early 2018 a Notification of Breach Letter was
issued on 15 February 2018 in relation to the management of dust by Hawthorn
Resources Limited at Pinjin. The breach letter identified a potential breach of
Condition 17 on mining lease 31/79.
As a result of further investigations, the Department identified that it was more
appropriate to pursue compliance action for a breach of Condition 21 rather than
Condition 17 in relation to the management of dust. As such a subsequent
Notification of Breach Letter was issued on 26 April 2018.
This breach letter ultimately resulted in a Penalty in Lieu of Forfeiture being
imposed by the Minister for Mines, which was paid by Hawthorn Resources
Limited on 12 October 2018.201

7.74

To assist the Minister to make a determination, the Department provided him with a bundle
of documents, including internal reports and the joint venture’s response to the specific
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allegations. This bundle of documents, including the Minister’s decision to increase the
recommended fine from $13 851 to $40 000, appears at Appendix 10.
7.75

The Committee is of the view that the Department adequately considered the question of
enforcement action for breach of condition. It did so while also taking immediate steps to
resolve the dust issues at the site.

Noise
7.76

Tisala and residents at Pinjin made numerous complaints to the Department about the
24 hour operations at the mine and the impact of noise on amenity at Pinjin Homestead.
These matters were also raised with the Committee by Leo Thomas in his submission to the
Inquiry.202

7.77

The joint venture’s Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan required it to conduct
regular noise monitoring. The abatement measures contained in that plan became a
condition of mining and the basis upon which noise levels would be assessed. Baseline noise
and dust monitoring was conducted in March 2017.203

7.78

The Dust, Noise and Vibration Management Plan committed the joint venture to ensuring
that noise did not exceed those levels deemed acceptable under the Environmental
Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997 which would be measured by noise monitoring
equipment.204 Compliance with this plan was a condition of the mining lease M31/79.

7.79

The joint venture was required to submit monthly dust and noise monitoring reports to the
Department and to detail corrective measures implemented to address any noncompliance.205 These reports were supplied regularly.206

7.80

At its hearing, Departmental officers indicated that no action was taken by the Department in
relation to noise:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Do you recall any complaints being received by the
department in respect of disturbances at night or early in the morning because of
mining operations?
Mr Endacott: I certainly received complaints, broadly speaking, around a broad
number of issues. To the best of my recollection, it was sometimes raised that they
were operating at night and they, essentially, did not like that. The representatives
of Tisala were not happy with that. It was not usually a focus of a complaint but
sometimes I think the fact it was a 24-hour operation was raised from time to time.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Was anything done by the department to explore that,
investigate it or see whether there was a genuine concern or genuine problem
there?
Mr Endacott: First of all, broadly speaking, I guess that might not actually be
something that might have been regulated through the mining conditions on the
tenement conditions. One thing to bear in mind is that when we impose
conditions, they are imposed to minimise injury to land, generally speaking, which
is the remit under the Mining Act for how tenement conditions can be imposed.
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Some other factors in terms of emissions, whether it be light and noise that may
affect people, are regulated under different legislation. Generally speaking, I do
not believe we followed that up in any substantive fashion other than I think there
was some communication with the Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation regarding some of the complaints we were receiving.207

7.81

The Committee is of the view that noise was being monitored in accordance with the Dust,
Noise and Vibration Management Plan.

Abandoned sample bags
7.82

Lawrence Thomas raised with the Committee in his submission, complaints about abandoned
sample bags and uncapped drill holes. 208 Lawrence Thomas supplied to the Committee
several photographs of approximately 60 heavily dilapidated sample bags on the ground.
Mr Thomas said that these sample bags were reported to the Department in July 2017 and
to the Minister for Mines in December 2017 and that some were still there in November
2018.

Figure 5. Abandoned sample bags

[Source: Submission 9 from Lawrence Thomas, 8 November 2018, p 3.]

7.83

After the Department’s environmental inspection in December 2017, it drew the sample bags
to the joint venture’s attention:
Mr Endacott: In one of the correspondence that came in from Tisala there were
photos pertaining to be of sample bags and things like that. In one of my
inspections I was involved in, we found some sample bags and instructed them to
rehabilitate those.
Mr Bouwhuis: There were certainly sample bags on my visit of 14 November. I
then received correspondence from the company advising that they had been
cleaned up, and on my visit on 13 December there was evidence to show that

207
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most of the bags had been cleaned up, but there had been some that were missed
and they were directed to clean those up, so I am not too sure where these
additional bags are located.209

7.84

The joint venture says in relation to the sample bags:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Taking you to sample bags and the like, we have had
complaints that sample bags have not been collected by Hawthorn and have been
dumped in holes and things of that nature. Are you able to tell us about the
practices there and whether there have been failures?
Mr Moody: As you would be aware, Michael—you may not be aware—there has
been approximately —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Assume that I am not.
Mr Moody: All right. There have been approximately 950 RC holes drilled out on
the mining leases at Trouser Legs. Many, about 500 of them, were done in the
period between 1980 and 1999. In those days, the old yellowy-green bags were
left. When we have found them, you just see the base of the bag. When we find
them, we rehabilitate them as best we can. Now, there will be some small amounts
of plastic.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: When you say rehabilitate them, what —
Mr Moody: Basically, we pick them up.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: And dispose of the plastic?
Mr Moody: Yes. Take them into the tip here.210

7.85

The joint venture also told the Committee that it would remove sample bags that were
drawn to their attention:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Put it this way, if you were notified of the presence of
sample bags —
Mr Moody: Yes, we would get in there, if it was safe to do so.
Mr Kerr: We do not have one outstanding request that we have not complied
with. You have got to understand there are complaints being sent at some stages
by the hour to the department. We are getting notified. We have had 10
inspections, some of them random; they just come. This is as clean a site as you
could operate anywhere. It is super clean. 211

7.86

This is consistent with the approach taken by the Department:
The CHAIRMAN: If the department received a complaint about sample bags,
would it follow them up? Would it follow up the complaint?
Mr Endacott: Yes, broadly speaking we will follow up any complaint that we
receive.212
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7.87

All parties accept that sample bags should ultimately be properly disposed of. The
Department raised the sample bags with the joint venture and they were removed. The joint
venture committed to removing them even if they were not theirs.

FINDING 22
Sample bags were removed once the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety and
the joint venture were notified of their presence.
Cattle strikes
7.88

In his submission Lawrence Thomas alleged that the failure to fence a haul road resulted in
earthmoving equipment striking cattle. He also supplied a photograph of a beast on a road
or track that appeared to be a victim of a cattle strike. The time and date stamp on the
photograph shows 19 May 2018 at 10:30 am.213 It was part of a bundle of photographs
tabled in the Legislative Council by Hon Robin Scott MLC.214

7.89

The Committee was not provided with any evidence of an undertaking by the joint venture
to fence the haul road that runs through Pinjin Station. The Committee heard from the joint
venture in relation to cattle strikes:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I was going to move on to the killing of cattle. Are you
aware of any incidents involving the death of cattle and how that has come about?
Mr Kerr: We are aware of one that was raised, I think via Parliament, where an
accusation was made. But from our point of view, we had an arrangement sort of
put in place with Tisala back in the early days. We said, “Look, if something
happened to walk in front of one of our equipment or there was an accident, we
should set up an arrangement where we could work out compensation if anything
did happen.” That was sort of put on the table out to one side. I think the
particular incident—I know of only one.
Mr Moody: No. Will, have there been any —
Mr Lloyd: There was an incident onsite when we were clearing for the waste
dump. We have an incident report on it. But it appeared to be quite possibly an
attempt to frame us for slaughtering a young cow. It was quite odd the way the
dead beast had been placed. It was at the end of some vehicle tracks and it
appeared to have been placed in a fairly awkward position on the edge of where a
bulldozer had pulled up. Bulldozers are large, noisy, slow moving machines, and
would have a lot of trouble hitting a cow, so we took photos, generated an
incident report, did an investigation into it and contacted the station to inform
them that we had found this dead animal. That is the only incident that we have
had where we have actually seen a dead animal. There was another incident, I
think, that got raised in Parliament.215

7.90

The joint venture told the Committee about an alleged second cattle strike:
Mr Lloyd: If it was hit and killed by a road train, it was not reported to me. Two
scenarios: either it was hit by a truck and left there and not reported to us or it was
hit or placed there for a photo and then removed. It could have been either of
those options, I really don’t know. I was never—I assume that —
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Mr Moody: It has been dragged off the road.
Mr Lloyd: No request for compensation was ever received. It would have been
honoured if there was some evidence of it or we would have gone out and
inspected. We don’t drive along that haul road regularly. Our camp is 200 metres
up the road, so I can’t say categorically what that cow is doing there but I can say
categorically if a request had been made for compensation we most certainly
would have paid it, without hesitation.
Mr Kerr: I would agree with that.216

7.91

The Committee did not hear any other evidence in relation to cattle. The joint venture
indicated that it would compensate Tisala if its operations had caused the death of cattle.

The Warden’s Court complaints
False and misleading evidence tendered
7.92

The previous chapter outlined that the joint venture successfully applied for an interlocutory
injunction against Tisala, its servants, workmen and agents and specifically named
Steven Kean and Nicholas Cukela.217

7.93

Steven Kean gave evidence to the Committee that several facts contained in the joint
venture’s affidavit in support of its application were misleading or false. He supplied 68
pages of material in advance of his hearing with the Committee to support this
proposition.218 The first 35 pages of Mr Kean’s material is identical to a presentation that Hon
Robin Scott MLC gave to representatives from the Department and the Minister for Mines at
a meeting concerning Pinjin in November 2017. 219 Mr Kean particularly focused on the claims
made in the affidavit alleging interference by him and Nicholas Cukela with explosives
activity being undertaken by the joint venture on the mine site. Lawrence Thomas echoed
these concerns in his submission.220

7.94

The Committee elected not to inquire into the evidence presented to the court in support of
the injunction. Firstly, the injunction is still on foot, as are legal proceedings in relation to the
dispute between Tisala and the joint venture. Secondly, the Committee is not in a position to
investigate or resolve a dispute of such a nature, which if maintained, ought to be referred to
and investigated by the Western Australia Police Force (Police).

7.95

The Committee specifically raised this point with Steven Kean and asked what steps he had
taken in relation to these complaints:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Leaving that aside for a moment, what was done was
done, but you had identified what you say are falsehoods in the affidavit. Did you
draw that to your lawyer’s attention or Tisala’s lawyer’s attention?
Mr Kean: We were not able to, because Tisala did not have a full copy of this
affidavit. Even from the date then to get a full copy of the affidavit, it took
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probably two—it could have been two weeks, nearly three weeks, because of
the —
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: You may be right, but since then, once it took two
weeks to get a full copy of the affidavit, but you had a full affidavit of the affidavit,
Tisala has a full copy of the affidavit and their lawyers had a full copy of the
affidavit. Have these falsehoods been raised with the lawyer?
Mr Kean: No.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Why not?
Mr Kean: They were raised with the lawyer and this whole issue it was brought up
is how it actually got listed in the Perth Warden’s Court.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Never mind about the listing in the Perth Warden’s
Court but wherever it was listed. What I am driving at is when you got access to
the affidavit, you read it, and you identified that there were what you say are
falsehoods in the affidavit.
Mr Kean: Yes.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Did you point that out to Tisala’s lawyer?
Mr Kean: Yes, that is correct.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: What action has been taken in respect of that since?
Mr Kean: They have been part of trying to get affidavits together because the
affidavits have to come from people, they were there, that is myself and Nicholas.
There is reference also to Leo.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: All right. But Tisala’s lawyer knows that according to
you, others, there are falsehoods in Mr Lloyd’s affidavit?
Mr Kean: Yes.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay. Has anything been done about that?
Mr Kean: Yes. Not about the falsehoods. They tried in the same affidavit.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Have the falsehoods in the affidavit been raised with
the court?
Mr Kean: No. It has not had a chance to be able to do—that is the point —
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: A year and half.
Mr Kean: No. It has not had a chance to be able to do that.221

7.96

The Committee questions why, if material falsehoods were found in an affidavit filed in
respect of proceedings for an injunction, no action has been taken to address those either
before the relevant court or through complaint to relevant authorities.

FINDING 23
The appropriate forum for disputes as to the content of an affidavit submitted to the Warden’s
Court is the Warden’s Court.
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Listing of the interlocutory matter in Perth and not Kalgoorlie
7.97

The application for the interlocutory injunction was filed in the Perth registry of the Warden’s
Court. Its listing in Perth and not the mineral field in which the land in question is located,
was a significant focus of complaint by Lawrence Thomas and Steven Kean. Lawrence
Thomas submitted:
How the Department of Mines listed the initial interlocutory application for an
injunction in the Perth, not in Kalgoorlie which basically denied us a fair and
convenient way of addressing the matters in the wardens court as it was far too
difficult and expensive for us to be travelling to Perth. This should never be
allowed to happen to any one having a matter listed in Perth outside of the
mineral field district where the mining tenement and court of located. By listing
this matter in Perth rather than in Kalgoorlie it also meant that if it was requested
in the Kalgoorlie Court by ourselves the warden could have relatively easily visited
the site on Pinjin to see factually what has been happening and occurring. 222

7.98

Tisala relies on section 132(2) of the Mining Act 1978 which provides:
132.

Jurisdiction of warden’s court

(2) Every warden’s court has jurisdiction throughout the State, including any area
that comes within paragraph (b) of the definition of land in section 8(1), but
any action, suit or other proceeding within the jurisdiction of a warden’s court
in respect of, or in relation to, any mining tenement shall be brought in the
warden’s court for the mineral field or the district thereof assigned to the court
and in which the mining tenement is.

7.99

The Committee raised this with the Department, which advised the Committee that it was a
matter for the court:
The CHAIRMAN: I have a question that Mr Bullen may want to answer, but I
would like to ask it anyway, if you do not mind. Where all the disputes, objections,
interlocutory applications for injunctions in the 31 mineral field which, I
understand, is north of Coolgardie mineral field, which are lodged with the
department, should they not be first listed in the respected Warden’s Court, say, in
Kalgoorlie for the first hearing? I accept that it may be transferred from Kalgoorlie
after the initial hearing, but my understanding is that all the arguments that are
going on at the moment were going to be heard in Perth, not in Kalgoorlie, where
it is very difficult for the mob Tisala to attend. Are you comfortable to answer that
or should I leave that for Mr Bullen.
Dr Roberts: Yes, or we could take it on notice. We would have to check the
reasons for that—why the warden made that decision. It would not be a decision
of the department; it would be a decision of the warden.223

7.100

The Department also suggested that it could be because of court workload:
Dr Roberts: In terms of the load of the warden, we do have a full-time Perth
warden who is not the chief warden, but because he is full-time, he tends to take
on more substantial matters, and he takes on matters that maybe the other courts
in the regions do not have the capacity or the time schedule to do et cetera. 224
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7.101

Both Steven Kean and the Department supplied the Committee with a copy of the transcript
of the first hearing for the injunction, which was heard in Perth on 27 October 2017. At the
hearing each party was represented by legal counsel. Counsel for Tisala indicated that he had
sent a copy of the application to Tisala’s representative (Steven Kean) but had not been able
to transmit all of the supporting documentation to Tisala or obtain any instructions. 225

7.102

Counsel for Tisala argued that section 132(2) of the Mining Act 1978 required the first listing
of the matter to be in Kalgoorlie. The Warden noted that there was a plaint for the
substantive dispute in the Warden’s Court at Kalgoorlie.226 Tisala’s lawyer sought to have the
interlocutory injunction matter sent to Kalgoorlie to be heard along with the main dispute at
its next scheduled hearing on 3 November 2017.227 The Warden indicated to the parties that
the matter was a serious one and that if the matters alleged by Hawthorn were true it would
result in significant loss for Hawthorn.228

7.103

The Warden suspended proceedings for Tisala’s counsel to seek further instructions from his
client as to how to proceed. Immediately after the suspension, counsel for Tisala indicated
that he had spoken to Tisala’s representative and was not in a position to provide any
consent to proposed orders. However, Tisala’s lawyer did, in the absence of any consent,
agree to the matter not being transferred to Kalgoorlie and for the substantive matter then
before Kalgoorlie to be transferred to Perth for the sake of convenience.229 The Warden
noted:
For the purposes of the transcript and, and just to confirm the position, that
doesn’t mean that plaint number 505998 has been transferred to Perth, but solely
for administrative purposes it will be so these matters can be dealt with
together.230

7.104

The Committee did not investigate the question of why the matter was listed before the
Warden in Perth and not the mineral field closest to Pinjin. The issue was argued before and
decided by the judicial officer hearing the case. An appeal against the decision was open to
any of the parties. The Committee has no evidence before it that an appeal or review was
pursued by Tisala.

FINDING 24
The interpretation and application of section 132(2) of the Mining Act 1978 was a question of law
for the Warden to determine.
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CHAPTER 8
Allegations of racism, abuse and intimidation
Background
8.1

Committee term of reference (2)(c) provides that the Committee is to have reference to:
All allegations, including those of intimidation, abuse and racial discrimination, set
out in the documentation tabled in the Legislative Council on 26 June 2018
(Tabled Paper 1489) and other allegations dating back to 2012

8.2

Tabled paper 1489 consists of eight A4 coloured photographs and are reproduced at
Appendix 11.231 Hon Robin Scott MLC tabled these in the House on 26 June 2018 during a
Member’s Statement on Hawthorn Resources and Pinjin Pastoral Station. In his statement,
Hon Robin Scott describes the contents of the photographs:
Madam President, I would also like to read out the signs shown in some
photographs. They are signs that have been pinned onto the fence line at Pinjin
station. I will seek leave to table the photographs. On the first fence, the sign
reads, “Black nigars holding up mine.” On another fence line, another sign reads,
“Black nigars holding up mine.” In the next photograph, Leo Thomas is standing in
front of a building with a sign on it that states, “We destroy black nigars.” There is
a shed with another sign on it that reads, “White gin jockey + black nigars living
here.” Another sign reads, “Black nigars holding up mine.” I have a picture here of
a cow that has been runover on Hall Road, which was never reported and the
pastoralists were never recompensed for it. I have another picture of another
building with a sign stating, “We destroy black nigars.” This is a really nasty one:
“Minister Johnston and DMIRS support us so eat our dust + put up with noise or
piss off”. The worst one of all: “Leo and Lawrence will end the same as Elijah”,
referring to Elijah Doughty.232

8.3

In inquiring into matters pertaining to racism, the Committee was aware of an active police
investigation. The Committee has been careful to ensure the integrity of that investigation is
not compromised.

8.4

The Committee invited submissions from a number of parties to the Inquiry and included a
copy of the Inquiry’s terms of reference. Despite this, the Committee received only a small
number of submissions and oral evidence about racism, abuse and intimidation consisting of
offensive signage, verbal racist remarks and racist radio chatter. These allegations were
emphatically denied by representatives of the joint venture.

Offensive signage
8.5

The dispute at Pinjin Station received little media attention before the erection of some
racially offensive signs at the station. News of the signs appeared in local, national and
international media.
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The erection of signs at Pinjin
8.6

Sometime between the evening of 21 June and the morning of 22 June 2018, two days after
the Warden handed down his decision concerning section 20(5), some abhorrent racist signs
were erected at and around the Pinjin Homestead.

8.7

Nicholas Cukela says he was the first person from Tisala to see the signs. He told the
Committee that he had been sleeping at Pinjin Station and woke sometime before 7 am.
Mr Cukela said that he believed he was the only person at Pinjin Station that night. 233 He
recalled to the Committee:
Mr CUKELA: I remember just seeing all these signs on a shed. Then I got into a
truck and drove to number 2 shed. That had a sign on it. I leave that generator
running all night with a light on. That had a sign on it. Then I drove past the station
and went into where Hawthorn’s quarters were. They have a 20-foot sign about
yea big with “Hawthorn” on it. I drove back to the station; I drove down to see if
they’ve got anything. I drove back. I rang Leo and I rang Steven. They had a bit of
a panic attack or whatever. Then they came about lunchtime or something. I don’t
know what time they turned up. The police rang up. Hawthorn workers were taking
photographs of the signs and they were laughing out the front.234

8.8

William Lloyd from the joint venture told the Committee about his first becoming aware of
the racist signs:
Mr Lloyd: I actually did not notice them. One of the senior geos who sits behind
me told me that there was a sign. I jumped in the car and went to have a look at it.
Sure enough, there was a sign. I took a picture of it, drove back to the office and
then someone else told me that there was another sign, so I had to go back and
have another look. I noticed that there was a second sign and then a whole series
of signs that had been erected on the shearers’ cottages, I think they call it—the
shed up the back, quite some distance from the fence line onto the Pinjin
homestead land there. I immediately suspected that it was a set-up. Again, the
concept of anyone on the mining site having time to print off 20 signs, carefully
wrap them in sticky tape—I have been told by the police it was a construction
methodology—and then sneak in and erect them at night is absolutely
preposterous. If it were an individual, they would not do it that way.235

8.9

William Lloyd reported the presence of the racist signs to the Police by email at 9:52 am on
22 June 2018.236

8.10

After being notified by William Lloyd, Police contacted Nicholas Cukela at Pinjin Station to
request that he remove the signs.237 Mr Cukela recounted:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did the police contact you, either directly or through
someone else, to say “Take the signs down”?
Mr CUKELA: I thought the police officer said, “Pull the signs down.”
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is that what they said to you?
Mr CUKELA: I think so, yes, “Pull them down.”
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did you—or why didn’t you?
Mr CUKELA: Because Leo said, “Leave the fucking things there; they’ve put them
there.”238

8.11

After being notified of the presence of the signs, Steven Kean and Leo Thomas went to Pinjin
Station.239 Police records indicate that officers spoke with Mr Kean by telephone to request
that the signs be removed. Police running sheets record that on 22 June 2018 at 4:30 pm:
KEAN was very emotive and descriptive of his distress with regards to the signage
and explained that there were a number more displayed around the station. KEAN
is alleging that staff from Hawthorne have erected the signs sometime during the
night … KEAN was requested to remove the signs as they are offensive however he
refused stating that he wanted them as evidence despite already taking photos of
them. KEAN had not notified police of the signs however is pursuing complaints
through a different route and wanted them left up.240

8.12

The Committee put this version of events to Steven Kean:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: So you and Leo then trekked out to Pinjin, saw what
was going on, spoke to Mr Cukela and received a phone call from the police. Did
the police say, “Would you guys remove the signs?”
Mr Kean: The police, when there was—I think from memory, when I was talking to
them, I think they asked about removing the signs and I said, “I’ll put you on to
Leo and Lawrence”, because, from one of my discussions, they wanted the police
to remove the signs. It was not about us removing the signs.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: What did you suggest, though?
Mr Kean: Well, to be honest, I cannot recollect what I suggested or what I said. For
me, it was highly distressing and, as I said, very emotional and for me it was
absolutely gut-wrenching in the sense of what had gone on and what had
transpired.241

8.13

When put directly:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Would it be correct to say that the police invited or
requested you and Mr Thomas to remove the signs and you declined?
Mr Kean: No, I would not say—I indicated to them—I can’t recollect exactly what
was said—honest—in the sense of I know there was some discussion about asking
them to remove the signs and I think I said I will ask Leo and Lawrence, and Leo
and Lawrence said that they wanted the police to come out, not me or not us, to
remove the signs. That’s my recollection.242

8.14

Steven Kean was asked specifically about the statement that he would be pursuing the
matter through a different route:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Did you tell the police that you had taken photographs
of the signs?
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Mr Kean: From memory, I think I may have said, yes—I said, “I’m going to take
some pictures of the signs.”
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Did you tell the police that you were going to be
pursuing a complaint through a different avenue, a different route, and you
wanted the signs to stay up?
Mr Kean: I can’t recollect that. I can’t recollect that.243

8.15

Over the next few days, photographs of the signs at Pinjin began appearing in the local and
national press.244

8.16

The signs remained in place for a number of days despite Police requests to have them
removed. William Lloyd told the Committee about his efforts to have the signs removed:
Mr Lloyd: From there, the police tried for several days to get the pastoralists to
remove the signs. They refused to. Mr Kean began to proliferate the story about
how we had placed the signs there to intimidate them or vilify them.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is that what you have inferred from it?
Mr Lloyd: I was told by the police that they could tell from Mr Kean’s language
that he was trying to work an angle, and they had it figured out pretty quickly
what was going on.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did they explain what it was about his language or
things that he had said?
Mr Lloyd: They could tell that he was trying to steer it in a certain direction. They
could tell that he had an angle that he was trying to work. I should also add that
this occurred two days after the Mining Warden passed his judgement on the
applicability of section 20(5), so cracks had started to appear for these guys.
Perhaps they were getting a little desperate and looking for a new avenue to try
and extract their compensation payment.245

8.17

Police attended Pinjin Station on 27 June 2018 and removed and seized the signs for forensic
examination.246

FINDING 25
The racist signs were not removed immediately when discovered and had to be removed by the
Western Australia Police Force several days later.
FINDING 26
The presence of the signs received extensive media coverage with several photographs published.
The Police investigation
8.18

The Committee conducted a hearing with the Police, including a forensics officer. The
Committee heard evidence of the forensic tests that had been conducted on the racist signs.
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In order not to compromise the integrity of the Police investigation, the Committee has
elected not to disclose detail on the type of forensic testing that was conducted.
8.19

The Committee can however provide information on the construction of the signs. The
Committee asked the Police about the level of effort that would be necessary to construct
the signs:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Can I ask a question about the signs, please. I am a little
unclear as to how they were constructed. I take it there were A4 pieces of paper
with a letter printed on it—is that the way it was?—then glued together in some
fashion?
Insp. Davis: To be honest, I do not know whether they were A4 or A3—only from
the photographs that we have got—but they have all been taken to the forensic
for examination. I cannot tell you whether they are A3 or A4 pieces of paper.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But, basically, someone has taken a letter, blown it up to
the maximum capacity on a photocopier or something like that, printed it off and
then stuck it all together.
Insp. Davis: And then placed it with sticky tape over the top and sealed it over the
cardboard. So, it has been put onto cardboard. The letters were put onto the
cardboard and from that the sticky tape had been put over the top. A fair bit of
effort has been put to do these signs.247

8.20

Representatives from the joint venture spoke to the improbability of the signs being made
on the mine site:
The CHAIRMAN: I have just one quick question. The signs themselves, do you
believe that they could have been made at the mine site or Pinjin station just with
the material that was used to make it?
Mr Lloyd: Anyone with a printer and some sticky tape could have made them. It is
not impossible —
Mr Moody: But it would be very unlikely for someone to be able to print out a
letter a page for—I do not know how many letters there are.
Mr Kerr: Well someone has done it, Ian, so —
Mr Lloyd: Sorry, on this site, without noticing it.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That is what I was about to get at.
Mr Moody: Because we only have two sets of printers; one is in the Hampton’s
main office and one is in the mine office.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Even at the accommodation camp —
Mr Moody: Well, there are no printers in there.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: — is the exercise of assembling one of these signs likely
to go unnoticed in your view?
Mr Lloyd: It would be extremely hard to do it unnoticed. 248
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The wording used on the signs
8.21

The Committee took particular interest in the spelling of the words used on the signs. In
particular, several of the signs contained the words, ‘BLACK NIGARS’. 249 The Committee
considers this spelling of what might commonly be spelled ‘nigger’ as noteworthy. The
Oxford English Dictionary indicates that ‘nigar’ is a Caribbean variant of the word ‘nigger’. 250

8.22

Among the documents supplied to the Committee by the Department of Mines, Industry
Regulation and Safety are a number of emails in the name of Leo Thomas. These emails are
extracted and appear at Appendix 12. All were sent before the erection of the signs.

8.23

The author of the emails, written to Mr Daniel Endacott of the Department, quotes language
that they allege to have heard from Hawthorn Resources staff. This includes the following
exchanges:


16 May 2018 – ‘when the mines department comes they will fix the black nigars at pinjin’



24 May 2018 – ‘Fuck the nigars at Pinjin, give them more dust and drive the pricks out of
existence’



6 June 2018 – ‘don’t worry about the black nigars cattle, run them over or fuck them off’

8.24

Each of the emails uses the word ‘nigar’. This is the same, unusual spelling of the word that
appears on several signs that were erected around Pinjin Homestead.

8.25

In Chapter 2, the Committee outlined the approach that Tisala took to preparing
correspondence. Much of the correspondence with regulators was said to have been
collaboratively written by a number of people. Despite this, the Committee went to some
effort to identify who prepared the correspondence outlined above.

8.26

At its hearing with Leo and Lawrence Thomas the Committee specifically asked who wrote
these emails. Leo and Lawrence Thomas were unable to specify who wrote the particular
emails. Rather, they identified a number of people who they say could have written them.251

8.27

The Committee also put these emails to Steven Kean and asked him who the author of the
emails was. In relation to the 16 May 2018 email, Mr Kean told the Committee:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: What were you doing?
Mr Kean: I have been assisting and helping them.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: How are you helping them with this?
Mr Kean: You are asserting I have written the email —
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: I am asking.
Mr Kean: I am just saying to you I have not written the email. I may have
contributed to writing some of the email or contributed to some of the content
but I have not written the email.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay, who did?
Mr Kean: Well, if you ask me some of it I think may have been Mr Gerard Brewer
because —
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The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: There is a pretty strong —
Mr Kean: He was a very, very—if you knew Gerard Brewer, he was a very strong,
forceful person and the nature of the language that he used he was very forceful in
that context.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Well, it is very argumentative, very provocative.
Mr Kean: That was the nature of the person who he was. 252

8.28

The Committee was unable to hear from Mr Brewer as he died sometime between 23 and
28 June 2018.253

8.29

The Committee questioned Steven Kean further about the content of the 16 May 2018 email:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Is there anything in this letter that you think is wrong
or would need to be corrected? Read it through, please.
Mr Kean: Well, I did not write the letter. It is very forceful to start; I would not have
done that.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Yes. Go on.
Mr Kean: I am reading; I am reading.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Sure—that is what I am saying.
Mr Kean: There are spelling mistakes; there are typographicals.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Which ones? Where?
Mr Kean: Well, I would not have—where is the word? Where is it? He used the
word black “nigars”. I would not have spelt niggers that way.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: How would you have spelt it?
Mr Kean: N-I-G-G-E-R-S.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: He being who?
Mr Kean: Beg your pardon?
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Who spelt it that way?
Mr Kean: Gerard, I assume, wrote it this way.254

8.30

The Committee then raised the 24 May 2018 email:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Next one along, Mr Endacott, 24 May 2018, “Dear
Mr Endacott”, again signed-off by Leo Thomas; is that another one? It is on
page 12.
Mr Kean: This was definitely Gerard Brewer, because again it is very strong.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Gerard Brewer typed that one, do you reckon?
Mr Kean: Well, there are typographicals and there is spelling errors as well.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Like?
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Mr Kean: The word “niggers” is written N-I-G-A-R-S. I would have spelt it N-I-G-GE-R-S. But it is just the forcefulness of—“It’s very easy to see why they conduct
terrorist-type attacks”.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Were you present when this one was being typed out?
Mr Kean: I possibly would have been, yes.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Were you?
Mr Kean: I am just trying to look and read it. On page 15, the expression “stuff all”,
that is Gerard. He always accuses the department of doing stuff all. I was present
but I do not think I typed it.255

8.31

In relation to 6 June 2018 email Steven Kean said:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Skip now to page 9, another one there from
Leo Thomas on 6 June 2018.
Mr Kean: Primarily, I would have said my dad might have been present. Mr Brewer,
because Brewer was very forceful—some of the language.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Who do you reckon typed it on that occasion?
Mr Kean: It is only my recollection but I would say Mr Brewer.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Again, you would have seen a draft of it, along with the
others?
Mr Kean: Just let me—this one does not ring a bell. To be honest, I do not think I
may have seen a draft on this one. I do not even know if I was present. I am just
trying to read it. No, I do not think I was present when this one was written.256

8.32

Mr Kean was then asked about whether he had seen that spelling of the word ‘nigar’ before:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay. Did you ever see any notes that they had written
with that spelling?
Mr Kean: Yes. And I have seen that is how Lawrence and sometimes Leo have
spelt it.257

Cooperation with the Police
8.33

The Committee was particularly interested to hear about the degree to which parties
cooperated with the Police. The Committee heard from representatives from the joint
venture who told the Committee that they had fully cooperated with the Police:
Mr Lloyd: I can’t recall how much activity there was. I can’t recall who exactly was
there or whether I saw them. We were busy doing our day-to-day jobs. The police
follow-up, at our insistence after the signs were removed, was to come to site and
request DNA evidence. Anyone who that DNA was requested off provided it
willingly; voluntarily. I was informed verbally, possibly in an email again, but at
least verbally by the police, that everyone at Tisala had rejected their request to
voluntarily provide DNA.
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Mr Moody: Also, if I can add to Will, I was on site the day after, on the Saturday, I
believe, or when the police came in and they inspected all of our printers in the
mine offices.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Do you have a record of how many people were at the
mine site that particular night?
Mr Lloyd: That was provided to the police, yes. 258

8.34

Similar levels of cooperation do not appear to have been demonstrated by those connected
with Tisala. The Police indicated that they had not been able to obtain identifying particulars
from some parties related to Tisala:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Has anyone from Pinjin volunteered their fingerprints or
DNA for purposes of elimination?
Mr Davis: I can answer that. No, no-one.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: But they have been asked?
Mr Davis: Yes, they have. The only person who actually said yes was Lawrence
Thomas, but he was not present at the time when they were put up and said he
did not go anywhere near the signs and did not touch them or anything like that,
so his DNA fingerprints were not taken.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: How many people at Pinjin were asked to cooperate?
Mr Davis: Mr Cukela and Mr Gordon. So, the two people.259

8.35

The Committee put the lack of cooperation to Nicholas Cukela. He told the Committee:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did you tell the police what had you seen? You left the
station later that day. Did you go to the cops and tell them that this is what has
happened and make a statement for them or anything like that about those
things?
Mr CUKELA: Why do I have to? They didn’t ask me for something for so many
months afterwards and I said, “How can I remember exactly what went on, how it
happened, what you did? It would have been so many months after you have even
bothered to ring me up and ask me for a statement”. So I told them, “No; I won’t
be giving a statement.” But if a statement is to be given, it is to be given in my
opinion straightaway when you have the freshness in your mind; not after three
months or whatever it is for a statement.260

8.36

And later:
Mr CUKELA: I am not helping the police do their job. If the mines department did
their job, the police did their job, it would be a whole lot easier, but no-one does
their job but everyone wants me: “You go and do the job for me, Nicholas.” You go
and do your job. That is what you get paid for. If you want assistance from me, you
have two chances.261
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8.37

Steven Kean told the Committee that he had an extensive conversation with Police in
September 2018 concerning the signs. He indicated that the officer at the time did not insist
on taking a statements and explicitly advised him that a statement was not necessary:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay; you were told. You say that they are wrong if
they were to say that you were asked for a statement by Sergeant Wellstead in
September 2018?
Mr Kean: To the best of my recollection, I was not directly asked to provide a
statement, because he told me that I was under no compulsion to provide one. 262

FINDING 27
Joint venture personnel cooperated with the Western Australia Police Force requests in order to
further the investigation. Similar levels of cooperation were not demonstrated by Tisala Pty Ltd’s
supporters.
The joint venture’s views on the author of the signs
8.38

Representatives from the joint venture strongly denied that they were responsible for the
erection of the signs. They made a compelling argument to the Committee as to why it
would not make political or commercial sense for them to have done so:
Mr Lloyd: If that is the picture that is trying to be painted, then it is also absurd as
any mining company knows that that is not going to achieve anything for it—
attacking the minister for mines and making such obvious, incendiary racist
comments is obviously not going to help our position. It is absurd. I think all of
you can probably realise by looking at it that it would be absurd for a mining
company and that it is unfeasible for an individual who has been driving his truck
all day long to sneak off and do that. It just does not make sense. It just does not
stack up. Our response initially was that we need to get the authorities involved in
this. I am not sure which law is being broken but I am sure that a law is being
broken here, so we immediately contacted the police. 263

8.39

The joint venture also told the Committee that there would be no reason for their personnel
to be on Pinjin Station at night:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: We have heard allegations about there being people
from—mine staff contractors, whatever, walking through the homestead area at
night. Are you able to make any comment regarding that? Are you aware of
anything like that?
Mr Lloyd: Certainly not aware of that. We train everyone who comes to the site in
how to deal with the situation that we have got there—where they can and cannot
go. So every person on site has signed off on a document saying they will —
Mr Moody: Abide by the —
Mr Kerr: The induction.
Mr Lloyd: Everyone is aware of the sensitivity of that area. Yes, I am not
aware about that, no.264
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8.40

They also told the Committee that it would be unsafe for their personnel to be on Pinjin
Station:
Mr Lloyd: There have been a few examples of where shots have been fired whilst
our guys are walking past. They appear to be attempt to scare us or scare the
individuals. We are aware of the —
Mr Kerr: If someone from our site is going up there at 10 o’clock at night and
going “peekaboo” through the window, they will know what is coming; they will
get—you know.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I understand.
Mr Kerr: That would be the last place on the planet that a person that was of
sound mind would go for a wander.
Mr Moody: I was going to say, also, it is not really feasible for any of our work
crews to be there anyway because they are supposed to be in trucks or diggers at
night.
Mr Kerr: We would have a zero tolerance if we found out about any of that. We
would love to know about it. We would love Tisala to report that to us. It could
happen.265

Tisala’s views about responsibility for the racist signs
8.41

The Committee asked Leo and Lawrence who they thought had erected the signs. They
questioned why anyone would suggest that people connected with Tisala would erect the
signs themselves:
The CHAIRMAN: Just referring to the signs that were put up around the station
referring to “black niggers”, who do you think put the signs there?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: I do not know who put the sign there, but I could just
imagine who would—who the person with the most thing to do that would be
Hawthorn, to me. Some of the signs say “Eat our dust”, and that is what we do.
What I am trying to get at is there is all sorts of language being spoken out there,
but the one that came back to me that really rocked me was we did it; we did the
signs ourselves. Why? Why would I put that on there? The other signs say the
minister supports us; “Eat our dust”; “If you don’t like it, piss off niggers”—you
know, all those comments. Anyway, we took photos of all that. It is in the hands of
the police. They did nothing.266

Tisala’s claims about a large Hawthorn sign
8.42

Lawrence Thomas submitted to the Committee that a large sign erected at the joint venture
work camp was similar to the signs that appeared at Pinjin Homestead. A picture of this sign
appears at Appendix 13. He wrote:
The last photo attached is of a sign made by Hawthorn Resources which has the
words “HAWTHORN” in big white lettering. This white lettering is of a similar style
used on the racist and derogatory signs placed on Pinjin Station buildings. 267
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8.43

Both Nicholas Cukela and Steven Kean cited the similarity of the lettering on the signs to the
lettering on the signs erected at Pinjin Station.

8.44

Representatives of the joint venture were asked about the large sign. They said that it had
been erected by contractors to signpost the presence of the work camp but William Lloyd
ordered its removal:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: How long was it up there?
Mr Lloyd: Approximately a day. When I returned to site, I requested that it be
removed because it potentially would be perceived the wrong way.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: In what sense? What was concerning you about its
perception?
Mr Lloyd: We’re just very cautious with everything that we do. The way it seemed
to me is it is sort of rubbing our presence in their faces or something like that. I
thought it might be perceived as a bit confronting or something.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So you thought it might upset the Pinjin people by
advertising your presence in some kind of —
Mr Lloyd: That is how I was worried it would be perceived, yes.268

8.45

The Committee had the benefit of hearing from Sergeant Gary Hyde, a forensics officer with
the Police. The Committee showed Sergeant Hyde photographs of the signs erected at Pinjin
Station and a photograph of the large Hawthorn sign and asked him to comment on what he
observed as similarities or differences:
Mr Hyde: Just from my role in relation to referring matters to other experts to
examine, we go through a process, which is I suppose like a triage process, where I
would look at it and I would look at the similarities within the two or whether there
are differences between the two. Apart from being all uppercase, there are, I can
see, some variations in it and differences between the two. The fonts appear to be
similar. The differences could be due to the characters being bolder between the
two, but I am seeing some differences between the two which would probably, if I
was looking at outsourcing or referring to the next line of examination, I would be
sort of thinking there are some differences I am observing. I am seeing more
differences than similarities when I am just having my initial triage of it.269

8.46

Sergeant Hyde confirmed the Committee’s general observation that the signs were
substantially different.

FINDING 28
The printing on the signs erected at Pinjin Station and the ‘Hawthorn’ sign erected at the joint
venture work camp are not substantially the same.
The Committee’s view on the racist signs
8.47

Despite widespread blame being placed on Hawthorn Resources and the joint venture for
the placement of the abhorrent signs at Pinjin Station, this Committee found no evidence
that the joint venture was responsible for the erection of the signs.
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8.48

The Committee also considered the idiosyncratic spelling ‘nigar’ of the ethnically
contemptuous term ‘nigger’. The only occasions on which members of the Committee has
encountered that peculiar spelling have been in the context of this case, namely:


in emails from Leo and Lawrence Thomas



in a letter from Pinjin Station resident Judy Sambo



on the signs displayed at Pinjin Station which prompted this Inquiry.

8.49

The Committee considered who would have a motive to erect the signs.

8.50

The joint venture had a significant win in court only days before the signs were erected so
would have nothing to gain from threatening, insulting or intimidating the occupants. It
would be counter-productive to its interests to draw media attention to the dispute at Pinjin
and to do so in such an inflammatory manner. On the contrary, Tisala would benefit in the
court of public opinion in having Hawthorn and its activities being viewed in a negative light.

8.51

The joint venture partners have fully cooperated with Police in the investigation and were the
first to report the signs and for the days following, insisted on their removal. Such levels of
cooperation have not been demonstrated by Tisala and its supporters who insisted on the
signs remaining.

8.52

It will be a matter for the Police to conclude their investigations into any criminal conduct
that may have occurred.

FINDING 29
There is insufficient evidence and an absence of obvious motive to suggest that the joint venture
was responsible for the erection of the racist signs at Pinjin Station.

Other allegations of racist behaviour
Verbal allegations
8.53

On 7 November 2017, Hon Robin Scott MLC made a statement to the Legislative Council
concerning events at Pinjin. He said:
HON ROBIN SCOTT (Mining and Pastoral) [9.57 pm]: I would like to bring to the
attention of the chamber a situation that is taking place in my electorate of Mining
and Pastoral Region at the moment. Pinjin station, situated 140 kilometres north
east of Kalgoorlie, is owned and managed by an Indigenous company called Tisala
Pty Ltd. It is under siege at the moment from a Victorian mining company called
Hawthorn Resources Ltd. On 5 October, I received a phone call late in the
afternoon from one of the directors of Tisala, whose name is Mr Leo Thomas. He
was very distressed and panicking. He is a highly respected Aboriginal gentleman
from Kalgoorlie and he told me that some heavy earthmoving equipment had
arrived at the station, right next to the homestead. The heavy earthmoving
equipment was immediately used to start pushing earth very close to the
homestead. When he approached the Hawthorn Resources workers, they told him,
using the most foul language, that it was none of his business and he should not
be there. They said, “We will ruin you and your family so get off this station.”
Due to the time of day, it was too late for anyone to go out to the station, so I
asked my electorate officer [Steven Kean] to go out there first thing in the
morning. He went out there and as he arrived he was met by the project manager
from Hawthorn Resources. Again, the project manager, using foul language and
very aggressively, asked who he was, what he wanted and what he was doing
there. My electorate officer explained that he was out there representing me to get
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the information required to find out what was taking place there. When he was
departing, he was accused of being a “gin jockey” by this representative of
Hawthorn Resources. This remark was made in front of many witnesses.270

8.54

The term ‘gin jockey’ is a peculiarly Australian colloquialism and defined in the Oxford
English Dictionary as:
Designating a white man who sexually exploits an Aboriginal woman, or the
activity of so doing.271

8.55

The Committee asked Nicholas Cukela what he recalled from the day in question:
The CHAIRMAN: Nicholas, were you present when William Lloyd called Steven
Kean a gin jockey?
Mr CUKELA: Yes, I was near the tank stand where it was pushed over, he came up
to see him about this interlocutory thing. They pulled the tank stand down, and he
called him, “Nothing but a gin jockey. You’re a bit of a gin jockey.” That is William
Lloyd. All these sorts of things —
The CHAIRMAN: Was that the first time Steve had been at the station, when
William Lloyd was present?
Mr CUKELA: It could have been the first or second time, one or the other. But he
called him, “You’re a bit of a white gin jockey, you know.” You walk away, mate. 272

8.56

And further:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: How did you feel when you first discovered that the
allegation had been made against you and when you found out what the term
meant?
Mr Lloyd: I felt horrified that I would be attacked at that level; I felt disappointed; I
felt saddened that that is how our country was governed; and I felt empathy
immediately for other people at Hawthorn who had had similar allegations raised
against them. It was not pleasant.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Did Mr Kerr explain or did you ask Mr Kerr as to what
that phrase meant when he first communicated it to you?
Mr Lloyd: I cannot recall whether this was a discussion around the meaning of it. I
remember that I had to look it up on the internet to clarify exactly what it meant—
not that someone else needed to explain it. 273

8.57

William Lloyd told the Committee that he felt personally attacked by statements made by
Hon Robin Scott MLC in the Legislative Council:
Mr Lloyd: For me, there has been a personal attack from Mr Scott and there has
been the more general attack by way of the signage on the site. 274
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8.58

The Committee notes that William Lloyd was not mentioned by name in the parliamentary
statement made by Hon Robin Scott.

8.59

William Lloyd told the Committee that he did not understand what the term meant when he
heard the allegation:
Mr Lloyd: As I was saying or as Mark was saying, the term is fairly archaic. It is not
the kind of language that I would use or that I am familiar with. It is an odd choice
of words, if you are going to fabricate something like that. 275

8.60

Ian Moody also denied that he had ever made or heard racist comments on site:
Mr Moody: I would like to agree with Will here. I think it is a disgraceful situation. I
have worked with Will for a very large number of years—three years now, I
guess—and I can honestly say that there is no chance that those words would
come out of his mouth. I guess the only thing that I am distressed about is after
having spent so many years on Pinjin Station and the crown reserve, that my crew
and myself have been accused of making racist statements inter alia by the long
history of abuse and racial intimidation. I categorically deny it. I can absolutely
stand up and say that my field crews are in exactly the same position. This has
never happened. It is fabricated.276

8.61

The Committee is not in a position to conclude definitively what comments were made,
however the allegation highlights the level of acrimony between the parties at Pinjin.

Radio chatter
8.62

The Committee heard evidence from occupants of Pinjin Station of offensive comments
being made by joint venture personnel over two-way radio.

8.63

Given the remote location and lack of mobile telephone reception, UHF radio is the primary
method of communication at Pinjin. To communicate via radio, both radio users need to be
transmitting on the same radio channel. Some radio channels are allocated for general use
and emergency use.

8.64

The Committee heard evidence that the joint venture has adopted channel 17 for its
operations. This means all parties connected to mining can use this channel to receive and
send transmissions to each other. Due to access to radio channels being unrestricted, this
means that anyone in the area with a receiver can set it to channel 17 to hear transmissions
and, if able to transmit, to do so on that channel. The Committee heard that this can be a
frequent pastime of the occupants at Pinjin Station:
Mr CUKELA: Yes, I listen to the radio. You can ask the mines department. I always
listen, but I never talk. I listen to the radio at night, I listen during the daytime. I
always listen because you always hear what they say on the radio when they make
a mistake. And they have trouble.277

8.65

Lawrence Thomas recounted his experience with radio chatter to the Committee:
Mr Lawrence Thomas: On channel 17, one of the comments was “There’s another
white man out here—another white nigger lover with his gin”, which was referring
to Shane Talent. He is my latest caretaker out on the property—him and his wife,
Sandra.
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The CHAIRMAN: Is channel 17 a private channel?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: That is the private channel for Hawthorn Resources.
The CHAIRMAN: And you have got actual access to that?
Mr Lawrence Thomas: Anybody can; you just have to scan and you pick them up
when they are talking and then you know the channel they are on. 278

8.66

Nicholas Cukela also claimed to have heard racist radio chatter:
Mr CUKELA: There are 30 blokes over there, or whatever it is. I might not talk on
the radio, but I listen to them. They call you niggers. One white bloke down there
with his gin; there are niggers.279

8.67

However, the comments were not noted or recorded by Nicholas Cukela and were not
reported to the Department:
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you take notes at all about any conversations you
overheard?
Mr CUKELA: No.
Hon KYLE McGINN: So no information that you have heard over the radio you
have passed on?
Mr CUKELA: None passed on to the mines department. 280

8.68

In a letter to the Committee, Miss Judy Sambo, a former resident at Pinjin Station, says that
she overheard on the two-way radio:
Don’t worry about the black niggers cattle.281

8.69

The Committee raised these matters at a hearing with Hawthorn Resources:
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have a couple of other things. We have heard
allegations also about derogatory and insulting comments made over two-way
radio traffic by Hawthorn contractors, staff and the like. Are you aware of any
allegations of that nature?
Mr Lloyd: I am aware of the allegations, yes. They have recently been qualified to
say that they didn’t occur while I was on site.
Mr Kerr: And also that they may not have been Hawthorn people, meaning
excluding me, Will, Ian —
Mr Moody: Having said that, as most of you have been on mine sites previously
you will notice that sometimes there’s fairly robust language between the truck
drivers as well.
Mr Lloyd: It shouldn’t be on the radio.
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Mr Moody: It shouldn’t be on the radio and they get shut down as soon as any
bad language is used on the radio. 282

8.70

The Committee also heard that the joint venture takes steps to address issues as they arise
with its contractors through pre-start meetings:
Hon KYLE McGINN: Has there been anything internally from contractors
reporting hearing anything racist or abusive over the radio from their work
colleagues?
Mr Lloyd: No recent report or anything like that.
Mr Moody: During their morning prestart meeting, one of the issues that is always
brought up at least once a week is to keep the radio clean.283

8.71

The joint venture indicated that it would follow up on this conduct if it was aware of it:
Mr Kerr: We’ve always asked for the specific allegation to be given to us so we can
treat or deal with it, but nothing is ever forthcoming.284

8.72

The Committee considers that comments that were offensive to the occupants of Pinjin
Station might have been transmitted on the radio channel used by the joint venture.
However, given the unrestricted access to the channel, it is unlikely that the speakers using
such language could be identified. The joint venture assured the Committee that it did not
condone such language.

Writing in the sand
8.73

Judy Sambo wrote to the Inquiry in relation to things that she saw at Pinjin Station. In the
submission she states:
Last year around late November 2017 early I was a witness to where the word
“nigars” was written in the ground with a boot up near the top house at the
station.285

8.74

Nicholas Cukela recalls the incident. He told the Committee:
Mr CUKELA: We saw a sign up there in 2017 or something like that. In the
beginning, it had a sign that said “niggers” on the ground that they wrote with the
heel of their boot—a great big three-metre sign, “niggers”.286

8.75

The Committee invited Judy Sambo to a hearing on two occasions but it was not possible to
hear her oral evidence. Consequently, the Committee cannot make any finding in relation to
this issue.

Historical allegations
8.76

The Committee has been provided with many items of correspondence in which
Lawrence Thomas describes Mark Kerr apologising for racist remarks made at the mine site.
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8.77

The Committee asked Mark Kerr whether he had apologised for such conduct:
The CHAIRMAN: Mr Kerr, can I ask you a question? When you met with Leo and
Lawrence Thomas and Steven Kean in June–July 2015 at the Rydges Hotel, did
Lawrence Thomas raise with you that derogatory and racist comments had been
made by Hawthorn Resources personnel?
Mr Kerr: He raised—I do not know the exact words —
The CHAIRMAN: No, no, I am not asking for the words, but did he raise the belief
that there was racist remarks being made to the people on the station from
personnel from Hawthorn?
Mr Kerr: I said to him, when he did raise that general sort of topic, I said I was not
aware of it, yes, correct.
The CHAIRMAN: And then in the same period, the same day in fact, did you leave
the meeting room and speak with Hawthorn Resources personnel and then come
back into the meeting room at the Rydges Hotel with Lawrence, Leo and Steve and
apologise for the racist comments and offensive behaviour?
Mr Kerr: Can I just say in context that is 100 per cent wrong, just so you know for
the record. What did happen was I was trying to get a deal done and I would turn
up to a meeting and he has raised the issue of this perception of racism or
whatever it was. I said, “Look, I wasn’t there, I didn’t hear it, I didn’t see it.” I said,
“We don’t stand for that.” Our people have got policies, there are guidelines.
Robin, after all, a lot of these people are contractors; they are not our people. They
are not Hawthorn’s people; they are contractors out of Kalgoorlie. They are all
based in Kalgoorlie.
The CHAIRMAN: But they are under your company while they are working for
you. They are under your rules and control —
Mr Kerr: No, no, no —
The CHAIRMAN: So you never apologised?
Mr Kerr: Hang on. I haven’t finished my answer, with all due respects.
The CHAIRMAN: Sorry.
Mr Kerr: I then said, “Look, I will go and check with our people” who, by the way,
were meant to be allowed in the meeting and they were —
Mr Moody: Excluded.
Mr Kerr: — excluded from the meeting at the last second. So I just went out and
checked. I checked and it was confirmed to me that there was no racism at that
point—let me finish. So I went back into the meeting and I said, “Look, Lawrence, I
can’t today confirm from our people whether there was any matter that I know.” I
said, “The two people that I do know for aren’t racists and nothing came from
them.” I said, “Look, if there’s anything in the past that you take offence to, I’m not
there but if there was anything, I would apologise on behalf of those people.” I
didn’t apologise for a specific JV [joint venture] event.287
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Concluding comments
8.78

Pinjin may be an extremely remote part of Western Australia, and the remoteness may make
people behave in ways that they might not otherwise do in more populous areas or in
different environments. The Committee is strongly of the view that there is no place in our
community for racism or behaviour calculated to provoke ethnic offence.

8.79

It is clear that the joint venture was aware of the possibility and potential for racist and
provocative behaviour given its policies and guidelines on the subject and its focus on such
matters at their weekly meetings. Given the history of relations between the different parties
at Pinjin, the Committee cannot discount that some racially offensive comments were made
at some time. If overheard, they would not have contributed to the restoration of good
relations between the parties.
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CHAPTER 9
Conclusion
9.1

This report has sought to capture a snapshot of the ongoing dispute at Pinjin between Tisala
and the joint venture and how that conflict has intersected with government administration.

9.2

It has been over five years since the joint venture announced its intention to commence
mining at Pinjin. The Committee has had the opportunity through this Inquiry to review only
a small portion of the material produced by Tisala, the joint venture and government
departments over the issue. These materials do not capture the countless hours of meetings,
discussions, travel and time of reflection by those who are closely connected to the dispute.
It would be impossible to express this effort in financial terms but the Committee is in no
doubt that this would eclipse even the most generous terms that either party to the dispute
could demand from the other.

9.3

The Committee has had the opportunity to hear from all sides of the dispute. It is clear to the
Committee that both Tisala and the joint venture are fatigued because of the ongoing nature
of the dispute. While this Committee cannot resolve the dispute between the parties and
ensure a settlement of the outstanding matters before them, it is clearly apparent to the
Committee that it is in the interests of all parties to resolve the outstanding matters between
them.

Hon Robin Scott MLC
Chairman
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From

1

Williamstown Residents Committee

2

Hawthorn Resources Limited

3

Western Australia Police Force

4

Private Citizen

5

Nicholas Cukela

6

Lawrence Thomas

7

Steven Kean

8

Leo Thomas

9

Lawrence Thomas
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APPENDIX 2
COMMITTEE CHALLENGES
2.1

There were three complexities that presented to the Committee in its conduct of the Inquiry:


Ensuring the confidentiality of Committee material



The orderly receipt of evidence by the Committee



The management of hearings to address issues arising from existing relationships.

Ensuring the confidentiality of Committee material
2.2

At the Committee’s first meeting in August 2018 the Chairman told the Committee that his
Electorate Officer, Steven Kean, had a connection with the subject matter of the Inquiry. After
a briefing from its advisor, the Committee formed the view that it was likely that Mr Kean
would be called as a witness in the Inquiry.

2.3

As is the usual process when a Committee identifies a potential conflict of interest, a process
was put in place to avoid any perception of conflict. From this time, the Chairman undertook
to restrict staff access from his email account to avoid the potential for Steven Kean to
inadvertently come across Committee material. Committee staff also implemented measures
to ensure that Mr Kean would not have access to Committee-related correspondence and
messages.

2.4

Mr Kean told the Committee that after the Committee had been formed he was advised not
to discuss Pinjin with the Chairman. He also confirmed the arrangements for access to the
Chairman’s emails:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Just to finish up on what we were discussing, when did
you say that you were instructed by Mr Scott not to speak to him about Pinjin
station? Was it not to speak to him, or not to discuss the —
Mr Kean: Not to discuss anything to do with Pinjin station.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Okay. And when did he tell you that?
Mr Kean: Possibly—some time ago. I just cannot remember exactly.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: It would have been after this committee had been
formed.
Mr Kean: Yes, basically.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: A long time after—immediately after?
Mr Kean: Basically, not long after. Basically, what also happened was that
previously I had access—not just myself—we had access to certain of his emails.
We were completely cut off access. What happened was not just myself but the
other staff were all cut off from being able to access any of his emails. I was told
that we were not able to discuss anything. When I say “discuss”, it was anything
like that. It may have been my misinterpretation, but that is how I interpreted it. 288
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The orderly receipt of evidence by the Committee
2.5

At times during the Inquiry the Committee faced difficulties in the way that evidence was
presented to the Committee. The Committee was concerned that these actions could lead to
people forming the view that the Committee was not impartial.

2.6

The first instance arose in November 2018.

2.7

At a Committee meeting on 13 November 2018 in Kalgoorlie, the Chairman tabled a letter
from Hawthorn’s lawyers (Ensign Legal) to Tisala’s lawyers (McKenzie and McKenzie). The
Committee received the letter and several Committee Members expressed their concerns
about the manner in which the correspondence had been conveyed to the Committee.

2.8

This matter was raised with Steven Kean. He told the Committee:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: After you were told by Mr Scott that you and he were
not able to discuss the work that the committee was doing and Pinjin, were there
any such discussions?
Mr Kean: Broad discussions, because Leo and Lawrence once brought some letters
from Ensign Legal to our office. When I say “brought”, they passed it on. I passed
that on, but I never had any discussion about it.289

2.9

The Committee similarly expressed concerns at a hearing with Hawthorn Resources on
31 January 2019. During that hearing, the Chairman asked a series of questions concerning a
company called Zeedam Enterprises:
The CHAIRMAN: Are you familiar with a company called Zeedam Enterprises?
Mr Kerr: No; I am not.
The CHAIRMAN: On 12 May 2016, GEL surrendered the two tenements. In fact,
they surrendered four tenements. The two in question were surrendered. If Steven
Kean had not picked them up that same day, Zeedam already went to pick them
up. They were surrendered at 9.45 in the morning. Zeedam went to pick them up
within half an hour. They must have known that they were going to be
surrendered. Steven Kean was watching this weeks in advance. He is a pretty cluey
guy when it comes to tenements and pegging. He already put a hold on them. So,
as soon as they were surrendered, Steven Kean picked them up. I am curious
about Zeedam Enterprises, but you know nothing about them?
Mr Kerr: I honestly do not.290

2.10

During a break in proceedings, the Chairman advised that the Committee he had requested a
number of documents from Steven Kean in support of his line of questioning.

2.11

Those documents, consisting of a number of mining tenement reports, were tabled at the
Committee’s meeting on 1 February 2019. Following the tabling of the documents, the
Committee was concerned to seek the advice of the Clerk as to how to proceed. That advice
was subsequently provided by the Clerk.

2.12

The Committee put questions to Steven Kean concerning his communications with the
Chairman about matters before the Committee:
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Did you prepare questions for this committee to ask
witnesses?
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Mr Kean: No. There was some—there were a couple of questions that Mr Scott
asked me to type up for him at one stage, and I typed those questions up.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Did you have any input into those questions?
Mr Kean: I did not have any input because he already had handwritten notes from
some information that was provided to him prior to the committee. 291

2.13

Steven Kean later told the Committee:
Hon KYLE McGINN: I might jump back a little bit. In respect to the questions that
I think the chair put down in respect of preparing questions for Mr Scott. I think
you said that you typed them up, and you did not add any information to those
questions that you were typing up?
Mr Kean: No. I was just told to simply type—I was told, “Can you type these
questions quickly?”, and that is what I did.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you provide some attachments that could have been, for
example, some mining tenement documents?
Mr Kean: I cannot recollect.
Hon KYLE McGINN: You cannot recollect?
Mr Kean: No.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Have you provided any information like that in the past to Mr
Scott regarding tenements in the Pinjin area?
Mr Kean: Possibly may have, in the past; yes.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Any time after the committee had been formed?
Mr Kean: I do not think so, no.
Hon KYLE McGINN: When you were handed the documents to prepare questions
for Mr Scott, was there a discussion around who the questions were for?
Mr Kean: No, there was no—he said, “Can you just type these, please?”
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you identify who the questions were for, with the
document that he had given you?
Mr Kean: I beg your pardon?
Hon KYLE McGINN: The handwritten notes, did it have who the questions were
for?
Mr Kean: No. He just said, “Can you just type these questions, please?”
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you know they were for the committee?
Mr Kean: No.
Hon KYLE McGINN: You did not?
Mr Kean: No.
Hon KYLE McGINN: Did you identify that they were for the committee after
typing them?
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Mr Kean: No.
Hon KYLE McGINN: What did you think they were for?
Mr Kean: I do not know.
Hon KYLE McGINN: I just find it a bit coincidental that he would not tell you what
they were for.
Mr Kean: All I know is he had some written notes and he asked me to type them,
okay, and I did that. My boss, the same thing, if he tells me to type something, he
said, “Can you do it quickly?”, and I just said I will type them. It is as simple as
that.292

2.14

The Committee considers it unfortunate that the Chairman asked a future Inquiry witness to
type up questions for another witness before the Inquiry.

The management of hearings to address issues arising from existing
relationships
2.15

Committee inquiries are often carried out in a context where one Member may, historically,
have been more involved in the circumstances from which the Inquiry has arisen, particularly
when they have been responsible for identifying an alleged mischief that gives rise to the
Inquiry.

2.16

This often proves to be advantageous to the Committee’s Inquiry if a Member has specialist
knowledge or contacts.

2.17

However, such prior knowledge and interest in the subject matter of the Inquiry has its risks
and can present challenges for the proper management of proceedings and evidence
received by a Committee.

2.18

In this Inquiry, the existing relationship between the Chairman and Steven Kean occasioned
tension in the course of the hearing with Hawthorn Resources leading to allegations of bias
against the Chairman:
Mr Lloyd: For me, there has been a personal attack from Mr Scott and there has
been the more general attack by way of the signage on the site. The personal
attack was levelled by someone who has an interest in deriding my name in
bringing me into disrepute personally. It is an even lower level to go after an
individual, to fabricate events for your own purposes. What those purposes are, I
am still not sure. It is either looking after your mates or it is lining your own
pocket; I do not know which one. It is a fairly sad state of affairs.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Who is that person?
Mr Kerr: Can we withdraw that last moment?
Mr Lloyd: I do not think I can withdraw.
Mr Kerr: I would like you to strike that out.
Mr Lloyd: I am not sure that that is an option.
Mr Kerr: We would like to strike out the last statement.
The CHAIRMAN: I think he was pretty serious when he said it, so I think it should
remain.
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Mr Kerr: Well I am not sure it is your decision, is it?
The CHAIRMAN: I am the Chairman.
Mr Kerr: Well, you should excuse yourself from this discussion. You have made the
accusation in the Parliament. You made the accusation; you can’t make the
decision!
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Hold on, please. Hold on.
The CHAIRMAN: I beg your pardon?
Mr Kerr: You can’t make the decision. You’re biased!
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Mr Kerr, please.
Mr Kerr: I have recorded that we want to withdraw the last two comments from
William Lloyd from the record.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Before we do that, there is a process if you consider that
a member of committee is biased or otherwise behaving inappropriately. There is a
process that if statements are made in the house that someone takes issue with—
there is procedure under the standing orders in order to address that. I do not
want to inhibit the delivery of relevant evidence, but what I was after was the
accusations that have been directly made in order to understand who has been
making those accusations in the context of the dealings with Tisala and yourself. I
accept that there may be a lot of emotion in this, but the people that I am really
talking is—has there been a face-to-face accusation made about you by someone
that is involved with the pastoralists at the station not conveyed through
representatives or otherwise?
Mr Lloyd: Not face to face, no.
Mr Kerr: Can I just go back one step, please? Through you, Mr Chair.
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.
Mr Kerr: I would like to go back through one step. Could we please withdraw
those two comments. We are asking for it on the record. I would like them
withdrawn.
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I understand the position is that as it is part of the
record, it cannot be withdrawn. However, if you want to make a comment once
you have received the draft Hansard transcript, then you can make a comment on
that.
Mr Kerr: Sorry, but do we have the ability—I am not an expert in this, so excuse
the question —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If you are meaning to expunge it from the record, no I
do not think you can; it has been said. But as I say, if you want to put a rider on
that, or some comment on that in due course when you have received the draft for
settling in order to comment on it, then that is available.
Mr Lloyd: Can I rephrase now and then continue, perhaps?
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Please, yes.
Mr Lloyd: If I can rephrase —
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If you have misspoken or you would like to explain the
comment, then I think then that is an appropriate way of going.
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Mr Lloyd: Let me rephrase, then. Mr Scott has an undeniable bias and he made
these accusations without any unbiased third party, as far as I am aware, providing
any supporting evidence or corroboration of the claims that were made. If we
continue to the signage, perhaps?293

2.19

To address these tensions, the Deputy Chairman asked the remainder of the Committee’s
questions at the Hawthorn Resources hearing.

2.20

In order to address any perceptions of conflict of interest when hearing from Steven Kean,
the Chairman excused himself from the hearing. The hearing was chaired by the Deputy
Chairman.

Conclusion
2.21

293

Despite the matters raised above, the Committee is of the view that these complexities have
not resulted in any diminution of the integrity, quality and rigour of the findings and
recommendations contained in this report.
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GLOSSARY
Term

Definition

Committee

The Select Committee into Mining on Pinjin Station.

Inquiry

The Committee’s inquiry into mining on Pinjin Station pursuant to its
terms of reference.

The Department

The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety.

Common Reserve
10041

Also referred to as Crown Reserve 10041. This area of land does not
form part of the Pinjin pastoral lease. It was set aside for the use of the
town’s occupants. It is the site of a gold deposit and pastoral
infrastructure.

Tisala

Tisala Pty Ltd – The corporate holder of the pastoral lease surrounding
Pinjin Station.

Joint venture

The joint operations of Hawthorn Resources Limited and GEL
Resources Pty Ltd.

KCGM

Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines.

Cooke Review

An independent review into the impact on public safety of mining in
the Kalgoorlie area completed in 2004.

Police

The Western Australia Police Force
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Glossary

Select Committee into Mining on Pinjin Station
Date first appointed:
22 August 2018
Terms of Reference:
On Wednesday 22 August 2018, the Legislative Council ordered that:
(1) A Select Committee into Mining on Pinjin Station be established.
(2) The Committee is to inquire into mining operations on Pinjin Station, with particular reference
to the following —
a) the mining operations by Hawthorn Resources Limited, ABN 44 009 157 439;
b) the role of government agencies and Ministers in the approval and regulation of
mining operations;
c)

all allegations, including those of intimidation, abuse and racial discrimination, set
out in the documentation tabled in the Legislative Council on 26 June 2018 (Tabled
Paper 1489) and other allegations dating back to 2012;

d) actions of all parties relevant to mining operations, including but not limited to mine
operators, pastoral leaseholders, government agencies and their employees and
agents;
e) responses by Ministers and government agencies to complaints;
f) the actions of any other persons or bodies associated with mining operations;
g) reasons why the Department of Mines Industry Regulation and Safety formerly the
Department of Mines and Petroleum and successive Ministers have not approved the
incorporation of the Common Reserve 10041 into the Pinjin Station Pastoral Lease;
and
h) any other related matter.
(3) The Select Committee is to report no later than six months after the Committee has been
established.
(4) The Select Committee shall consist of five members; Hon Robin Scott (Chairman);
Hon Robin Chapple; Hon Jacqui Boydell, Hon Kyle McGinn and Hon Michael Mischin
(Deputy Chairman).
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